

# THE EARTH BROKERS

power, politics and world development

Pratap Chatterjee and Matthias Finger

## THE EARTH BROKERS

After decades of failed development plans for the South and the mounting pressure of the environmental crisis all over the planet, the Earth Summit was billed as a dramatic new approach to solving the planet's problems because, for the first time, it was recognized that environment and development were inseparable and thus needed to be tackled together. The recognition of this link, however, turned out to be a double-edged sword, as development quickly became much more important than environment. There was little recognition of the underlying cause of today's crisis - the unsustainable economic models that most of the world is currently following. Free trade, multinational corporations, militarism - some of the biggest contributors to today's crisis - were deliberately left off the agenda. Instead, the Earth Summit attempted to 'green' development and its major promoters by pushing the environment to the top of the agenda. UN and government agencies adopted this new green solution without questioning the assumption that growth and further development were necessary, let alone the assumption that they were possible. Because of this, the Summit was flawed in both conception and execution. As a result, the new order that is emerging after the Rio de Janeiro conference is identical to the old one. If this new order were merely a warmed-over version of the old, things might be expected to continue deteriorating at the current pace, if not accelerate, since the new mantra is that the environment may even be a profitable enterprise that will stimulate development. What is more, the new order is slowly creating a global management élite that is coopting the strongest people's movements, the very movements that brought the crisis to public attention.

**Pratap Chatterjee** is Global Environmental Editor of the Inter Press Service, Washington, DC. **Matthias Finger** is Associate Professor at Teachers College, Columbia University, New York.



# THE EARTH BROKERS

# Power, Politics and World Development

# PRATAP CHATTERJEE and MATTHIAS FINGER



### First published 1994 by Routledge Published 2013 by Routledge

2 Park Square, Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon OX14 4RN

711 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10017, USA

Routledge is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an informa business

© 1994 Pratap Chatterjee and Matthias Finger

Typeset in Perpetua by Solidus (Bristol) Limited

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilized in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

> Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data Chatterjee, Pratap.

The earth brokers: power, politics and world development / Pratap Chatterjee and Matthias Finger.

p. cm. Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 978-0-415-10963-5 (pbk) 1. Environmental policy. 2. Environmental degradation—Government policy. 3. Environmentalism. I. Finger, Matthias. II. Title.

GE170.C48 1994 363.7'056-dc20 93-41346

CIP

# CONTENTS

List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

viii

| INTRODUCTION 1                                |
|---|
| The Development Paradigm 3                    |
| The Cold War 4                                |
| Third World Development 5                     |
| The Social Movements of the 1960s 6           |
| The Green Critique of Development 7           |
| The New Cold War and Global Ecology 8         |
| The Challenges of Global Ecology 9            |
| 0 3 2   |
| Part I: The Documents                         |
| 1 WHOSE COMMON FUTURE? 13                     |
| Population 14                                 |
| Food Security 17                              |
| Species and Ecosystems 19                     |
| Sustainable Industrial Development 21         |
| From Military to Environmental Security 23    |
| The Commons 25                                |
| Conclusion 27                                 |
| 2 SOUTHERN ELITES 30                          |
| Economic Growth – The National Perspective 32 |
| South—South Cooperation 35                    |
| North—South Relations 37                      |
| North South Metabolis 37                      |
|   |

### CONTENTS

| 3 RIO AND BUST 39  |
|--|
| What was Missing? 39   |
| The Biodiversity Convention 41                               |
| The Framework Convention on Climate Change 44                |
| The Agreement on Forest Principles 46                        |
| Steps Towards a Convention on Desertification 48             |
| The 'Rio Declaration' 49                                     |
| Agenda 21 53   |
| Conclusion 60  |
| Part II: Non-Governmental Organizations                      |
| 4 TELLING 'GREENS' APART 65                                  |
| The Green Movement in the North 66                           |
| The Main Trends of the Green Movement in the North 69        |
| The Green Movement in the South 73                           |
| Rio and the Various Shades of Green 77                       |
| 5 FEEDING THE PEOPLES INTO THE GREEN MACHINE 79              |
| The Official Vision of NGO Participation in UNCED 79         |
| NGO Accreditation 81   |
| The Center for Our Common Future 84                          |
| From the Paris NGO Meeting to the International NGO Forum 87 |
| Cooptation 89  |
| 6 WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOs ACHIEVE? 92                    |
| NGO Access to UNCED 94                                       |
| Did Environmental NGOs Make a Difference? 97                 |
| The End of Protest? 101                                      |
| Part III: Business and Industry                              |
| 7 PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO 109                          |
| The UNCED Process Favours Powerful Lobbyists 112             |
| Business Gets Organized for UNCED 114                        |
| The 'Sustainable Council for Business Development' 115       |
| Money Matters 117  |
| 8 CHANGING WHAT? 121   |
| The Core: Managing Organizational Change 123                 |
| The Discourse: Economic Growth and Free Trade 127            |
| 'Changing Labels' — A Critique 130                           |
| Conclusion 134   |

#### CONTENTS

### Part IV: Finance and Institutions

## 9 CAN MONEY SAVE THE WORLD? 141

The Rio Chequebook 142
The World Bank 143
Aiding the North 148

### 10 INSTITUTIONAL OUTCOMES 151

The Global Environmental Facility 151
The Commission on Sustainable Development 157
The Earth Council 160
Conclusion: Was it Worth the Effort? 162

### **Part V: Conclusions**

11 WHAT NOW? 167

Summary 168

Balance Sheet and Challenges 172

Notes 174 Bibliography 182 Index 184

# ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ABB

Asea Brown Boveri

ACORD

Agency for Coordination and Development

**ANEN** 

African NGOs Environmental Network

ANGOC

Asian NGO Coalition

**APPEN** 

Asia Pacific People's Environmental Network

ARCO

Atlantic Ritchfield Oil

ASCEND21

Agenda of Science for Environment and Development into the 21st Century

BCSD

Business Council for Sustainable Development

Big 10

The major US environmental lobbying organizations

CONGO

Conference of NGOs (in consultative status with the UN Economic and Social Council)

CNN

Cable Network News

CFC

Chloro-Fluoro-Carbon

**CSD** 

Commission on Sustainable Development

**ECOSOC** 

Economic and Social Council to the General Assembly of the United Nations

#### ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

EC

European Community

**EDF** 

Environmental Defense Fund

**EEB** 

European Environmental Bureau

**ELCI** 

Environmental Liaison Center International

**ENDA** 

Environment and Development Action in the Third World

FAO

Food and Agriculture Organization

FoF

Friends of the Earth

**GATT** 

General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

**GDP** 

Gross Domestic Product

**GEF** 

Global Environmental Facility

GM

General Motors

**GNP** 

Gross National Product

G-77

Group of 77

**IBRD** 

International Bank for Reconstruction and Development

ICC

International Chamber of Commerce

ICI

Imperial Chemical Industries

ICSU

International Council of Scientific Unions

CVA

International Council for Voluntary Agencies

IDA

International Development Agency

**IEB** 

International Environmental Bureau

**IFC** 

International Facilitating Committee

INC

International Negotiating Committee

#### ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

INGOF

International NGO Forum

**IPCC** 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

ISMUN

International Youth and Student Movement of the United Nations

ITO

International Trade Organization

**IUCN** 

International Union for the Conservation of Nature (now World Conservation Union)

LDC

Less (or least) developed country

MIGA

Multinational Investment Guarantee Agency

NATO

North Atlantic Treaty Organization

NGO

Non-governmental organization

NRDC

National Resources Defense Council

**OECD** 

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

PrepCom (I-IV)

Preparatory committee meetings held prior to UNCED

**TFAP** 

Tropical Forest Action Plan

**TNC** 

Transnational corporation

TQM

Total quality management

TWN

Third World Network

UNCED

United Nations Conference on Environment and Development

**UNCSD** 

United Nations Commission on Sustainable Development

UNCTC

United Nations Center on Transnational Corporations

**UNESCO** 

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

UNDP

United Nations Development Programme

#### ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

**UNEP** 

United Nations Environment Programme

**USAID** 

US Agency for International Development

WICE

World Industry Council for the Environment

WICEM I

First World Industry Conference on Environmental Management

WMO

World Meteorological Organization

WRI

World Resources Institute

WWF

Worldwide Fund for Nature

3M

Minnesota Mining & Manufacturing



In New York in December 1989, the member states of the United Nations agreed on Resolution 44/228 – the 228th decision of its Forty-Fourth General Assembly. The Resolution noted with concern that the world's environment was deteriorating rapidly and recommended that the UN General Assembly convene a conference of national leaders of the highest level to save the planet from catastrophe. Officially, this was to be called the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development – UNCED for short. Unofficially it was dubbed the 'Earth Summit' by the man who was chosen to put it together, Maurice Strong, a Canadian businessman and diplomat.

Six months later, the first of four major preparatory committee meetings (the meetings were called PrepComs I to IV) to thrash out conventions and agreements for the leaders to sign at the Summit was held in Nairobi. A member of a non-governmental organization (NGO) attending it sent out a memo by computer to hundreds of other NGOs following the talks describing his own reactions to the name 'Earth Summit'. ¹ To him, he said, it conjured up the image of a steep mountain with the heads of state gathered at the summit from where the planet would be saved. The people of the planet were waiting below for the agreements to be signed at the top and brought down to them. In between them and the leaders, bearers toiled, carrying proposals up the mountain.

The next three preparatory meetings were held in Geneva (II and III) and New York (IV). Many NGOs were actively encouraged, and some even financially supported, to attend the meetings. And by the fourth meeting about 1,400 NGOs had officially registered with the UNCED secretariat as observers and lobbyists in the process. Many more followed the negotiations by computer, fax, and regular mail.

After the meetings and the lobbying were finished, the two of us sat down to review what had been achieved over the course of almost two years. This was about two months before the Earth Summit itself was held in Rio de Janeiro in June 1992. We concluded that, as a result of the whole UNCED process, the planet was going to be worse off, not better. We wrote a short paper on the subject and sent it out to hundreds of people to solicit their opinions. Readers wrote in from Massachusetts and Michigan to Mongolia, and others translated our paper into French, Spanish, and Swedish. Almost all agreed with our critical assessment, but said that they had not seen anyone else actually put such a strong thesis on paper. We decided that we needed to set out our thoughts in much more detail for other people who did not have the opportunity to participate in the two-year process that led leaders of governments, industry and NGOs to Rio, but actually failed to take them to the summit of the mountain from where to save the planet. This book is the result.

In it we offer a comprehensive and critical overview of the entire UNCED process. We look at its origin, its context, and the major agents involved, as well as its outcomes. But because UNCED is at the core of the recent developments in the environment and development arena, this book actually reaches beyond UNCED. And because UNCED occurred at a crucial moment in environmental and developmental history, this book also helps readers understand the transformation of 'development' and the recent quite profound changes in North–South relations, as well as the deep changes the Green movement has undergone.

In the first part we highlight the context and the process of UNCED. We present and critically analyze the main documents that have been written in preparation to that process, as well as the ones that have come out of it. Parts II and III look at the main non-state players in the UNCED process, i.e. non-governmental organizations on the one hand, and business and industry on the other. Indeed, traditionally everybody has been looking at governments as being the major agents. However, as we hope to show, governments are only part of the picture: the corporate sector and some NGOs have come to be equally important agents in the UNCED process. Part IV looks at the financial and institutional outcomes of the UNCED process, and assesses what, on that basis, we can expect for the future. Finally, we conclude with an analysis of what that means for the planet.

Throughout this book we show how UNCED has promoted business and industry, rehabilitated nation-states as relevant agents, and eroded the Green movement. We argue that UNCED has boosted precisely the type of industrial development that is destructive for the environment, the planet, and its inhabitants. We see how, as a result of UNCED, the rich will get richer, the poor poorer, while more and more of the planet is destroyed in the process.

### THE DEVELOPMENT PARADIGM

In order to understand the UNCED process, it must be located in the larger context of the development paradigm and it therefore must be looked at from a broader historical perspective. Most important of all, UNCED must be seen in the context of industrial development, a process that can be traced back to the Industrial Revolution and beyond. Indeed, the idea of development is rooted in the Enlightenment ideal of a rational society of free and responsible citizens, i.e. ultimately a society governed by scientific principles and managed accordingly. The emergence of industrial production in the nineteenth century was rapidly incorporated into this development paradigm: industrial development came to be seen as a means — so to speak the motor — of making this modern and rational society come true. Unfortunately, the means turned into an end, development became a goal in itself. This is what we call the development ideology or paradigm.

Marxists have criticized industrial development since its social effects started to be felt in the late nineteenth century. They criticized it on the grounds that it produces injustices, enhances unequal power structures and exploits people. However, Marxists have never questioned the underlying idea that industrial development will free society from the constraints of nature, and thus ultimately liberate people altogether. The main obstacle that prevented this process from happening was not to be found in the development process itself, Marxists argued, but rather in the political power structures, which were perpetuating inequities and oppression. Marxists, therefore, remain caught in the development paradigm.

After the experience of the First World War, and even more so after the Second World War, isolated individuals expressed their doubts as to whether there was not something fundamentally wrong with this industrial development process:

were the two wars simply accidents of history or were industrialization and modernization leading to precisely the type of barbarism seen in the two conflicts? Marxists of a new kind – the so-called Critical Theorists – rapidly took the upper hand in voicing these doubts. Though they questioned whether the declared emancipation of humankind, promised since the Enlightenment, was ever going to be realized, they attributed this failure to politics, rather than to the development paradigm. Basically they thought that advanced capitalist societies were developing particularly vicious and hidden ways to oppress men and women. As a result, humanity would miss the unique opportunity to liberate itself that industrial development offered. Thus, even after the Second World War techno-scientific industrial development remained an unquestioned tool even for the most vocal critics of modern society.

What is more, in an effort of collective denial promoted by a massive public relations campaign, further industrial development was declared, in the aftermath of the Second World War, to be also the means of bringing about peace among nations. As a result, the United Nations was set up with the mission to promote 'peace through development'. No longer was industrial development simply going to lead to a modern and rational society, it was also going to bring peace to the world. With the United Nations promoting it, industrial development progressed exponentially and planet-wide. What is more, the aggressive reconstruction of Western Europe became the model for the industrialization of the entire world. Development was now clearly the goal, and the development process of the North, spearheaded by the USA, was to be replicated by the South. The rare humanists who feared that the human side would get lost in the process were silenced, as the 'cultural subsystem' was singled out and declared to be the realm of truly human aspirations. Thus, culture became a luxury that was made possible by continuous industrial development.

#### THE COLD WAR

The Cold War is the next important element to consider in order to understand the process of industrial development. First, the Cold War became one of the driving forces of industrial development, because it stimulated scientific and technological progress on the one hand, and promoted military-

induced industrial production on the other. Second, the Cold War cemented the nation-state system and thus reinforced the idea that nation-states were the most relevant units within which problems had to be addressed. Therefore, the nation-states were also seen as the primary agents of development, the 'development agencies', so to speak.

Indeed, because of the Cold War, the nation-states continued to be seen as the units within which development occurs and must be promoted, because it is economic and military strength that defines each nation's relative power. In promoting the Cold War, nation-states remained the key agents for at least another forty years. Again, industrial development came to be seen as a means to enhance national power, thus hiding the fact that the means had overtaken the ends.

#### THIRD WORLD DEVELOPMENT

The development paradigm was further strengthened by the political independence of many Third World countries. Indeed:

Truman [had] launched the idea of development in order to provide a comforting vision of a world order where the US would naturally rank first. The rising influence of the Soviet Union – the first country which had industrialized outside capitalism – forced him to come up with a vision that would engage the loyalty of the decolonizing countries in order to sustain his struggle against communism. For over 40 years, development has been a competition between political systems.<sup>3</sup>

With the Cold War solidly established and entirely embedded in the post-war reconstruction and the Third World build-up, the development paradigm became institutionalized in the very structure and nature of Third World nation-states. Thus these countries started to enter the industrial circuit by borrowing money and exporting raw materials. Given Third World independence and the context of the Cold War, the nature of industrial development was not questioned until the late 1960s. Only then did social movement activism begin to raise serious doubts as to whether industrial development would really lead to the type of society promised by Truman and others.

# THE SOCIAL MOVEMENTS OF THE 1960s

In the North, the social movements of the late 1960s emerged within the context of already high levels of industrial development. The main critique they voiced was the oppressive and technocratic tendencies of development, i.e. the danger that the people, the human side, would get lost and forgotten. One must distinguish between the American version of social movement activism and the European one. If the American version is a product of the counter-cultural movement, the European movement is a product of the New Left. Both agree that the process of development has got out of human control and does not serve the majority of the people. The counter-cultural movement formulates a cultural critique: it is concerned with the values brought forth by the development process and seeks to substitute these with more human values. The critique formulated by the New Left, in contrast, is in essence political. It is a critique of oppression, domination, and exploitation. Consequently, more participation, more democracy, and more involvement of the citizens in decision-making are seen by the New Left as the answers to the shortcomings of industrial development. During the late 1960s, however, neither the counter-cultural movement nor the New Left questioned the process of industrial development, though both were unhappy with its inhuman consequences.

The political critique formulated by the New Left in the North is actually quite similar to the critique voiced in the South, where social movements were also calling for a more participatory form of development. Development, in the South, attracted criticism in the late 1960s and the 1970s on the grounds that it was top-down, exploitative, and oppressive. The national and local élites in the South were mainly seen as the longer arm of the North, of Northern governments, and of Northern multinationals. Opposing this, the social movements in the South were advocating 'another', i.e. a more participatory, more human-centred, and more indigenous form of development. Some went as far as to suggest breaking links with the North and promoting self-reliance. However, for all the radical critiques of Northern-centredness and Northern-drivenness, development was being questioned in the South by only a very few people in the late 1960s and throughout the 1970s. It was not until the advent of the Green movement in the North, in the 1970s, that a new argument was added to the critique of industrial development.

# THE GREEN CRITIQUE OF DEVELOPMENT

Before the early 1970s it is difficult to identify a coherent Green critique of development. Of course, since the end of the nineteenth century there have been various nature protection organizations. Since the 1930s some scientists and engineers have focused on natural resources conservation and environmental management, starting with forestry and specific ecosystems. After the Second World War two big international organizations were created along such conservationist ideals — the International Union for the Conservation of Nature, now called World Conservation Union (still referred to as IUCN), and the World Wildlife Fund, now called Worldwide Fund for Nature (WWF). Within the UN system the environment was equated with science and attributed to UNESCO, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. One can say that until the late 1960s (scientific) environmentalists hardly questioned development. Rather, they were concerned with species conservation and rational resources management in line with the overall development paradigm.

But in the early 1970s, in the context of the social movements, one can detect, in the North, the replacement of conservationist ecology with political ecology. It was under the influence of the New Left, in particular, that environmental problems become politicized and prominent. In addition to natural resources issues, this politicization focused primarily on pollution problems such as oil spills, chemical hazards, and nuclear pollution. In 1972 the Club of Rome, a group of concerned leaders from business, academia and government, published its *Limits to Growth*, highlighting in particular the possible input limits to further industrial development. In the same year the UN held its first Conference on the Human Environment, in Stockholm. Again, the focus was on natural resources management and, to a lesser extent, on pollution control, as both resources depletion and pollution were seen as potentially jeopardizing development.

Within the intellectual context of the New Left, environmental problems remained mainly political problems. Resources depletion and pollution were, it was argued in the 1970s, the result of existing power structures, which oppressed nature and people alike. Because of this political framework, political ecologists remained uncritical of many of the destructive forces of

industrial development, in particular of modern science, high technology, and the nation-state. Indeed, their markedly Northern-centred view led political ecologists to propose scientific progress, better technologies, and especially better policies as the answers to resources depletion and pollution problems. The nation-state remained, in their view, the most important, if not the only, relevant unit of action.

It was at this time, within the context of political ecology, that most environmental agents emerged. Be it Greenpeace, Friends of the Earth (FoE), the National Resources Defense Council (NRDC) in the USA, or many more, they all refer to this framework of political ecology within which they operate and which they perpetuate. Later in the 1970s Green parties used this Green movement in Western Europe while simultaneously strengthening the purely political approach to environmental issues and problems. Therefore, because of the political ecology framework, the nation-state remained the focus of environmental activists. The causes of environmental degradation were thus localized in politics and not, for example, in the dynamics of the industrial development process. Yet this analysis not only ignored the root causes of the development crisis, it also suggested that further scientific, technological, social, and political development would help solve the problems. In short, though it added some arguments to the critique of development, the Green movement of the 1970s did not identify industrial development as being the problem for the planet and its inhabitants.

# THE NEW COLD WAR AND GLOBAL ECOLOGY

With the emergence of the New Cold War in the late 1970s, fear and anxiety about a possible nuclear holocaust overshadowed environmental concerns in the North. But interestingly, the New Cold War prepared the ground for global ecology, for which the so-called theory of the nuclear winter was probably a trigger. First put forward in 1982, this theory states that a nuclear explosion anywhere on this planet has the potential to induce climate change planet-wide. Rather than being about the nuclear threat, this theory is in fact about global environmental change. As such it was symptomatic of a whole new approach to environmental problems emerging at the beginning of the 1980s: global ecology.

Ozone depletion and global warming, in particular, along with other global environmental issues such as deforestation and soil erosion, became the focus of this new global ecology. Global ecological problems were no longer simply resources depletion or pollution issues. Indeed, in addition to pollution problems and input limits to growth, global ecology now also pointed to potential global output problems of industrial development. It now appeared that such output limits might actually be far more serious than the input limits and the pollution problems, for which there are, to some extent, technological and political solutions. We think that the global ecology of the early 1980s was actually a far more serious challenge and critique of industrial development than anything else that came before.

# THE CHALLENGES OF GLOBAL ECOLOGY

The real effects of global ecology only became apparent when the Cold War ended in 1986 with Gorbachev coming to power in the Soviet Union. It was at this time that the possible consequences of global ecology really hit home: global ecology questions the very essence of industrial development, and therefore also the agents that live off this process. Among the first major agents to be challenged are of course business and industry, especially big business such as multinational corporations. Indeed, if the challenge of global ecology is taken seriously, there are now serious output limits to further economic growth and industrial development. Promoting such massive industrial development, as most of these multinational companies do, amounts to promoting accelerated destruction of the global environment.

A second type of agent whose pursuit of industrial development is being challenged are nation-states. Protected by the Cold War and legitimized by the social and environmental movements of the late 1960s and the 1970s, in the age of global ecology nation-states not only have a legitimation problem, they also now have to demonstrate that they are still relevant agents when it comes to the new challenges of global ecology. Are they indeed able to address the challenges raised by global ecology successfully?

The role of the military is of course brought into question in a very similar way by global ecology. Indeed, in the light of the new global environmental

changes and challenges, issues of national security increasingly seem to be irrelevant. As a result, the military-industrial complexes of the world are now figuring out ways and means to make sense of themselves in the eyes of an increasingly critical public.

And if industrial development, business and industry, nation-state structures, national governments, and military-industrial complexes are increasingly brought into question by global ecology, Southern élites are hardly better off, as they basically derive their power and privileges from imitating the North and its industrial development model. If further industrial development is made impossible by global change and challenges, Southern élites are threatened. A similar threat extends to the UN system whose aim, as we have seen, is to promote development — not to mention the fact that over the past forty years the UN system has created a development élite of its own, whose very existence is now brought into question by the global ecological threat.

And finally, the Green movement, too, is brought into question by global ecology and its challenges. Having its roots in either conservation or political ecology, the Green movement needs to redefine itself, as it is no longer obvious that the traditional problem-solving approaches it promoted are still valid when applied to the new global environmental challenges. Moreover, the Green movement also has to find a new acceptance in the eyes of a concerned public as a relevant agent in this new global environmental arena.

In this book, we show that UNCED offered a unique opportunity to all these different agents to redefine and relegitimize themselves in the new age of global ecological changes and challenges. Some have done better than others. But overall, as we argue, the outcome is not a better way to address the global ecological crisis. Rather, the outcome is a new push for more environmentally destructive industrial development.

Two publications have become particularly important, as they try to reassess some of these agents' roles in the light of the new challenges. Both are the products of international commissions: the so-called 'Brundtland report' entitled *Our Common Future* is the outcome of the World Commission on Environment and Development, created by the UN in 1983, while the report entitled *The Challenge to the South* is the product of the South Commission, established in 1987. Both were written in time for the Rio conference. Let us look at them first.

# Part I THE DOCUMENTS



### WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

The essence of the philosophy of the World Commission on Environment and Development can actually be found on the very first page of the Brundtland report. This report, the Commission says:

is not a prediction of ever increasing environmental decay, poverty, and hardship in an ever more polluted world among ever decreasing resources. We see instead the possibility for a new era of economic growth, one that must be based on policies that sustain and expand our environmental resource base. And we believe such growth to be absolutely essential to relieve the great poverty that is deepening in much of the developing world. . . . We have the power to reconcile human affairs with natural laws and to thrive in the process. In this, our cultural and spiritual heritages can reinforce our economic interests and survival imperatives. . . . This new reality, from which there is no escape, must be recognized and managed. \(^1\)

We cannot in this book go into the history of how the UN system created the World Commission on Environment and Development. Nevertheless, let us briefly recall here the context within which the Brundtland Commission emerged. It is the context of the New Cold War and the re-emerging East—West conflict at the beginning of the 1980s. It is against this threat to 'our common security' – highlighted by the debate about the Euromissiles, as well as by the nuclear winter theory – that the Brundtland Commission was created. Not surprisingly, the title of the Brundtland report, Our Common Future, is very similar to the title of the Palme report, Our Common Security, whose main concern was the nuclear threat. As a matter of fact, the Brundtland report devotes an entire chapter to a quite radical critique of the arms race, to conclude that 'the nations must turn away from the destructive logic of an "arms culture" and focus instead on their common future'. We also note that

#### THE DOCUMENTS

the Brundtland report actually remains the only document in the entire UNCED process that explicitly deals with the military as a problem. This can be explained by the fact that the Brundtland Commission was born in the context of the Cold War.

What is more, the Brundtland Commission sees at least part of its role as helping to break out of the international deadlock caused by the Cold War. In her preface, ex-Premier Brundtland says: 'After a decade and a half of standstill or even deterioration in global cooperation, I believe the time has come for higher expectations, for common goals pursued together, for an increased political will to address our common future'. It might well be that in the initial phase of the Commission the environment was actually more of a rallying point to foster cooperation among nation-states than the real common challenge.

In the process of its work, the Commission identified the real challenges as population and human resources, food security, species and ecosystems, energy, industry, and the urban challenge. But by breaking down the environmental question into these six challenges, the Brundtland Commission managed to redefine the global environmental crisis in terms of a problem that can be solved by nation-states and their cooperation in promoting economic growth. And such growth, the Commission says, can essentially be achieved by manipulating and improving technology and social organization. Overall, one can say that not much thinking seems to have gone into the analysis of the real causes of today's crisis. The major concern does not seem to be the crisis, but the potential conflicts between nation-states that could arise because of a lack of development. Let us now look at each of the six challenges the Commission has identified in more detail.

#### POPULATION

In the beginning of its section on population, the Brundtland report states that 'present rates of population growth cannot continue'. And: 'Nor are population growth rates the challenge solely of those nations with high rates of increase. An additional person in an industrial country consumes far more and places far greater pressure on natural resources than an additional person in the Third World'. Despite these statements, the analysis put forth by the Commission on population issues is, in our opinion, basically flawed. It rests

#### WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

on the assumption of two fundamental relationships, both of which must be balanced: there should be a balance between population size and available resources on the one hand, and between population growth and economic growth on the other.<sup>8</sup>

Population is basically seen as an input problem at the national level. The question is whether there are enough natural resources to sustain a certain number of people within given national boundaries. There is also mention, in the report, that people should have equitable access to the overall resources pool, as such equitable access as well as further economic growth are both important means to get fertility rates down. Says the Commission: 'sustainable economic growth and equitable access to resources are two of the more certain routes towards lower fertility rates'. 9 In other words, lowering fertility is seen by the Commission as being achievable through social and economic development alone.

Since 'almost any activity that increases well-being and security lessens people's desires to have more children than they and national ecosystems can support', <sup>10</sup> the second strategy envisaged by the Commission is to balance population growth rates with economic growth rates. Starting with the realistic assumption that populations will continue to grow, the Commission advocates higher economic growth as well as better education — called 'improving the human potential' — and technological improvements in order to make more efficient use of the available natural resource base, or even enhancing this natural resources base. Again, this is achievable through economic growth. Overall, then, the Commission's main recommendation for dealing with population growth is more development: 'A concern for population growth must therefore be part of a broader concern for a more rapid rate of economic and social development in the developing countries.' <sup>11</sup>

While the Commission certainly pursues the laudatory aim of providing equitable access to resources, this is combined with advocating further growth in order to raise the poor to the levels of the rich. Yet, this is a dangerous idea because the Commission's own figures show that the rich are consuming the vast bulk of resources, which is the major reason for the present crisis to begin with. The Commission's own figures show, for example, that the populations of the Northern countries, with a quarter of the world's inhabitants, consume fifteen times as much paper as their counterparts in the South. Demand from the poor for fuelwood is another major cause of deforestation, but given that

#### THE DOCUMENTS

the numbers of people consuming trees for paper, furniture and construction purposes are much smaller than those felling them for fuel, and the proportion of wood used is considerably higher, it would surely be more effective to act in the North first.

None of these ratios is at all new. The economist E.F. Schumacher used similar figures in his famous book *Small is Beautiful*, published in 1973.<sup>12</sup> He showed that the United States with 5.6 per cent of the world's population was consuming 63 per cent of the world's natural gas, 44 per cent of the world's coal, 42 per cent of the world's aluminium, and 33 per cent of the world's copper and petroleum, all non-renewable resources. He said:

It is obvious that the world cannot afford the USA. Nor can it afford Western Europe or Japan. In fact, we might come to the conclusion that the Earth cannot afford the 'modern world'.... The Earth cannot afford, say, 15 per cent of its inhabitants – the rich who are using all the marvellous achievements of science and technology – to indulge in a crude, materialistic way of life which ravages the Earth. The poor don't do too much damage; the modest people don't do much damage. Virtually all the damage is done by, say 15 per cent ... The problem passengers on spaceship Earth are the first class passengers and no one else.

In the Brundtland report and in many other reports similar ratios can be found for the consumption of most resources and for the production of most pollutants. But, after quoting such figures, the Commission fails to draw the logical conclusions. It even misses the real point, since it concludes that poverty is the cause of environmental degradation and that higher livingstandards will therefore reduce population growth and wasteful consumption. The Commission clearly does not seem to understand that economic growth leads to more consumption and that more consumption leads to more pollution. Even the currently accepted indicators of national income show that those activities that lead to the quickest economic growth cause an increase in pollution. For example, the World Bank reports that 'environmentally benign activities usually contribute a smaller portion to national income than do environmentally malignant ones'. 13 Had the Commission realized this and not been blinded by the development myth, it might have concluded that redistribution and de-industrialization would serve the global environment better than further economic growth.

#### WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

#### FOOD SECURITY

Under this heading the Brundtland Commission expresses its concern about how to feed the planet's growing population. The report goes through a wide variety of statistics to show that most of the world has too little to eat despite the fact that food production has continuously outstripped population growth. It also discusses a series of environmental problems impacting negatively on global food production, such as soil erosion, soil acidification, deforestation, and desertification, as well as soil and water pollution. Yet, very optimistically, the report states that 'global agriculture has the potential to grow enough food for all'. Let us see how the Commission comes to such a conclusion and how it conceives of global food security.

Given the Commission's assumption that there is enough food, it sees food security basically as a distribution problem. And such a problem can, of course, be solved by better management, especially on the 'ultimate scale of distribution', i.e. the global scale. In addition, food security is also seen as a traditional political problem, especially on the level of national agricultural policy. The argument of the Commission is in fact very close to the argument we can see in GATT: it is specially subsidized production which is seen as being environmentally (and economically) damaging, since subsidies (in the North) lead to surpluses, which depress international market prices, which in turn 'keeps down prices received by Third World farmers and reduces incentives to improve domestic food production'. <sup>15</sup> In short, it states that it is 'the short-sighted policies that are leading to degradation of the agricultural resource base'. <sup>16</sup> There is no mention of the skewed system of food production such as monocultures, the loss of seed varieties, multinational control, land owner-ship, and much more.

Cursory mention is made in the report of the fact that most of the planet's scientifically stored genetic material is in the hands of Northern laboratories and that private companies are increasingly seeking proprietary rights to improved seed varieties while ignoring the rights of the country they were imported from. Only a few years ago, India for example still had some 30,000 varieties of rice, all of which had different functions and were adapted to different climatic and other conditions. Today, only fifteen varieties cover three-quarters of the country. <sup>17</sup> If the native crops are slowly destroyed or forgotten, and the world's poor have to depend on expensive, less robust and

#### THE DOCUMENTS

imported seeds, they will never be able to support themselves.

Overall, the problem of Southern agricultural exports is badly fudged in the Brundtland report. While the Commission spends a fair amount of time on the subject of the North dumping subsidized grain in the South, there is hardly any correlation drawn between hunger and poverty and the fact that large private land holdings in the South are being used to grow cash crops for export to the North, rather than feeding the people in the country. The one section on the subject points out that during the 1983–84 famine in the Sahel, Burkina Faso, Chad, Mali, and Niger harvested record amounts of cotton, i.e. 154 million tons of cotton fibre, a sevenfold increase over the harvest in 1962. At the same time, the Sahel region set a record for cereal imports, i.e. 1.77 million tons, up almost nine times over a corresponding period of just over 20 years. The Commission does not draw a conclusion from this, nor does it mention that, simultaneously, world cotton prices have been steadily falling.

The answer of the Brundtland Commission is to emphasize economic growth, export diversification, commodity agreements, and other subsidy policies so that people can actually afford food. As Brundtland points out, the Southern countries cannot compete against Northern food exports because their prices are artificially lowered by subsidies like the EC's Common Agricultural Policy. But countries have to realize that they face a Catch 22 situation. They can only buy this cheap food with foreign exchange, which they can only get by selling cash crops and natural resources at steadily falling prices, thus accelerating the erosion of local self-sufficiency. Yet, would it not be better to take a lesson from the decade-long nosedive in prices and stop depending on exports? Why should a country spend its valuable foreign exchange buying food and selling cash crops whose prices are falling? Does it not make sense to grow the food for the local people first?

In short, the Commission regards the problems as basically technical and political ones, such as the poor design of irrigation systems, the incorrect application of agricultural devices, subsidy allocation, and so on. The problem, however, is systemic. The report, moreover, takes population and its growth as given. The challenge is not, as Brundtland suggests, 'to increase food production to keep pace with demand'.<sup>18</sup> In doing so, the Commission basically imagines a technofix: 'new technologies (will) provide opportunities for increasing productivity while reducing pressures on resources'.<sup>19</sup> To sum up, the Commission envisages some sort of second Green Revolution, which,

#### WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

this time around, will not only be managed globally, but moreover include local people, especially women, in the overall management scheme. To recall, the Green Revolution subsidized the buying of seed, fertilizers, and pesticides, but of course the only people who could afford to buy these were the ones who had access to capital and were then rewarded with large profits. The poor ones who bought into this scheme were poorer as a result of it. In many countries the Green Revolution failed completely because, in addition, the new crops were totally unsuited to the land and caused further famine.

#### SPECIES AND ECOSYSTEMS

The way the Brundtland Commission talks about species and ecosystems is actually symptomatic of the way it sees biological diversity, nature, and the biosphere: nature is basically viewed as an economic resource to be used for further development. Again, there is a big discrepancy between the diagnosis and the proposed solutions.

The Commission recognizes the alarming rate of species extinction, which is 'hundreds of times higher and could easily be thousands of times higher than the average background rate of extinction'. <sup>20</sup> But having diagnosed this, it immediately downplays the issue — 'extinction has been a fact of life since it first emerged'<sup>21</sup> — and offers a highly unsophisticated analysis of the causes of species extinction and, by extension, of environmental degradation. All damage to the environment, it says, is caused by so-called 'human activities'. The most sophisticated the Commission gets in identifying the causes of environmental destruction is when it blames 'large populations', 'poverty', and 'shifting agriculture'. It also mentions the role of logging policies of many countries that encourage timber exports and livestock ranching.

As a consequence of this very weak analysis, the proposed actions necessarily remain quite general and ideological. For the Commission, the 'first priority is to establish the problem of disappearing species and threatened ecosystems on political agendas as a major economic resource [sic!] issue'. <sup>22</sup> In other words, the priority is to reframe environmental destruction in terms of national economic development policies. Thus, plants, animals, microorganisms, and the non-living elements of the environment on which they depend become 'living natural resources', which are, moreover, 'crucial for

#### THE DOCUMENTS

development'. <sup>23</sup> Tropical forests, for example, become 'reservoirs of biological diversity' waiting to be 'developed economically'. <sup>24</sup> In short, the answer the Commission proposes in response to species extinction and habitat destruction, for example, is basically to put species, biodiversity, and nature overall on to the national and international development agenda, i.e. to make them resources for development.

Consequently, species should be managed like all other natural resources, possibly by making use of new technologies, such as bioengineering. The Commission even goes as far as to propose a 'gene revolution' to succeed the Green Revolution, which, as we have seen, was a disaster. Heavily influenced by conservationist environmentalists, in particular WWF and IUCN, the Commission proposes more parks and wildlife conservation areas as the answer. However, in contrast to the 1950s and the 1960s, when species were 'parked' in such areas, in today's new approach species protection must be linked to development. Says the Brundtland report: '... governments could think of "parks for development" [sic!], insofar as parks serve the dual purpose of protecting for species habitat and development processes at the same time'. 25 To be sure, such species protection and development is, before all, a national task.

It is clear that the Commission does not adequately analyse the causes of species extinction in particular, and environmental degradation in general. Therefore, many of the solutions the Commission proposes are, in our view, still causes. For example, the Commission applauds the efforts of the World Bank and the US Agency for International Development (USAID) in paying for conservation, but curiously fails to mention that these are two major subsidizers of timber and agricultural export as well as resettlement policies, both leading to species extinction.

The main focus is on national and international management. Community knowledge is basically ignored. Rather, the public needs to be educated, it says, but it fails to notice that the public may once have known all of this or may still know some of it. It suggests, instead, that these people should be required to learn intensive agricultural methods using more fertilizers and pesticides, ignoring the recommendations of the previous chapter on food security, which pointed out that these chemicals were contributors to species extinction.

Overall, the Commission seems to ignore that there is such a thing as an ecological rationality. It has no sense that this might contradict the economic

#### WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

rationality which the Commission imposes upon everything, be it species, biological diversity, ecosystems, or nature.

# SUSTAINABLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT

The Commission seems to be perfectly aware of some negative environmental consequences of industrial development, and related energy production. It mentions in particular hazardous waste, chemical and nuclear risks, soil, air and water pollution, as well as climatic change. On the other hand, the Commission never mentions negative social and cultural consequences of industrial development. Of course, for the Commission industrial development is not only desirable, it is imperative. And industry is the key: 'Industry is central to the economies of modern societies and an indispensable motor of growth. . . . Many essential human needs can be met only [sic!] through goods and services provided by industry. The production of food requires increasing amounts of agrochemicals and machinery'. 26 In other words, there are growing needs, and the growth of industry, so the argument goes, is the only way to satisfy these needs. Sustainable development therefore means, in essence, sustainable industrial development. An annual 3 per cent global per capita GDP growth is 'regarded in this report as a minimum for reasonable development'.27

Everything the Commission writes about — in this case waste reduction, pollution control, risk management, and energy consumption and efficiency — must be seen against the background of this industrial growth imperative. All these measures should at least not cut into growth, but if at all possible enhance growth. The main question for the Brundtland Commission, therefore, is how to sustain industrial development without cutting into the resources upon which future growth depends. This is the definition of sustainable development: 'sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs'. <sup>28</sup> The main way to achieve this, according to the Commission, is therefore increased efficiency resulting from technological improvements. 'The Commission believes that energy efficiency should be the cutting edge of national energy policies for sustainable development'. <sup>29</sup> But even this efficiency

#### THE DOCUMENTS

argument must be seen against the background of the growth imperative: the argument says, in essence, that the same or more economic and industrial growth can be achieved with less energy (and material input). The goal therefore is growth and not an ecologically sustainable level of industrial production.

If in relative terms the energy input per capita GNP increase diminishes, absolute consumption of energy therefore will still grow. The following quote illustrates this argument: 'The woman who cooks in an earthern pot over an open fire uses perhaps eight times more energy than an affluent neighbour with a gas stove and aluminum pans. The poor who light their homes with a wick dipped in a jar of kerosene get one fiftieth of the illumination of a 100-watt electric bulb, but use just as much energy'. 30 However, this whole efficiency argument developed against the background of the growth imperative is basically flawed: of course a 100-watt light bulb is 50 times more efficient than a wick dipped in kerosene. And of course a gas stove is about eight times more efficient than cooking over an open fire. However, the argument does not take into account all the energy that was needed to build and is still needed to maintain the entire natural gas and electric infrastructure to begin with. Not to mention the fact that the efficiency argument only refers to technological improvements, neglecting social and cultural consequences of such industrial development.

In short, the efficiency argument developed by the Brundtland Commission – be it technological, economic, or organizational efficiency – only makes sense against the background of sustained industrial development. It is indeed questionable whether at a given level of industrial development substantial resource and energy saving technological improvements can actually be made, and whether in a pre-industrial society, for example, cooking over a woodstove is not the 'most efficient technology'. In any case, the Commission considers that technological improvements leading to more efficiency can only be made by further industrial development, and not by looking at past experiences.

#### WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

# FROM MILITARY TO ENVIRONMENTAL SECURITY

Of all the agents involved in the UNCED process, the Brundtland Commission is the only one to have explicitly addressed the military. This can be explained by the fact that the Commission took as a reference point the Brandt report on North-South relations and the Palme report on the nuclear predicament. As a matter of fact, there is no doubt that the Brundtland Commission and its mandate are heavily conditioned by the overall East-West context of the early 1980s, i.e. by the so-called Euromissile crisis. The Palme report discussed the resulting threat in Our Common Security, 31 and the Brundtland Commission was actually much influenced by the same threat, as the title Our Common Future suggests. It was against this threat - perhaps best exemplified in the theory of the 'nuclear winter', which also appeared for the first time in 1982 – that the Brundtland Commission emerged. Since then the global environmental questions have remained focused on this nuclear threat. As the Brundtland Commission says, its work occurred against the background of a 'widespread feeling of frustration and inadequacy in the international community about our own ability to address the vital global issues and deal effectively with them'. 32 Indeed, the Commission was above all concerned that environmental degradation could become an additional source of political conflicts. Says the Commission:

Nations must turn away from the destructive logic of an 'arms culture' and focus instead on their common future. The level of armaments and the destruction they could bring about bear no relation to the political conflict that triggered the arms competition in the first place. Nations must not become prisoners of their own arms race. They must face the common danger inherent in the weapons of the nuclear age. They must face the common challenge of providing for sustainable development and act in concert to remove the growing environmental sources of conflict. <sup>33</sup>

We fully agree with the Commission in its opinion that war and security problems have created major environmental stress by, for example, displacing people from their homes. We note with equal discomfort the fact that military spending equals the income of the poorest half of humanity and that more than half of the world's scientists are engaged in research for this. We laud the fact that the Commission has pointed a finger at the 'military-industrial complex'

and at the fact that military expenditure is more 'import-intensive' and creates few jobs.

But we also note that the 'arms culture' as the Brundtland Commission calls it is not analysed. The financiers and profit-makers of the arms race are not mentioned. Given that the military is one of the largest polluters in the world in the amount of toxic waste it produces, the energy it consumes and the pain and death that its products cause, surely the Commission should have also talked about the importance of regulating the military industries. Instead, it hands the issue over to international agreements and cooperation to create more security and reduce the need for weapons, certainly a must, but much less effective than committing national governments to stop encouraging the production, the import, and the export of weapons.

As a result of this lack of analysis of the military-industrial complex and its role in industrial development, the chapter of the Brundtland report on peace and security turns into a way of redefining environmental problems in security terms. By considering environmental degradation as yet another cause of conflict among nation-states — which is the basic political unit the Commission considers — the concept of security is enlarged and applied to the environment as well. Says the Commission: 'Action to reduce environmental threats to security requires a redefinition of priorities, nationally and globally. Such a redefinition could evolve through the widespread acceptance of broader forms of security assessment and embrace military, political, environmental, and other sources of conflict'.<sup>34</sup>

Political and environmental sources of conflict are therefore put on the same level and made comparable which, of course, they are not. But by considering the environment as a security issue along with other political issues, the causes of such environmental conflict can be acted upon, it is argued, in the same way as the causes of political conflict, i.e. among others through more development. As a result, military spending is weighed against spending for development. Says the Commission:

The true cost of the arms race is the loss of what could have been produced instead with scarce capital, labor skills, and raw materials. . . . Nations are seeking a new era of economic growth. The level of spending on arms diminishes the prospects of such an era – especially one that emphasizes the more efficient use of raw materials, energy, and skilled human resources. 35

In short, in this analysis the military is simply an impediment to future

#### WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

development. It is basically for this reason, not for its environmentally and culturally destructive consequences, that the Brundtland Commission criticizes the military. Common environmental security therefore becomes an issue of redirecting the money from the military to development, especially sustainable development. Striving for common security therefore becomes identical to striving for sustainable development.

Not to have analysed in depth the status and the role of the military in the global environmental crisis has yet another consequence: the management of environmental problems is seen by the Brundtland Commission in very similar terms as the management of military and political conflicts. Though the Commission notes that 'there are, of course, no military solutions to environmental insecurity', <sup>36</sup> it nevertheless proposes to deal with environmental insecurity in the very same way as international conflicts have historically been dealt with, i.e. through the 'joint management and multilateral procedures and mechanisms'. <sup>37</sup> This approach — sometimes also called cooperative management, among nation-states of course — is how the Commission proposes to deal with the environment as a security issue. The Commission says:

It would be highly desirable if the appropriate international organizations, including appropriate UN bodies and regional organizations, were to pool their resources—and draw on the most sophisticated surveillance technology available—to establish a reliable early warning system for environmental risk and conflict. Such a system would monitor indicators of risk and potential disputes, such as soil erosion, growth in regional migration, and uses of commons that are approaching the thresholds of sustainability. The organizations would also offer their services for helping the respective countries to establish principles and institutions for joint management. <sup>38</sup>

In short, not properly analysing the military leads the Brundtland Commission to propose a military kind of international management of environmental problems and resources, the so-called commons.

# THE COMMONS

Potentially, for the Brundtland Commission, the commons include all the planet's resources, since these are in common to all people and do not just belong to nation-states. However, the idea of the commons is thought of from

the perspective of what nation-states currently do manage in common, i.e. deep oceans, Antarctica, and space. The dangers of over-exploitation of the oceans through the fishing of coastal and deep sea areas, pollution from toxic dumping or run-off from land-based development into the oceans, and careless disposal of nuclear waste in the space orbits are expounded by the report. The importance of international cooperation is stressed and the dangers of national self-interest is cautioned against.

However, the traditional meaning of the term 'commons' is quite different from the meaning the Brundtland Commission assigns to it. <sup>39</sup> The commons are usually managed by people – not nation-states – at a local and not at a global level. The commons are providing livelihoods for the people directly managing them. Basically, the commons refer to traditional communities who own their resources jointly and distribute their wealth wisely. By referring to the same term, 'the commons', the Brundtland Commission wants to make us believe that the planet as a whole can be managed in the very same way. However, this use of the term should not make us forget that the Commission effects two fundamental transformations here. First, the global commons are, in its view, no longer managed by traditional communities and their members, but by nation-states. Second, managing the global commons is not about the wise use of the wealth locally produced. Rather, global management of the commons is simultaneously resource and risk management.

The idea of global management hands over the policing of the commons and their sustainable development to a global establishment, its institutions and agreements. Global management means global policing and therefore a militaristic model of fighting for 'freer' and more 'competitive' markets that will supposedly distribute things more equitably without examining the inherent nature of enclosure, export, and community destruction in these methods. Quite logically, the recommendations of the Commission for legal and institutional change all pertain to global resources and risk management. Community groups have received little support from the Commission apart from that given to NGOs. But this support is interesting, because it mentions them mostly in the context of their ability to reach groups that government agencies cannot and taking on jobs that need to be done. Note that the orientation is top-down: priority goes to governmental and international institutions and when they are not able to solve the problems from above, NGOs are given this task. The idea that community groups might know more

## WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

than governments, and that they might be better suited to support the commons, is not considered.

# CONCLUSION

To sum up the discussion of the Brundtland report we can conclude that the Commission basically reformulates the by-now old development myth, i.e. the myth of unlimited industrial development. It is the old idea of stages in the development process where, in a first stage, a given society draws from its natural resource base in order to build up its own intellectual, economic, and technological capacities. The second stage of development is then said to draw upon these capacities, rather than on the natural resources base. This model is based on the idea that gradually a society can make itself become independent of nature. 'Sustainable development', then, is just another word for an economic process that is drawing on a society's techno-economic capacities, rather than on the natural resources base. Of course, there are 'no limits to growth' in this model, given that the more developed a society is, the less it depends on resources that are external to it, i.e. the more it can develop sustainably. It is with this prospect of achieving independence from nature that most natural and engineering sciences are developed. And it is with the complementary prospect of optimizing a society's management capacity to sustain such development that the social sciences are pushed forward. Therefore, sustainable development becomes a matter of financial and human capital, technology, and organizational capacity. If some societies have not achieved sustainable development yet, so goes the argument, it is basically because they lack the financial, human, technological, and organizational capacity to do so. If other, more developed, societies do not do well in terms of sustainable development, this, so goes the argument, is due to a lack of economic, technological, and organizational efficiency.

So far the discourse of the Brundtland Commission is, therefore, hardly new. The only new element is that development is now looked at from a planetary or global perspective. Instead of stressing the development of a given society or country, the stress is now on the development of the planet as a whole. In that sense, the Brundtland Commission has succeeded where GATT has failed. It has managed to make the development discourse universal. One

of the key tools in doing so has been the ambiguous use of the term 'commons' or 'global commons'. From the Commission's perspective, the commons are the natural resources available planet-wide. These resources are needed in order to move societies to the second stage of industrial development, i.e. to sustainable development. Also, looking at these resources on a planetary scale, the Commission at least implicitly admits a certain finiteness of these resources. However, the Commission still thinks that the major limits to growth are not the natural resources, but the state of technology and social organization. Output limits — such as pollution — are only of interest to the Commission if they risk damaging the resource base. Says the Brundtland report:

The concept of sustainable development does imply limits – not absolute limits but limitations imposed by the present state of technology and social organization on environmental resources and by the ability of the biosphere to absorb the effects of human activity. But technology and social organization can both be improved to make way for a new era of economic growth. 40

The commons are, in the eyes of the Commission, the natural resources on which all societies need to draw in order to get them to the second stage of sustainable development. Using the idea of the commons in this global context is, as we have shown, a perversion of the original meaning of the term. The commons are the common land used by a local community for activities that benefit the entire community. Commons were therefore managed by the community. Referring to the planetary resource base in terms of 'commons' suggests that the 'human community' is to manage these commons. However, the crux is that on a global level the Commission is not thinking of the community of individuals, but of the community of nation-states. The Commission refers to the oceans, space, and Antarctica as examples of a common management of common resources, as well as risks affecting these resources. Implicitly, however, the Commission thinks that all resources should be managed in common, i.e. between nation-states. Note the shift from communities of individuals managing their commons to the community of states managing the global commons.

In short, the Brundtland report strengthens the old development discourse by lifting it to a planetary imperative. As in the original development paradigm, sustainable development — which is but another term for 'modernity' — is to be achieved in the second stage of development. From a planetary perspective,

# WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

which is the only novelty the Brundtland report proposes, we are currently in transition from the first stage (pillage of natural resources or pre-modernity) to the second stage (sustainable development or modernity). This process, the Commission says, has to be managed on a global scale, and its managers are the existing nation-states.

# SOUTHERN ELITES

The report of the South Commission entitled *The Challenge to the South* is another important document to put in the context of the UNCED process. Although the origin of the South Commission is unrelated to that process, the political positions articulated in the report became increasingly important as the UNCED negotiations unfolded. The Commission was set up in 1987 by the non-aligned movement on the initiative of Malaysian Prime Minister Mahathir Mohamad and headed by the former President of Tanzania, Julius Nyerere. Its role was threefold: to investigate the common problems of the Southern countries; to examine the possibilities of their working together to solve these problems; and to develop a new dialogue with the North.

It was set up at just about the same time that the Brundtland Commission delivered its report, but was originally concerned with very different problems. Indeed, 'for most countries of the South, the decade of the 1980s came to be regarded as a lost decade for development'.¹ The South Commission identified in its report various aspects of this 'development crisis of the 1980s'. In the beginning of the 1980s economic activity in the industrialized countries slowed down and reduced the demand for imports from the South. Also, the 'debt-related transfers, normally from North to South, were reversed and became a major drain on Southern economies as from 1984'.² This was, moreover, aggravated by the fact that almost all commodity prices fell in the second half of the decade. Finally, 'direct foreign investment in developing countries fell by about two thirds in real terms between 1982 and 1985'.³

As a result, and after the development decade of the 1970s, many developing countries experienced a crisis in the 1980s, not to mention the loss

#### SOUTHERN ELITES

of many illusions associated with the perspective of future development. On top of that, the end of the Cold War did not lead to renewed interest from the North in the South. Rather, a situation arose where 'both attention and technical and financial resources are being directed from development in the South to economic reconstruction of Eastern Europe'. In short, the South Commission emerged in the context of the betrayal of the hopes the South had started to nourish in the 1970s. The 'crisis of development' is, therefore, above all a crisis of the perspective of further development.

The environment is not really part of the considerations of the South Commission. In fact, of the 300-page report, only a few pages are devoted to environmental issues and problems. At the Least Developed Countries (LDC) meeting in Paris in September 1990 of the 42 poorest countries of the world, where the Commission presented the report, a Bangladeshi diplomat told a press conference that they could not be bothered about the environment when their people were starving to death. However, as the UNCED negotiations got more serious in 1991, Southern governments stopped complaining that the environment was a luxury of the rich, and started to get their act together. Perhaps they began either to understand that food security, as the Brundtland Commission had pointed out, was also an environmental issue, or they realized that the environment was a bargaining chip for the South, an issue around which they could rally and demand more help from the North.

As a result, the South Center (established in Geneva at the South Commission's final meeting in October 1990) published a 20-page brochure entitled 'Environment and Development: Towards a Common Strategy of the South in the UNCED Negotiations and Beyond'. <sup>5</sup> As we will see later, this brochure is more specific about the environment than is the South Commission's report. Yet, it is above all a strategy paper for the Southern governments in order to get the North to give further support to Southern industrial development, using Northern environmental concern as leverage.

To sum up, the South Commission's main and almost only concern is industrial development and economic growth. This is not very surprising, seeing that almost all of the Commission's 29 members have, at some point in their lives, been either economics professors or ministers of economic planning and development, or both. Needless to say, the South Commission is basically a reflection of the Southern countries' most Westernized élites. It comes as no surprise that these Southern élites, as represented in the

Commission, are most interested in the pursuit of development. They look at it from a national, from a South-South, and from a North-South perspective, a distinction we will follow here.

# ECONOMIC GROWTH - THE NATIONAL PERSPECTIVE

When it comes to development – and that is all their report is about – the South Commission is at least clear: no need to use such ambiguous terms as 'sustainable development'. Instead, the Commission talks about 'sustained development' and 'economic growth', for which all national resources, including women, must be 'mobilized' – note the military language. For the South such growth is said to be 'imperative'. The basic unit for achieving it remains the nation-state. Indeed, the state's role in promoting economic growth and development is given much thought in the report. The South Commission seeks to make clear that there is a need for state intervention in order to promote the capacity-building that is normally neglected by the market, such as education and scientific research and development. It also points out that many Southern states have administrative systems that were set up by their former colonial masters in order to serve their – the colonists – best interests. And it makes some very valuable suggestions on the importance of rethinking the state.

However, all this serves the purpose of making the state more fit to be a development agent. It is from this perspective that the report encourages public participation as well as scientific research and development. People need to be 'mobilized' in order to participate actively in the national development endeavour. Appropriate political structures — such as democracy and public participation — have to be allowed in order to promote economic growth. Says the Commission:

Development can be achieved only if a nation's people – its farmers, workers, artisans, traders, businessmen, entrepreneurs, and public officials – are able to use their energies creatively and discharge their functions effectively. This in turn is critically dependent on the establishment of efficient institutional mechanisms – both private and public – that enable all economic actors to play their roles.<sup>6</sup>

## SOUTHERN ELITES

And appropriate political reforms – such as land reforms – have to be allowed as well: 'Land reforms leading to more equitable patterns of ownership and more efficient land use are indispensable for increasing agricultural production and food security'. The same idea of 'mobilizing civil society for development' applies also to women. Says the Commission: 'The mobilization of women as equal partners in all development processes therefore needs priority attention of policymakers'. 8

In all fairness it must be said that the report does state that 'development should be consistent with the evolving culture of the people'. However, if one examines in more detail what the Commission means by 'culture', one finds a very Western definition, namely one where culture has no relationship with nature, i.e. it is conceived basically as a luxury, a form of 'collective entertainment'. In the Commission is interested in culture at all, this is, above all, because 'cultural values can produce social reactions, from apathy to hostility, that hinder efforts to implement development strategies'. Therefore, not surprisingly, 'development strategies . . . must include as a goal the development of culture itself'. Although it is not said explicitly in the report, popular cultures will have to evolve towards a 'scientific culture' if economic growth is to be achieved successfully in the South.

The Commission does, however, say explicitly that the adoption of Northern, Western, and modern science must be a stated goal of any development strategy: 'The creation, mastery, and utilization of modern science and technology are basic achievements that distinguish the advanced from the backward world, the North from the South . . . . Thus, future development policies will need to address with great vigor the closing of the knowledge gap with the North'. <sup>13</sup> Therefore, there is an urgent need for so-called 'human resources development' and 'capacity-building'. Says the Commission: 'Progress in this field calls for the overhaul of educational systems, in order that more attention may be given to education in science and to training in engineering and technical skills'. <sup>14</sup>

Capacity-building, democratization and political reforms are all seen by the Commission as necessary prerequisites in order to embark on the path of national economic growth. This is especially true in these difficult times when such economic growth in the South can no longer be expected to result automatically from the economic growth in the North through a trickle-down effect, nor from Northern aid, given the East—West rivalry. Such 'self-reliant

and people-centered' – substitute 'national' – development will have to focus, according to the Commission, on four areas, namely agricultural development and food security, industrialization, service industries, and trade strategies.

The Commission does analyse the complicated and increasingly difficult trade situation for the South. Indeed, the South has always been at a disadvantage in international trade treaty discussions, for example in places like the GATT talks where it has few negotiators and often no expertise at all. Also, both countries and multinationals in the North are undergoing further consolidation into the unified North American and European Community trading blocs that will strengthen their producers while impeding Southern products, and making life very difficult for Southern producers unless they band together in a similar fashion. But despite these observations, the development ideology prevails over common sense, and the Commission concludes that international trade — together with fast and strong national economic growth — is the main 'tool of progress'.

In the same way as for the North, industrialization is a key part of the Commission's development strategy. It recommends that attention be paid to economic efficiency and technological dynamism. Once again, proper incentives, subsidies, and taxes are discussed in some detail. The Commission is also in favour of Southern countries' taking advantage of the new and fast growing service industries like tourism and finance.

Under the heading of agricultural development and food security, the South Commission discusses the issue of unequal distribution of land and the dumping of cheap food from Northern countries. But, like the Brundtland Commission, it largely ignores the fact that the best land in the South is often engaged in producing export crops, although it is critical of government policies that do not promote food production for local consumption and those that encourage the consumption of imported foods. For Africa, the report says, new crops need to be found that will suit the fragile soil. Particular attention needs to be paid to post-harvest storage methods to avoid the 40 per cent loss at that stage. Overall, the message of the Commission in this matter can be summarized as the 'industrialization of agriculture'. Says the Commission: 'Particular importance needs to be attached to industry's link with agriculture. The rapid expansion of the cultivation of food crops can be facilitated by industrialization'. This is not surprising, since in the Commission's eyes the environmentally and culturally destructive Green Revolution has actually been

## SOUTHERN ELITES

a success to be replicated: 'The successful achievement by the Green revolution in Asia has lessons for countries with sluggish agricultural growth'. <sup>16</sup>

It is only in connection with security and agricultural development that the environment is actually mentioned by the Commission. Just as for the Brundtland Commission, the environment is basically an economic resource. As such it has to be rationally managed, while being further exploited. Says the Commission: 'The countries of the South will need to make a concerted effort to counteract environmental stress, as sustained development will require preservation and development of natural resources, as well as their rational exploitation'. <sup>17</sup> Overall, the message is that 'the South has no alternative but to pursue a path of rapid economic growth, and hence to industrialize'. <sup>18</sup> And the Commission insists: 'This [industrialization and pollution] is just, as well as necessary, given the enormous disparity in the levels of energy consumption between the North and the South, and the indisputable right of the South to develop rapidly to improve the well-being of its people'. <sup>19</sup>

# SOUTH-SOUTH COOPERATION

This part of the South Commission's report is perhaps a more significant contribution to the political debate than the previous part on sustaining national industrial development. Indeed, all the Commission says about development hardly breaks new ground. Almost all of it has been examined at length by economists and other development thinkers over the past twenty years. Much effort has been made over the years to implement these new policies, generally with disastrous consequences for the people, their cultures, and the environment, local and global.

Southern cooperation too is not a new idea, but has hardly ever been implemented in any serious manner. So the South Commission's call for strong collective action, such as the need for the South to speak together on issues of common concern like debt, is still welcome. However, it is disappointing to see that much of this discussion centres on creating Northern style institutions in the South. Yet this is not really surprising, as Northern style institutions are probably best suited to further the Northern style development the Commission seeks to promote.

The Commission starts off by explaining the rigidities of a world organized

along North—South lines where all the trading routes are directed northwards. It notes the phenomenal economic success of oil production agreements and argues that this should be extended to more of the commodities that the South exports. Unfortunately, it hardly mentions the fact that UNCTAD has been working on this issue for decades with a singular lack of success, mainly because of the subordinate role that it plays to more powerful institutions like GATT which have exactly the opposite interests. Attempts to shore up the prices of several commodities like coffee and rubber by controlling production have met with little success. UN institutions have also not had much success helping countries diversify production after the collapse of prices of major exports. Nor does the Commission address contradictions to its supposed concern for the environment that may arise through creating a major demand for importing toxic waste to the South, for example.

The Commission goes on to explain the necessity of creating Southern institutions that will ensure Southern cooperation in a variety of areas. For example, it thinks that it is very important to create Southern multinationals and a South Bank that will take on the role of the World Bank, but for the South. Multinationals and the World Bank are possibly two of the worst examples of Northern development strategy, as they are two of the biggest contributors to cultural and environmental destruction in the South in recent years. It would be particularly disastrous to ape these institutions as part of a strategy for South-South cooperation. More valuable ideas include Southern institutions that would gather and exchange Southern knowledge such as a proposed South Secretariat to organize Southern countries to speak with a collective voice, the proposal for regional groups to help settle regional conflicts, and the recombination to strengthen existing institutions like the Third World Academy of Sciences. Perhaps the South Center, created in 1990 as the follow-up to the South Commission, is meant to be a step in this direction. But why, then, is the South Center located in Geneva, Switzerland? And then again, the South Commission does not have any particular concern for traditional knowledge systems and local communities. All the suggestions for the creation or support of Southern institutions are in fact directed at copying Northern science, technology, education, and institutions in order to boost trade and economic growth in the South.

## SOUTHERN ELITES

# NORTH-SOUTH RELATIONS

Quite logically, since the South and the North are basically aspiring to and competing for the same goals, their relationship is portrayed by the South Commission in terms of conflict, especially, as we shall see, when it comes to the environment. Of course, the Commission does call for debt cancellation in the vain hope that Northern multilateral and private banks will heed its words. Like the Brundtland Commission, the South Commission also calls for more loans as a way to build up the infrastructure of Southern countries, emphasizing, as always, the need for the North to donate a minimum amount of their national income. Once again, it is a statement that is, in our opinion, hard to justify when it has become obvious over the years that more loans will lead to more debt and, as a result, more environmental destruction. The Commission also calls for more multinational investment as a way for Southern countries to receive new business and technological skills. This is also a position that is hard to justify when the Commission has spent such a lot of time explaining that increased dependency on the North has led more and more to the South being exploited by the North. To be fair, the Commission does attempt to give this some balance by saying that foreign investment by multinationals needs to be monitored for its impact on the South. But it is not clear from the report who is going to do this monitoring.

Finally, the Commission also says that disarmament is an area that could open up financing for the South, suggesting that part of the money saved by a reduction in military budgets could be used to help meet Southern technological needs. But the issue of militarization and disarmament stands out largely by its omission. At the very beginning of the report the Commission notes that Southern countries spend a large portion of their budgets on the military. At no point does it mention the major role that Northern aid plays in this, and at no point does it stress the need for disarmament in the South. Instead, it calls mostly for new security arrangements in the South and stresses the need for regional solutions to regional conflicts. Had the Commission condemned the exploitation of people and the destruction of the environment by both the North and the South through military spending, and called for the regulation of the industries that supply military hardware, it could have made a much stronger case for an alternative to current development strategies.

The major novelty in terms of North-South relations is probably to be found

in the environmental field, triggered by global environmental concerns and the UNCED process. In a very interesting briefing paper — written in 1991 by the South Center for the Southern governments at the UNCED negotiations — the South Commission's thinking is translated into an environment and development negotiation strategy. In this paper, the global environment is now perceived as a limited pie of pollution rights, to which both the South and the North aspire. Given, as outlined above, the South's quest for and perceived right to industrial development, the negotiation strategy of the Southern governments therefore must be to ensure that the South 'has adequate "environmental space" for its future development', <sup>20</sup> environmental space meaning the right to destroy and pollute the global environment further. Therefore, one of the key issues for the South in the UNCED negotiations 'is to indicate clearly the areas where it expects the North to adjust its production and consumption patterns in such a way as to leave the South with adequate environmental space for its development'. <sup>21</sup>

But although the South Center, as the South Commission before it, clearly sees the North and South competing for environmental space for their respective industrial development, thus articulating the new North-South conflict, we must not forget that this conflict stems from the fact that both share exactly the same aspirations and ideology of industrial development. As a matter of fact, the South Commission is much clearer in articulating this ideology than is the Brundtland Commission: development is an imperative for the South, it says, 'since only rapid industrial development can create the resources to satisfy the basic requirements of their populations'. 22 Moreover, the Southern nations must mobilize their people for that purpose and organize themselves in order to get the maximum out of the North. With the environment and in the context of the UNCED process, the Southern élites once again seem to have found a substantial bargaining point to get the North to support their industrial development. But clearly the environment is none of their concern. Like for the Brundtland Commission, it is a resource and 'space' for further industrial development.

At Rio de Janeiro in June 1992 most heads of government signed a package of agreements, namely a biodiversity convention, a climate change convention, a statement on forest principles, an agreement to work towards a desertification convention, the Rio Declaration on environment and development, and Agenda 21, a mammoth 800-page plan for saving the planet in the twenty-first century. In this chapter we briefly present and critically discuss these documents.

However, to begin with, it should be made clear that the main message and content of all these documents is above all a consolidation of the type of thinking we have identified in the reports of the Brundtland and the South Commissions. In other words, none of the documents displays any new or original way of looking at environmental and developmental issues. Before looking at each of the documents in more detail, it will be useful to recall what all of them missed.

## WHAT WAS MISSING?

What all of them missed was summarized, in our view, in a '10-point plan to save the Earth Summit' sponsored by Greenpeace International, the Forum of Brazilian NGOs, Friends of the Earth International, and the Third World Network (a coalition of Southern NGOs). This plan was presented in Rio and endorsed by over fifty other NGOs. The plan called on the Earth Summit to achieve the following:

- Legally binding targets and timetables for reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, with industrialized countries leading the way.
- 2. A cut in Northern resource consumption and transformation of technology to create ecological sustainability.
- 3. Global economic reform to reverse the South–North flow of resources, improve the South's terms of trade and reduce its debt burden.
- 4. An end to the World Bank control of the Global Environmental Facility (GEF).
- 5. Strong international regulation of transnational corporations, plus the restoration of the UN Center on Transnational Corporations, rather than allowing the Business Council for Sustainable Development to go unopposed in the UNCED process.
- 6. A ban on exports of hazardous wastes and on dirty industries.
- 7. Address the real causes of the forest destruction, since planting trees, as UNCED proposes, cannot be a substitute for saving existing natural forests and the cultures that live in them.
- 8. An end to nuclear weapons testing, phase-out of nuclear power plants and a transition to renewable energy.
- 9. Binding safety measures including a code of conduct for biotechnology.
- Reconciliation of trade with environmental protection, ensuring that free trade is not endorsed as the key to achieving sustainable development.

Neither Northern consumption, nor global economic reform, nor the role of transnational corporations, nor nuclear energy, nor the dangers of biotechnology were addressed in Rio, not to mention the fact that the military was totally left off the agenda. Instead, free trade and its promoters came to be seen as the solution to the global ecological crisis. This is, in part, due to the fact that the underlying documents, in particular the Brundtland report, on which the thinking in these documents is based, were flawed to begin with. As we now examine in more detail each of the Rio documents, we refer to these omissions and flaws. Some of them are addressed in this chapter, whereas others are discussed later in the book. Points 7 and 9 relate to the biodiversity convention that we discuss next, while point 1 relates to the climate change convention that follows. Transnational corporations are discussed in detail in

Part III, as is the issue of resource consumption mentioned in point 2. Point 4, about the World Bank, is discussed in Part IV. We have already discussed some issues raised in point 2 (consumption and resources) and point 3 (terms of trade and debt), as well as those in point 10 (free trade). The two other points, on international waste trade (point 6) and nuclear power (point 8), are discussed briefly at the end of this chapter.

# THE BIODIVERSITY CONVENTION

The biodiversity convention, like the climate change convention, was actually negotiated separately from the UNCED process in a so-called international negotiating committee (INC). Though both INCs met at different times to the UNCED PrepComs and had different national representatives, the issues, the stakes, and the conflicts turned out to be very similar to those that congregated around the same questions in Agenda 21. This was particularly the case after these two negotiations were declared part of the UNCED process.

As a matter of fact, when the negotiations for such a convention were initiated by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) in 1990, the biodiversity convention was to become a separate convention, and nobody planned that it would be ready to be signed in June 1992. The origin of the convention goes back to the concern for the destruction of the tropical rainforest, voiced mainly by Northern conservationist NGOs, in particular IUCN and WWF. These NGOs, in collaboration with the World Resources Institute (WRI), the World Bank, and UNEP, drafted the original texts. They mainly dealt with the protection and conservation of biodiversity along a quite traditional, i.e. resource management, approach. It was only during PrepCom III in August 1991 in Geneva that the so-called 'Group of 77' (G-77) which now comprised most developing countries (i.e. currently 128 countries) asked that the issue of biotechnology be included in the convention on biodiversity. Finally, a compromise document was drawn up in Nairobi a month before Rio and taken to the Summit. Negotiations had, in fact, been delayed because the USA had demanded substantial changes, which they got. Despite these concessions, the USA refused to sign the convention in Rio.

According to Patrick McCully:

It is likely that the biodiversity convention with its legal intricacies and obscure language would have received little attention at Rio were it not for George Bush's – US president at that time refusal to sign it. The US's intransigence on this issue became a focus for NGOs' demonstrations and press interest, the anger against Bush implying that the convention was somehow going to mark a great advance.<sup>2</sup>

Indeed, despite many critical notes from some NGOs, the biodiversity convention was generally considered the biggest success of the entire UNCED process. A total of 156 countries signed the convention in Rio, and four more have signed it since, but only six had ratified it as of February 1993. Many NGOs were indeed keen for the convention to be signed. While recognizing that it had many shortcomings, groups at a workshop held by the Brazilian NGO SOS Mata Atlantica (SOS Atlantic Forest) called the convention 'a milestone in an ongoing process for the conservation and wise use of the world's biodiversity'. The Third World Network, however, noting that last minute changes had been made to the convention's provisions on ownership of genetic resources, advised Southern countries not to sign.<sup>3</sup> Amid the excitement of the Summit and the general anger with the USA's pro-business stance, few noticed the warning.

Indeed, the biodiversity convention is just one of many typical examples where the concern for exponential destruction of the world's biodiversity has been perverted into a preoccupation with new scientific and (bio-)technological developments to boost economic growth. Or as Vandana Shiva puts it: 'It is ironical that a convention for the protection of biodiversity has been distorted into a convention to exploit it'. 4 Though this is not surprising, given the conceptual framework of the Brundtland Commission discussed earlier, it is nevertheless worth while identifying the three key arguments that cement this perversion: first, the convention gives 'nation-states the sovereign right to exploit their own resources pursuant to their environmental policies', 5 thus transforming biological diversity into a natural resource to be exploited and manipulated. Then, the convention implicitly equates the diversity of life animals and plants - to the diversity of genetic codes, for which read genetic resources. By doing so, diversity becomes something modern science can manipulate. Finally, the convention promotes biotechnology as being 'essential for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity'. 6

Not surprisingly, biotechnology, according to Agenda 21, is not only good for the conservation of biodiversity, but it is also good for improving

agricultural production as it will 'increase the yield of major crops, livestock, and acquaculture species'. The biotechnology industry is therefore beneficial to humanity in at least two ways, i.e. to conserve biodiversity on the one hand and to improve production on the other. Interestingly, as Third World Resurgence has pointed out, 8 the thrust of the biodiversity convention — as well as that of chapter 16 of Agenda 21 dealing with biodiversity and biotechnology — is exactly the same as a document prepared by the biotechnology industry for UNCED. In it the International Biodiversity Forum says that genetically manipulated organisms are 'natural' while at the same time claiming that they are improvements upon nature due to 'increased efficiency'. The document, like the convention, also says that (1) 'modern biotechnology will help maintain biodiversity and ensure genetic diversity', and that (2) 'biotechnology will . . . [provide] extensive environmental benefits for sustainable growth'.

To recap, the main stake raised by the biodiversity convention is the issue of ownership and control over biological diversity. In the case of the North, and the USA in particular, the major concern was protecting the pharmaceutical and emerging biotechnology industries, which get their raw material from forests. In the case of the South, the concern was mostly ensuring that governments and industries could continue to exploit their own natural resources. Obviously, the convention is a compromise with considerable advantages for the North. Who spoke and speaks for the local communities who often sustain and depend on biodiversity for foods, medicine, and their way of life? Once the biodiversity convention had included the question of biotechnology – as demanded by the South – and which subsequently become a propaganda instrument for the biotechnology industry, the main debate between the North and the South was over patent rights, redistribution of profits from biotechnological production, access rights and control over genetic banks, as well as debates about the safety of biotechnology. Yet, amid these financial and political controversies the main issue was forgotten, namely the identification of the main causes of the destruction of biodiversity and the drawing up of action plans to address these causes.

# THE FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE

The negotiations for the climate convention are a good example of what happens if a global environmental problem cannot be turned – unlike the case of biodiversity - into the promotion of further industrial development. Therefore, the climate negotiations are probably best characterized as an 'effort to avoid conflicting positions through vagueness and ambiguity'. Like the biodiversity convention, the climate convention was negotiated separately, a process initiated by the warnings of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which stated in 1990 that unless emissions of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide were cut significantly, the world could face unprecedented global warming. Global warming would lead to rises in sea level and coastal flooding, unpredictable weather patterns, and drought, and therefore decreased agricultural productivity, and further hunger and migration. Because carbon dioxide is mostly responsible for global warming, the IPCC concluded that carbon emissions needed to be cut by 60 per cent at least in order simply to stabilize current carbon levels in the atmosphere. The IPCC had also assessed that the industrialized North accounted for the majority of carbon dioxide emissions, basically due to the fact that such emissions are totally correlated with fossil fuel consumption, fossil fuels being the primary motor of industrial development. The USA alone, the IPCC stated, accounts for about 23 per cent of worldwide carbon dioxide emissions. 10

After the negotiations on emissions reduction started in the International Negotiating Committee on Climate Change in 1990, it rapidly became clear that at best governments would put pressure on their industries and other greenhouse gas emitters to return to 1990 levels by the year 2000, a figure that would not come anywhere near the 60 per cent reduction that the IPCC scientists had called for. But the USA rapidly caused deadlock by refusing to set a target for even stabilizing, let alone reducing, emissions of carbon dioxide, because it said it would cause a major setback for its economy. All the other OECD countries had agreed to go along with the 1990 target. But at the final INC meeting in April 1992 in New York, everybody bowed to US pressure. Previously, a US government Commission had concluded that the USA could actually adapt to and mitigate the consequences of climate change, and furthermore win a strategic advantage by doing this.<sup>11</sup> As a result, the

convention contains no legally binding commitments for industrialized countries to stabilize, let alone to reduce, carbon dioxide emissions.

The Japanese and the European governments who had condemned the USA for its stand, some of whom even went to Rio with a counter-proposal to steal the thunder from the USA on the final day, quietly shelved their plans too. And President Bush bought himself some publicity by offering to contribute US\$150 million over the next two years for Southern countries to figure out how they could cut their greenhouse gas emissions. This proposal, of course, is ridiculous given the fact that the USA is estimated to be the source of a quarter of the world's greenhouse gas emissions and therefore the best starting point for reduction.

The convention — which is indeed a framework and not a real convention — now only requires that Northern countries submit a list of their plans for carbon dioxide reductions to the secretariat of the convention and report on its follow-up. They are also 'encouraged' to take up joint ventures with other countries; by planting trees in other countries which help absorb greenhouse gases, for example, they can take credit while not cutting back on their own emissions. Northern countries are also supposed to come up with money to help cut emissions in the South and assist in the transfer of relevant technology to help Southern countries in these efforts. Once again, no actual amounts of money or precise commitments of any kind were made. Finally, Southern countries are asked to submit an inventory of their greenhouse gas emissions and plans to reduce them.

This toothless framework convention had been signed, as of February 1993, by 155 countries and ratified by eleven of them. It will come into force as soon as fifty of them have ratified it. A secretariat to monitor the follow-up of the convention has been set up in Geneva, just as the secretariat to follow up on the biodiversity convention is also located in Geneva, the 'environmental capital of the world', as the Swiss like to think of it. The IPCC continues to operate under the joint sponsorship of UNEP and the World Meteorological Organization (WMO).

Yet the issue of climate change is actually quite simple compared to other global environmental problems, as primarily the fossil-fuel based industrial development needs to be slowed down. However, this is acceptable neither to governments nor to any other organization whose primary mission is to promote economic growth. None was willing to go beyond the amount of

carbon dioxide reductions that technological progress made possible thanks to efficiency gains. As a matter of fact, the OECD countries which were advocating such a reduction hoped to gain a competitive economic advantage from the new technological developments this would have spurred. But no one, either in the North or in the South, was and still is willing to cut into industrial development. Therefore, even the stated objective of the convention maintains that economic development is the ultimate goal and that ecosystems will have to adapt. The objective simply is to stabilize carbon dioxide emissions so that these ecosystems will have more time to adapt. The convention states that greenhouse gas concentrations should be stabilized 'within a time frame sufficient to allow ecosystems to adapt naturally . . . to ensure that food production is not threatened and to enable economic development to proceed in a sustainable manner'. <sup>12</sup>

# THE AGREEMENT ON FOREST PRINCIPLES

In 1990 a group of six countries in the North — Canada, France, Germany, Italy, the United Kingdom, and the United States — asked that a third convention be negotiated on protecting the world's forests. They had in mind, in particular, the world's tropical rainforests, which are currently vanishing at an estimated 17 million hectares a year, and are considered by the North as valuable sinks for greenhouse gases. What is often forgotten in this equation is that the Northern forests were also sinks for greenhouse gases before they were cut down. Moreover, many Northern countries are also planning to cut down their forests. For example, Canada and Russia are currently cutting down the world's remaining boreal forests. Siberia alone contains more forests than the Brazilian Amazon and since Russia turned capitalist it has been signing logging agreements with corporations in virtually every Northern country.

The talks on the forest convention broke down after the South refused to give in to what it called a possible infringement on national sovereignty. Malaysia was the major campaigner on behalf of Southern governments. They argued that the convention on the protection of forests would jeopardize their rights to their own resources. This fight in fact was not resolved and a forest convention was postponed to the indefinite future. Instead, the governments

in Rio agreed to a 'non-legally binding authoritative statement of principles for a global consensus on the management, conservation and sustainable development of all types of forests.' 13

The forests have clearly become a new symbol of the North–South conflict, and to a certain extent they have even become a 'hostage' of that conflict. <sup>14</sup> The North sees tropical forests as common property, whereas the South expects financial compensation for forgoing the exploitation of its forests. As a result, the agreement goes as far as to establish every country's 'sovereign right to conversion of forests to other uses', <sup>15</sup> which in plain language means the right to cut forests down as one pleases. After these forest principles, forests are now clearly declared to be 'national resources', since Third World governments in particular, especially Malaysia and Indonesia, opposed any agreement which would have limited their ability to cut their own forests as quickly as they wanted and stressed their sovereign right to develop.

In any case, the forest principles, like chapter 21 of Agenda 21 which deals with forests, got it all wrong. There is no mention of a relationship between forests and diversity, which is not really surprising since, as we have seen, biodiversity has been perverted into a (bio-)technological problem. Also, despite the fact that today's No. 1 problem for the forests is deforestation, deforestation is never mentioned in these principles. UNCED does not see deforestation as something to be combated. This, again, is quite logical since in its view 'the pressure on forests results from human [sic!] activity'. 16 This implies that all humans are equally responsible for industrial logging in Brazil, Malaysia, Canada, Siberia, etc. Quite logically, then, the forest principles propose 'planting trees', and 'sustainable forest management' as an answer. But even here 'UNCED manages to ignore much of the forestry development literature of at least a decade or so, especially in the areas of social and community forestry'. 17 In short, the statement on forest principles is more than a step backwards. It is 'a step towards further legitimizing the policies of those actors - transnationals, multilateral development banks, UN agencies, etc. – that have to date contributed to a large extent to the crisis of the tropical, temperate, and boreal forests'.18

# STEPS TOWARDS A CONVENTION ON DESERTIFICATION

Upset about the Earth Summit's preoccupation with the Northern view of environmental conservation, African delegates in particular lobbied hard for a desertification convention to address some of their most pressing problems. Initially, however, they did not have much luck. UNEP statistics say that 35 per cent of the Earth's land surface is threatened by desertification and it has been trying for years to develop a systematic programme that would tackle this issue. In 1977 UNEP launched a plan of action, which would have been the most ambitious effort to combat desertification. But this plan fell through for lack of funds. The few programmes that were funded failed miserably, like one glaring example to reforest Northern Nigeria which failed because of lack of water, an issue the planners had apparently forgotten to look at.

Chapter 12 of Agenda 21 deals with deserts and droughts, and basically suggests better information and monitoring of desertification, soil conservation measures, and support for local programmes. The approach proposed in Agenda 21 is very heterogeneous: the Swedish foreign ministry, for example, instructed its delegation to suggest that military satellites could be used to monitor desertification. Some Southern countries opposed this because they were worried about the possible military use and control of such information. UNEP envisaged a convention that would take a more local approach to the problem than previous plans by focusing on education and public participation in desertification control, rather than paying for large 'greening' projects for the desert. Other ideas include helping farmers to abandon farming and diversify into other industries because of the pressure farming puts on the land. Overall, chapter 12 of Agenda 21 on desertification remains very abstract and is of little concrete use.

One can say that there was very little interest from non-African countries in desertification, and it was even disputed whether desertification is a global problem. But at the last moment, governments in Rio agreed to set up an intergovernmental group at the General Assembly in New York at the end of 1992, to discuss steps towards a convention on desertification. Subsequently, the UN General Assembly decided to establish an international negotiating committee on desertification — again to be located in Geneva — thus setting the negotiating process in motion. The convention should be ready to be signed in late 1994.

# THE 'RIO DECLARATION'

Originally conceived as the environment and development equivalent of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Maurice Strong first wanted to call this document the 'Earth Charter'. At PrepCom III, the Group of 77 (G-77) decided that it did not like this name because it smacked too much of the environment and not enough of its primary concern, i.e. development. Despite the fact that the Earth Charter was probably what Maurice Strong was most attached to, G-77 prevailed and the document became watered down from a charter to a declaration on environment and development. Strong, though, has not given up. Recently he declared: 'the document must continue to evolve towards what many of us hope will be an Earth Charter that could be finally sanctioned on the 50th anniversary of the UN in 1995'. <sup>19</sup>

The document attempts to lay out the duties and the rights of states and peoples towards the planet. It has twenty-seven principles - there were originally supposed to be thirty-three - and officially complements the Stockholm Declaration on the Human Environment, of 1972. Like the other elements of the Rio package, it is very much the consensus product of many hours of bitter negotiations, mostly between government representatives. But its twenty-seven principles probably reflect more clearly and more concisely than any other Rio document the core philosophical assumptions and message of the entire UNCED process, i.e. basically it is a blend between the philosophy of the Brundtland report and the philosophy of the South Commission's report. As such, the Rio declaration is a document that once more reaffirms the quasi-religious belief in industrial development, seeks to mobilize all human potential and natural resources to that effect, and reasserts nation-states as the primary units to promote such development. Occasionally, it expresses concern that environmental degradation might hurt further prospects of development. But it is precisely the inclusion of such concerns that is used to justify adding the adjective 'sustainable' to the term 'development'. Let us briefly comment here on the twenty-seven principles in more detail.

The very first principle states that human beings are the centre of sustainable development concerns, a belief that is called anthropocentrism. Moreover, the entire UN system is rooted in the Western and Northern belief that only development can make human beings become more and truly 'human'. We think that this is a dangerous and short-term view. While we are not suggesting

that the life of a non-human is more important than that of a human being, we think that the debate 'human vs non-human' has been made irrelevant because of the new global ecological challenge. Indeed, global ecology forces us to admit that the current process of industrial development is destroying the very ecological foundations of all humans and non-humans simultaneously. Many indigenous peoples have quickly died out after the loss of their natural habitats on which they depended for food and medicines. We are currently repeating this same process at an accelerated pace and on a global scale. The death of many more other people may not be as quick but just as sure. Pretending that further development will preserve the human species, let alone make it more human, is contrary to all scientific and other indicators. We are dealing here with an institutionalized mythological belief in development which, if not abandoned, will prove fatal for humans and other species.

The second principle of the Rio declaration gives nation-states the 'sovereign right' to 'exploit' their natural resources according to their own environmental and developmental policies. It seems to us that the urgency of the global ecological crisis should have led precisely to the insight that nation-state sovereignty is obsolete and globally destructive. Instead, the entire UNCED process and the Rio Declaration in particular stress the nation-states' sovereign right to do with their environment and their people whatever they please as long as they do not harm other states.

The 'right to development' is enshrined in the third principle — with the caveat that the developmental and environmental needs of further generations be taken into account. Development is accorded a priority over the environment in the fourth principle, which asserts that environmental protection should constitute an integral part of the development process. Now, this may be a vast improvement on the ideas of just a few years ago, when environment was considered unimportant, but the thinking behind it is still conceptually flawed and wrong: the development process, it seems to us, occurs within the environment and its limits, and not the other way round. One would have expected from a declaration that supposedly marks the beginning of a new relationship between environment and development that it would get things at least conceptually right.

The fifth principle calls on states and peoples to eradicate poverty and reduce disparities in income. We are uncomfortable with this principle because it implies, as do the Brundtland Commission and the South Commission

reports as well as all other UNCED documents, that poverty rather than affluence is the problem. The fifth principle is again entirely consistent with the prevailing development ideology, which wants us to believe that on spaceship Earth first class passengers and first class technology are best for everyone, including the biosphere.

We must acknowledge that the following three principles -6, 7, and 8 - go some way to restore the balance, albeit a weak one. Principle 6 declares that developing countries, especially those that are environmentally vulnerable, should be given special priority. Principle 7 says that states have common but differentiated responsibilities to conserve, protect, and restore the Earth, pointing out that developed countries go some way towards acknowledging the pressure their societies have placed on the planet. Principle 8 calls for the reduction of unsustainable patterns of production and consumption. But we feel there is no acknowledgment from Southern élites nor developed countries regarding their pressures on the planet. There is, furthermore, no recognition of their differentiated responsibilities. We are also critical in principle 7 of the mention of the technological and financial resources of the developed countries, because it implies that these resources could substitute for other commitments to restore the Earth.

As we discuss in considerable detail in Parts III and IV, Northern financial and technological resources have been, up to now, among the major causes of environmental damage. So it comes as no surprise that principle 9 emphasizes technology transfer from North to South, especially for new and innovative technologies. Without doubt, technology transfer will be good for development. But to claim that it will make development more sustainable is, so far, an ideological and unproven assertion.

Principle 10 recommends that environmental issues are handled best with the participation of citizens at the relevant level and that they should have access to information and judicial redress — an excellent principle. Unfortunately, we also know that in the UN, the Brundtland Commission, and the South Commission the jargon word 'participation' equals the citizens' mobilization for development. We think that people should be allowed to do more than just participate in the development process. They should be allowed to make their own decisions and have their local and regional autonomy. If they chose not to be mobilized for the promotion of development, they should be allowed to do so.

Principle 11 calls for the creation of environmental legislation and standards. But it immediately gives countries a convenient backdoor by saying that standards may be 'inappropriate' – read 'too high' – for developing countries because of the social and economic costs. Not surprisingly, the counter-suggestion that development policies may be 'inappropriate' because they damage the global environment cannot be found in the Rio declaration.

Principle 12 reiterates the need for an open international economic system — read 'free trade' — and says that unilateral action — read 'trade bans' — based on environmental considerations should be avoided. This principle explicitly places UNCED within or beneath the larger context of the GATT negotiations. As above, where the environment is said to be a sub-category of development, this principle implies that environmental protection is a sub-category of global trade. In no way, it is said, should environmental protection slow down global trade. This principle is a deliberate blow against environmentalists and all other people who had campaigned for the Rio process, hoping that UNCED was the major forum to deal with the world crisis — but only to realize that the real forum where this planet's future was being decided was GATT.

Principles 13 to 15 can be called 'good but weak'. Principle 13 calls for national laws for the compensation of victims of environmental damage. Likewise, 14 calls on states to prevent the relocation and transfer of activities or substances that cause environmental damage, a good, but once again, weak principle. Principle 15 fits in well with this category by calling for the 'wide' application of the precautionary principle, which means 'don't do something if you think it may cause environmental damage' rather than waiting to see what the effects are.

Principle 16 calls on national authorities to apply the polluter pays principle, but immediately weakens this statement by saying that this should not slow down international trade and investment. Principle 17 has a similar weak element because it calls for environmental impact assessments of activities if 'significant adverse impact' is expected. Principles 18 and 19 call on states to inform other states in the event of natural disasters and activities that could have adverse environmental impacts. There is unfortunately no mention of the need to inform communities and people within a country, nor the need to ask them for their opinions on the degradation that may affect them as a result of foreign activity.

Principles 20 to 22 state the importance of women, youth, and indigenous

people in sustainable development. But like principle 10, the implicit idea here is the one of mobilization for development: women, youth, and indigenous people are outside agents who have a 'vital role to play' (women), 'whose creativity, ideals, and courage should be mobilized' (youth), or who have 'knowledge' to contribute (indigenous people). None of them is treated as full agents to whom authority and decision-making power should be handed over, rather than merely being consulted.

Principle 23 says that the environmental and natural resources of people under oppression, domination or occupation should be protected. This principle was agreed on only at the last moment because Israel had made strenuous objections to it. Realizing that this could have severe implications for the occupied Palestinian lands, it agreed only on the condition that all other references to the subject be taken out of Agenda 21's chapter on freshwater resources.

Principles 24 to 26 relate to war but manage to make no mention of the military! These three principles say that warfare is inherently destructive of sustainable development. Therefore, states should make provisions for the protection of the environment in case of war (principle 24). Principle 25 states that peace, development and environmental protection are interdependent; states should resolve disputes peacefully in accordance with the Charter of the UN (principle 26). None of the three principles condemns war, not to mention the everyday destructive impacts of non-war activities on the environment caused by the mere existence of the military.

Nor are the other major environmentally destructive agents – i.e. nationstates and multinational companies – ever mentioned in the Rio declaration. Instead, it concludes with the rather lame principle 27, saying that states and people should cooperate in the development of international law to promote sustainable development. But as we see in Part II, this supposed cooperation between states and people is not as democratic as principle 27 would like us to believe.

# **AGENDA 21**

In Nairobi, during the first PrepCom meeting in August 1991, Maurice Strong proposed a master plan, to be called Agenda 21, to put the planet on a

sustainable footing in time for the next century – hence the number 21. Though non-binding for the signatory states, the idea was that, after adopting Agenda 21 in Rio, the governments would implement this master plan, or at least be inspired by it when taking environment and development related decisions.

After reviewing the thirty or so subject areas that the secretariat prepared for this first meeting in Nairobi, the government representatives then spent the bulk of the next three meetings writing the plan. When they reached Rio, the plan had forty chapters which covered the following substantive subjects: a preamble, sustainable development, poverty, consumption patterns, demographics, human health, human settlements, decision-making, atmosphere, land resources, deforestation, desertification and drought, mountains, agriculture and rural development, biodiversity, biotechnology, oceans, freshwater resources, toxic chemicals management and their transport, traffic in hazardous waste, solid waste, radioactive waste, women, children and youth, indigenous peoples, NGOs, local authorities, trade unions, business and industry, scientific communities, farmers, financial resources, technology transfer, science, education, international institutions, and legal instruments and information.

Often these negotiations seemed more like a giant editing session with 150 editors squabbling over each and every word, or perhaps more accurately 150 lawyers haggling over a settlement. The end result was an 800-page document that is quite indigestible and impossible to implement. Therefore, since Rio several people have tried to produce at least a plain language version of Agenda 21.<sup>20</sup>

It is impossible for us to comment on each of the forty chapters of Agenda 21. Because of the redundancy and multiple repetitions in the text this is actually not desirable either. Moreover, the overall thrust of Agenda 21 is identical to the thrust of the Rio declaration which in turn is a blend of the ideologies of the Brundtland and South Commission reports. For its critique we can refer to the above section on the Rio declaration. In this section, we would like to look critically at the six main themes of Agenda 21, identify the main aspects missing in it, and briefly talk about its possible implementation.

Daniel Sitarz has, to our mind accurately, identified the six main themes that Agenda 21 contains, namely the theme of the quality of life on Earth, the efficient use of the Earth's natural resources, the protection of our global

commons, the management of human settlements, chemicals and the management of waste, and sustainable economic growth. We will follow here his distinction.<sup>21</sup>

# THE QUALITY OF LIFE ON EARTH

Agenda 21 starts with a series of chapters dealing with the promotion of the quality of life on Earth. Most of them are composed of lofty statements the UN has been professing since its inception, such as the eradication of poverty worldwide, raising the level of general health, full employment, controlling population growth, etc. Though we have no problem with these lofty statements, in the eyes of the UN their achievement is only possible through further economic growth, not realizing that economic growth has caused the present global environment and development crisis to begin with. Of course, Agenda 21, like all other UNCED documents, never explicitly identifies economic growth and industrial development as being a problem for the biosphere and therefore for humanity. At best, Agenda 21 criticizes 'human activities' or 'current resource consumption patterns' for being responsible for the present crisis. Note that by doing so, the responsibility for the current crisis is being diluted and shifted from the major polluters and promoters of industrial development and economic growth to all inhabitants of the planet. Indeed, it is the individuals who are blamed for the current crisis: they should bear, it is argued, the main responsibility, change their own human activities, and alter their consumption patterns. Of course, we are not opposed to profound changes in individual behaviour, but we believe that such profound individual changes are only possible when paralleled by equally profound changes in the system.

# THE EFFICIENT USE OF THE EARTH'S NATURAL RESOURCES

The second major theme in Agenda 21 is the 'efficient use of the Earth's natural resources'. Though, again, nobody would oppose a more efficient use of the Earth's natural resources, the crucial point here is that Agenda 21 sees

efficiency as the single most important solution and thus transforms everything on this planet into a resource and attaches economic value to it. <sup>22</sup> Says Sitarz in his comment on Agenda 21: 'The carrying capacity of the Earth must be valued as an economic resource, if it is to be assured of protection.' <sup>23</sup> In the name of environmental protection, therefore, Agenda 21 extends the economic rationality to the most remote corners of the Earth, and to every single as yet untouched plant, animal, indigenous person, or gene, and feeds them back into this overall masterplan promoting (sustainable) development. Agriculture and farmers, for example, must be mobilized, says Agenda 21, for global food production. If necessary, genetically modified species must be introduced into the agricultural systems. 'Mobilization' a military term — is actually highly appropriate, since Agenda 21 considers food production to be a 'security issue' (food security).

## SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC GROWTH

The next major theme of Agenda 21 – sustainable economic growth – is, as we have seen, the major thrust of the entire UNCED exercise. Economic growth is the objective, and the challenge is to integrate environmental protection into this objective, not the other way round. Agenda 21 sees this integration as an 'economic transition'. If successful, 'the protection of the environment will be given a proper place in the market economy of the world'.<sup>24</sup>

# THE PROTECTION OF OUR GLOBAL COMMONS

The fourth major theme — the protection of our global commons, i.e. the atmosphere and the oceans — pertains to those areas to which economic rationality cannot be extended as easily as to the resources that are located within national boundaries. Nevertheless, Agenda 21 manages to conceive of the atmosphere and the oceans as a 'global resource' whose 'exploitation' needs to be regulated, the document says, through regional and global agreements.

# THE MANAGEMENT OF HUMAN SETTLEMENTS

The fifth major theme deals with the management of human settlements, in particular in highly urbanized areas. Chapters here deal with the fundamental manageability of land-use problems, urban infrastructure, energy and transportation, the construction industry, and much else. These chapters speak to the heart of all kinds of engineers, urging them to build and develop in more energy- and resource-efficient ways — yet to build and develop nevertheless.

# CHEMICALS AND THE MANAGEMENT OF WASTE

In the final theme – chemicals and the management of waste – Agenda 21 at least acknowledges that waste can be a problem, but states that chemicals are basically 'misused'. Agenda 21 does indeed include recommendations to reduce waste generation, to recycle waste materials into useful products, and to find safe methods of waste disposal. However, a detailed Greenpeace critique of the treatment of this theme in Agenda 21 concludes the following:<sup>25</sup>

# Agenda 21:

- Does not recognize that there is no safe storage or disposal method for radioactive waste;
- Does not call for a ban on the dumping at sea of radioactive waste;
- Does not recognize that certain technologies like commercial reprocessing of radioactive substances produce more waste than others;
- Does not mention the nuclear contamination by military activity;
- Does not condemn the export of hazardous waste from industrial countries;
- Promotes the recycling of hazardous waste ignoring its toxic impact;
- Promotes voluntary rather than regulatory action for controlling pollution;
- Does not endorse guidelines for industry to use cleaner production techniques;
- Does not call for unlimited liability for trans-border nuclear pollution.

# WHAT IS MISSING

Many themes were left out of Agenda 21. For example, it does not question Northern consumption patterns, nor the ones of Southern élites. All discussions on this topic were watered down considerably, by US negotiators in particular. Instead, Agenda 21 lays the burden of the problem on the population and individuals. On the other hand, the attempts to address the problems of overpopulation were shot down by the Vatican.

Needless to say that free trade and growth were left off the Agenda because they weren't even questioned. Like *Our Common Future* and *The Challenge to the South*, Agenda 21 does not question the enclosure and appropriation of common assets like seeds. It advocates free trade and implicitly endorses export. It pays lip service to communities by calling for global efforts that will encourage community solutions, instead of questioning the increasingly global economic system and institutions that are destroying the communities to begin with.

It does have chapters on the rights of women, children and youth, farmers and indigenous communities, a step forward over previous development declarations, though nothing of substance. For example, the recognition of indigenous communities is blunted by the fact that it addresses them as 'indigenous people', which legally means that they have individual rights. But the concept of 'indigenous peoples', which legally recognizes their claims as sovereign nations with rights of self-determination, was struck from every page of the document by the Brazilians and Canadians. Both these countries face considerable pressure from their indigenous communities who want to have more say in the use — or rather the destruction — of their own lands and resources.

The section on implementation in Agenda 21 is probably most symptomatic of its inherently flawed approach to the global crisis: Agenda 21 proposes simply more of the same old problem-solving techniques and technologies. That is, it proposes more information, more data, more training, more science and technology, especially technology transfer to the South, more money, and more and better international institutions. Though Agenda 21 mentions on numerous occasions the important role of women, indigenous people, local farmers, etc., their mobilization to implement Agenda 21 is always seen as part of a global management scheme orchestrated by international organizations.

Also, the UNCED secretariat estimated that it would cost about US\$600 billion each year to implement Agenda 21, of which US\$125 billion would be needed in aid for the South. <sup>26</sup>

In our view, more sustainable development aid — or in the language of Agenda 21, 'substantial flow of new and additional financial resources to developing countries' — will not solve any of today's global environment and development problems. Furthermore, it will probably exacerbate the existing ones, and create new problems. Also, if the major problem today is in the North, as Agenda 21 at times admits, then this money might be more effectively spent on fundamentally transforming Northern economies, instead of financing the export of Northern surplus products, most of which are environmentally and culturally destructive anyway. As a matter of fact, two of the most important chapters of Agenda 21 were finance and international institutions and the outcome of these will be discussed in Part IV.

The idea that technology is the solution – albeit a 'technology that does not further destroy the environment' <sup>27</sup> – is prevalent in Agenda 21. It is probably not exaggerating to say that technology is the biggest hope that emerges from UNCED in general and Agenda 21 in particular. Given the worldwide experience with technological progress over the past 100 years or so, the mythological belief in the miraculous emergence of fundamentally new, more efficient, cleaner, and environmentally safer technologies is probably, above all, wishful thinking. Needless to say that when Agenda 21 refers to technology it thinks first and foremost of high technology, which is fuelled by Western science. Biotechnology is probably the best example of the type of technology Agenda 21 is looking for. Not surprisingly, there is no mention of the socially and culturally disastrous effects that modern science and technology have had up to now. And only rarely do we find warnings about the potential environmental dangers of further technological progress. These critical remarks are generally made in regard to nuclear technology, but the risks are then immediately discounted as the price one has to pay for modernization. Risks, of course, can and must be managed.

The idea that more information will save the planet is equally disturbing, when knowledge about today's crisis is more than sufficient to take action. Why does anyone need more information, especially at the global management level at which UNCED wants to solve these problems, when the Brundtland report written by global managers had already drawn, in 1987, well informed

#### THE DOCUMENTS

and alarming conclusions? Not to mention the Club of Rome's 1972 report which provided sufficient information to take initial steps at least.<sup>28</sup>

Note that Agenda 21 does not talk of learning but of training, in particular training in technical knowledge — of which there is always more to know — as well as in all sorts of management skills, ranging from skills in 'sustainable management' to skills for global managers. By promoting this idea of a-sceptic knowledge and skills transmission — or, as they say, 'capacity-building' — Agenda 21 makes people believe, once more, that getting out of today's crisis is basically a technical problem. It would have been more honest and probably even more empowering to admit that we are in a dead end, and that collective — not individual — learning probably remains our only hope to find ways out of the present crisis.

### CONCLUSION

In a recent interview the chief orchestrator of the UNCED exercise, Maurice Strong, admitted that:

there is no denying [that] the underlying conditions that have produced the civilizational crisis [that] the Earth Summit was designed to address did not change during the meeting in Rio. . . . The patterns of production and consumption that gave rise to so many of the global risks [sic!] we are dealing with are still in place.<sup>29</sup>

This is, of course, not surprising as the types of solutions proposed by UNCED i.e. Western science, Western technology, Western information, Western training, Western money, and Western institutions — could not possibly have addressed the causes of the crisis, which happen to be Western as well. Rather, they were and still are the key fuelling forces of the process of industrial development, the very process that caused the crisis to begin with.

As we have tried to show in this first part, this flawed approach to solving the crisis can be traced back to the Brundtland and the South Commissions. The Brundtland Commission's contribution was to compromise environment and development through the use of the term sustainable development, while the South Commission's contribution was to begin to talk about the need for the South to band together and reassert that development was more important

### RIO AND BUST

than environment. Malaysia, as it turned out, became the main voice of this argument.

Ex-President Nyerere's strong socialist background appears to have given the South Commission much more depth in its analysis of the past history of development than the Brundtland, but both believe in the same fundamental solution of stronger economic growth-oriented development. Like the Brundtland Commission, the South Commission lays a lot of blame at the door of population, but focuses much more on the inequality of the South's relationship with the North. Neither Commission challenges the development path of the North and both of them largely take Northern standards, means, and institutions as their goal—even though they pay lip service to their environmental and social unsustainability.

The South Commission's talk of popular participation in decision-making is somewhat stronger than in the Brundtland report, although there are few concrete suggestions on how to tackle this matter. Yet it ignores the idea of the commons and of community action. This is not really surprising, as both the South Commission and the Brundtland reports are basically government documents that are making suggestions on how governments can alter their existing policies while staying in power. Neither report attempts radically to deconstruct and analyse the problems. As a result, both Commissions reinforce the idea that the nation-state should have the power to solve the problems and support global management, as well as multinational and multilateral institutions.

Is it surprising that after foundation documents like *Our Common Future* and *The Challenge to the South* leaders on both sides — the environmentally concerned North and its apparent opponent, the poverty-stricken South — went to Rio with one message for the world: more growth, more trade, more aid, more science, more technology, and more management?

None of the treaties and agreements signed in Rio tackles any of the major causes of environmental problems, such as the pressure placed on the planet by Northern consumption or unsustainable patterns of development in the South. The problems of free trade, militarization, and mega-polluters like some multinational companies have been dropped completely. The agreements on stemming the most obvious symptoms of environmental problems like global warming, descritification, and loss of species and forest cover have no real targets. It is hard to imagine that they will make a difference.



## Part II

# NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

When Maurice Strong was given the job of Secretary-General of the Earth Summit, he announced an ambitious plan to involve millions of people in the UNCED process. He even promised NGOs access to the negotiations. The UNCED secretariat made a valiant effort to try and bring in previously unheard voices by setting up a special NGO liaison unit to assist NGOs from all over the world to come to the PrepComs and lobby the government delegates on whatever aspect of the agreements they thought was important. Other organizations such as the Center for Our Common Future embarked on a similar effort by organizing what they called the 'independent sector', i.e. all people, groups, and organizations that are not officially linked to the governments. And many other NGOs started to form federations so as to become more efficient in influencing the UNCED process.

At the beginning of the UNCED process, the results were rather discouraging. A mere thirty NGOs turned up in Nairobi for the first PrepCom meeting in August 1991. And the governments who were used to talking behind closed doors were very reluctant to let them into the talks. But as the negotiations got under way, the numbers swelled and the governments relented. In New York at the final PrepCom meeting in March 1992 there were about 1,000 accredited NGO participants. In Rio 1,420 NGOs registered with the secretariat. Ostensibly for security and space reasons, most of them were not allowed into the government negotiations. Instead, the Brazilian government worked with a number of NGOs to help them (and many other NGOs which were not accredited with the secretariat) to hold meetings among themselves in some specially constructed tents in Rio de Janeiro's Flamengo Park, 40 kilometres away from the official discussions. The media, however,

focused on the governments and their negotiations and treated the NGOs mainly as a joke.

Despite that, many NGOs came away pleased with their own efforts, feeling that they had contributed to saving the planet. But many others also came away feeling frustrated by the Summit and the UNCED process itself. Many criticized the governments and said that the two years of negotiations had achieved very little. In order better to understand the NGOs' judgement on Rio, let us therefore analyse how NGOs became part of the UNCED process (chapter 5) and assess what they finally achieved (chapter 6). However, before we can do that, it is important to understand the diversity of the Green movement, as this explains, in part, the movement's relationship to and involvement in the UNCED process. This is what we turn to in the next chapter.

If we want to understand who went to the PrepComs and to Rio, who did not, and who achieved what, it is necessary to get a better sense of what the Green movement is, where it comes from, and where it is heading. As mentioned earlier, over 1,400 NGOs were accredited at the Earth Summit and about 30,000 people — concerned citizens, activists, and NGO representatives — showed up at the Earth Summit or during the Preparatory Meetings. Yet many others did not go to Rio, and among the ones who did very few turned out to be effective.

Although historically the movement has largely been in opposition to the 'system', to the 'establishment', and to governments, as well as to business and industry, over the years parts of the movement have become bureaucratized and part of the establishment themselves. Some groups were transformed into political parties, others into NGOs, and still others into lobbics. New groups formed and others disappeared. Substantial changes are also observable in terms of topics and issues: these have substantially changed over time, as new topics have emerged and old ones become outdated. As a result, the Green movement, at the beginning of the 1990s, is quite powerful yet diverse and at times fragmented. But the Green movement, like the establishment, was taken by surprise by the new trend towards global ecology in the second half of the 1980s: it had not anticipated that trend, much less promoted it, and was faced like all other major societal agents with the need to redefine itself in the light of this new trend. As for all other agents, the UNCED process offered the Green movement a place and a chance to do this.

Yet by and large the Green movement has failed to achieve this goal: it did not emerge from Rio stronger, but weaker. As a result, it is more fragmented

and more disoriented than before. As we show later on, this is partly the result of deliberate efforts not so much to destroy the movement directly, but to feed it into the UNCED process. But if the Green movement comes out of Rio weaker, this is also because it was already quite fragmented. In many ways, Rio has simply exacerbated this fragmentation. Therefore, if we want to understand the role the Green movement did – or rather did not – play in Rio, it is necessary to assess the movement's main trends over the past twenty years or so.

When trying to put some order into the Green movement, there are some necessary distinctions that need to be made. First, one needs to distinguish between the Green movement in the North and the one in the South. Indeed, though in Rio many activists celebrated the so-called 'same-boat-mentality', global awareness, and South-North unity, one should not forget that the movements in the North and in the South have evolved separately around quite different issues. And though the idea of being in the same boat is a tempting one given the new global ecology, the strategic agendas of the movements in the North and in the South are not the same. And this, at least in part, explains why this global NGO alliance, expected and hoped for by many in Rio, never really materialized.

## THE GREEN MOVEMENT IN THE NORTH

The Green movement in the North, like the one in the South, is far from being homogeneous. Similarly, there was hardly a Green movement of any significance in Eastern Europe before Gorbachev came to power in 1986. Though there were local protests in Eastern Europe, especially against the state-controlled nuclear industry, there was no Green movement comparable to the one in Western Europe or Northern America. But during *perestroika* and *glasnost* in the Soviet Union, and with the prospect of independence for the Eastern European countries and Soviet republics, the Green movement in the East grew exponentially.

Not surprisingly, in a highly politicized society and at a highly political moment, the Green movement in the East was first and foremost a political movement with political, i.e. national, agendas. Be it in Hungary, Poland, Czechoslovakia, or Estonia, the Green movements turned rapidly into Green

parties, which in turn quickly acquired a share of national political power. But once this had taken place, the Green movement declined. In retrospect, it turns out that the Green movement in the East was instrumental in the transition of the Eastern European countries to a market economy. Yet, despite the enormous ecological problems facing the East, in the 1990s the Green movement has substantially lost momentum and declined. Except for some localized protests – for example against the damming of the Danube in Hungary, or against nuclear energy in Russia and Ukraine – the Green movement in the East has more or less become insignificant. In Rio, the Eastern Green movement was basically absent.

As for the Green movement in the West, it is necessary, to our mind, to distinguish between the movement in Western Europe and the one in the United States. The basic difference is in terms of their relationship to politics and the political system. If in Western Europe we are dealing with a political Green movement, in the United States we are basically dealing with environmental lobbies. This is not to say that environmental lobbying organizations — such as the WWF, IUCN, and all kinds of others — were not important in Western Europe. However, in the late 1970s these organizations were rapidly bypassed by political Green groups, in particular by the antinuclear movement.

It is out of these groups that the various Western European Green parties emerged at the end of the 1970s. This is particularly the case in West Germany, the Netherlands, Belgium, Switzerland, Austria, all four Scandinavian countries, and Italy. The Green parties in France, Spain, Portugal, and Greece took longer to emerge, but can also be traced back to the political ecology movements of the 1970s. All Green parties generally picked up votes in the early 1980s, but declined again towards the end of the 1980s and in particular since the beginning of the 1990s. But in the mean time the success of the green parties had substantially weakened most other environmental agents in Western Europe, except perhaps for the older nature protection organizations. Only a limited number of agents from the political ecology movement continued to thrive. We think here in particular of Friends of the Earth and Greenpeace. Though on an ideological level they both arose out of the political ecological movement of the beginning of the 1970s, they have managed to survive the decline of the Green parties. However, of late they have also had to face a loss in public support and financing.

The Green movement in the United States is just as much the product of the 1960s and the early 1970s as is the movement in Western Europe.<sup>2</sup> But if in Western Europe the Green movement basically ruined itself by competing for power with the traditional political parties, in the USA the Green movement was, by contrast, ruined because it was used by conservationist environmental lobbying organizations. Indeed, the US political system and the perceptions of US citizens is such that lobbying is believed to make all the political difference. With three exceptions, all major environmental lobbying organizations in the USA originated around issues of nature protection and environmental conservation. Today, these organizations are known as 'the Big 10': the Sierra Club (founded 1892), the National Audubon Society (1905), the National Parks and Conservation Association (1919), the Izaak Walton League (1922), the Wilderness Society (1935), the National Wildlife Federation (1936), the Defenders of Wildlife (1947), the Environmental Defense Fund (1967), Friends of the Earth (1969), and the Natural Resources Defense Council (1970).

These ten are among the wealthiest environmental organizations in the United States and probably in the world. The problem is that they are basically mainstream and effectively monopolize public support for environmental issues in the United States. Though they have added some elements of pollution control to their conservationist agenda, they limit themselves to lobbying the political system by calling for more efficient environmental management. Not surprisingly, the chief executives of the Big 10 are mainly lawyers, generally earning as much as their counterparts in business. One of the authors once went to what he thought was a World Bank meeting with NGOs and discovered only half an hour later that he was in the wrong meeting. It was in fact a caucus of the Big 10. But it was easy to see how one could be fooled by looking at the table and seeing a dozen white men dressed in sharp business suits. It is also important to note that this is the way the Big 10 choose to work, i.e. they feel they can be most effective, or convincing, when meeting the bankers on their own terms and putting them at ease.

Of course, environmental activism in the United States is not limited to the Big 10. But, unlike in Western Europe, the political Greens in the USA have never really taken off. The US Green party, for example, is virtually non-existent. Only a few sizeable organizations such as the Earth Island Institute or to a certain extent Earth First! can be considered political Greens. On the

other hand, the US Green movement differs from the one in Europe in that it has quite a strong ecological, as well as a New Age, strand. Let us now look at the various trends within the Green movement of the North in order better to understand its fragmentation.

# THE MAIN TRENDS OF THE GREEN MOVEMENT IN THE NORTH

We can observe in the evolution of the Green movement in the North over the past 20 years four major trends, all of which came to play a role in Rio. These are the transformation of conservationist ecology into global environmental management, the erosion of political ecology, the radicalization of some parts of the Green movement, and the trend towards New Age environmentalism.

# FROM CONSERVATIONIST ECOLOGY TO GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

The most significant trend is without doubt the transformation of conservationist ecology into global environmental management. Indeed, conservationist environmentalists such as most of the Big 10, as well as WWF and IUCN, have always been interested in scientific environmental management. Not surprisingly, they closely collaborate with governments in order to promote environmental management policies. Global ecology — which is above all a product of a new global science and thus contains a heavy technocratic bias — has rapidly been embraced by these conservationist organizations. They saw in global ecology the logical next step of their endeavours: from a national level, environmental management quite logically must now move to a global level. Interestingly, IUCN had already coined the term 'sustainable development' in 1980, though the term still had a slightly different meaning.<sup>3</sup>

Indeed, for the new global managers of the Brundtland Commission and other UN agencies, the conservationist environmentalists were probably the most natural allies, provided however they made some revisions in their conservationist philosophies – which they gladly did. In 1986, for example, the big US environmental organizations – most of the Big 10 – issued a joint

statement entitled 'An Environmental Agenda for the Future' which described environmental pollution as a technological challenge, rather than an economic, political, and social issue. <sup>4</sup> It did not criticize US dependency on petrochemicals, made no mention of nuclear energy, and offered no strong recommendations in support of increased reliance on renewable energy, organic farming, sustainable-yield logging, or mass transit.

Two years later, WWF literature started to blame the poor for being the 'most direct threat to wildlife and wildlands'. 5 With poverty being identified as an environmental problem and technology as its solution, most conservationist environmentalists have put themselves, since the second half of the 1980s, in line with the ideology of the Brundtland Commission and the UNCED on sustainable development. They were now ready to be admitted to the club of global environmental managers. With this came an even closer relationship with business and industry, as business also was under pressure to become green and was thus looking out for partners in the environmental movement. WWF, for example, received US\$50,000 each from oil companies Chevron and Exxon in 1991. The National Wildlife Federation conducts enviro-seminars for corporate executives from such chemical giants as du Pont and Monsanto for a US\$10,000 membership fee in their Corporate Conservation Council programme. The Audubon Society meanwhile sold Mobil Oil the rights to drill for oil under its Baker bird sanctuary in Michigan, garnering US\$400,000 a year from this venture.<sup>6</sup>

In short, this first trend led the big conservationist organizations—in particular the US Big 10, the WWF, IUCN, and the World Resources Institute—to become part and parcel of the global environmental management establishment. They are now basically promoting the same global environmental management that UNCED was striving for. In Rio these conservationist organizations had substantial lobbying power and access to the negotiations. But unfortunately, by the time they had achieved such access, they had become so mainstream that their input can hardly be detected in the Rio documents.

### THE EROSION OF POLITICAL ECOLOGY

The second trend to be noted in the Rio process is the crosion of political ecology in the North. As we have seen, political ecologists have mainly focused on national

politics. Though they were highly critical of national politics, they believed that national policies could be changed by their participation in the national political system. We have also observed that political ecology was already declining in the late 1980s, but it was really the emergence of global ecology that gave political ecology the final blow. Preoccupied by national and regional eco-political issues, political ecologists totally missed the trend towards global ecology. As a matter of fact, they were taken by surprise. Even today, the remaining political ecological groups struggle to adapt to this trend. This is, for example, the case of Friends of the Earth which tries to redefine itself while downsizing. Friends of the Earth was not very noticeable in Rio, and most political ecological groups were absent. The only exception to this was Greenpeace which – with the largest membership of any environmental group in the world (2 million) and a budget bigger than that of the United Nations Environment Programme (approximately US\$150 million) continues the tactics of confrontation while keeping up its lobbying. The tactics have earned it criticism from both sides: the Big 10 see Greenpeace as a bit of an outlaw, while the more radical and grassroots environmentalists describe it as too corporate.

# THE RADICALIZATION OF PARTS OF THE GREEN MOVEMENT

The third trend, therefore, is the radicalization of the Green movement in the North and perhaps also in the South. Given the erosion of political ecology, this trend highlights a new polarization, i.e. a trend towards protest and, to a certain extent, eco-fundamentalism. This trend can be associated with the deep ecology movement, for which groups like Earth First!, Wild Earth, the Sea Shepherds and others have become representatives.

Unlike Greenpeace, which confronts but never proceeds beyond that, the deep ecologists do not exclude property damage. Former Greenpeace (Canada) founder, later expelled from that organization for his radical tactics and now leader of the Sea Shepherds, Paul Watson, said: 'Pardon me for my old-fashioned ways, I believe that respect for life takes precedence over respect for property which is used to take life'. Contrary to popular belief, deep ecologists do not condone physical injury to human beings, although their tactics have run the risk of doing so.

Yet their tactics have often been surprisingly effective. The Sea Shepherds closed down the Icelandic whaling industry singlehandedly one cold November night in 1986 by the simple expedient of sinking two of its four ships and destroying the refrigeration system of its whale processing plant. Others have gone further. Eco-saboteurs in Canada blew up a US\$4.5 million hydro-electric substation on Vancouver Island in 1982. In Thailand they burnt down a tantalum plant in 1986 causing damage estimated at US\$45 million. Lapps in Norway blew up a bridge leading to a dam that had flooded their lands.

Then further out from even the deep ecologists are people who do accept physical injury or death as punishment. The motives of these are probably closer to revenge. For example, Primea Linea, an Italian group, claimed responsibility for machine gunning Enrico Paoletti, an executive of a Hoffmann-LaRoche subsidiary, who was in charge of the chemical plant in Seveso, Italy, that exploded in 1976 to release a dioxin cloud. Primea Linea claimed that it was delivering just punishment for his deeds.

To a certain extent, this trend towards deep ecology is simply the other face of the aforementioned trend towards global management: both share a quite unsophisticated analysis of the socio-political dimensions of today's global ecological crisis and blame the 'humans', or as Brundtland says 'human development', for today's crisis. However, unlike the global managers who made Rio their event, deep ecologists were hardly present in Rio, preoccupied as they were by fighting the concrete everyday local destruction of the environment. At times, deep ecologists spoke in Rio through the youth representatives and at times through the representatives of indigenous peoples.

# THE TREND TOWARDS NEW AGE ENVIRONMENTALISM

The issues of indigenous peoples in particular have been subsumed by a fourth trend which became particularly visible in Rio: the trend towards New Age environmentalism. The New Age phenomenon has been rampant in Western societies, especially in the United States and Canada, since the middle of the 1980s. Though New Age ideas can be traced back to the hippie movement of the 1960s, it is the new globalization of the 1980s combined with rapidly growing individualism that have made the New Age a significant societal

phenomenon in the Western hemisphere. Rio made New Age globally prominent, and for the first time exposed the whole world, especially the South, to this typically Northern phenomenon. Maurice Strong, the chief orchestrator of Rio, is himself a quite typical representative and vocal advocate of the New Age. <sup>8</sup> At Rio, the New Age took the form of a celebration of global environmental awareness mixed with a touch of spiritualism.

Global management and the New Age, the two most visible trends in Rio, are far from being contradictory. Rather, they reinforce each other. On the one hand, the idea that all individuals are now connected because they all share a common global environmental awareness quite logically leads to some sort of global management. On the other hand, global management is probably in need of some sort of 'philosophical' framework that would give it the moral and ethical dimensions necessary for it to be legitimized by the people. Not to mention the fact that many of the global managers are themselves members of the New Age church. In our view, the biggest problem with the New Age religion is that it is a-political, a-sociological, a-cultural, and a-rational. Presenting, as UNCED did, the global environmental crisis as being the result of a lack of global environmental awareness was, of course, inadequate. But it fulfilled a particular function: not only could the global managers display such awareness, they could also argue convincingly that they already occupied the key positions from where such an awareness would actually make a difference.

In short, we can say that over the past 20 years the Green movement in the North has undergone a substantial transformation. And this process has certainly been accelerated by UNCED. First, conservationist environmentalism has been promoted to the level of global management, whereas the political ecology movement has been further eroded. As a reaction, we observe further radicalization among some environmental groups, though this did not have any significant impact on Rio. Finally, Rio significantly helped New Age environmentalism to come forward, legitimizing New Age. This New Age environmentalism has given global management the 'philosophical' backing it was lacking until now.

## THE GREEN MOVEMENT IN THE SOUTH

In order to understand the participation of Southern NGOs in the UNCED process, one has to recall that in the South the evolution of civil society in general

and the Green movement in particular has been quite different to that in the North. One has to start with the colonial past of most developing countries and their striving for economic and political development. The first development decade—the 1960s—was thus characterized by optimism, as well as by the idea that Northern style development was achievable and desirable. Local communities and local organizations were above all seen as impediments to development. Consequently, the so-called 'NGOs'—international and national ones—were basically charitable organizations. They were often religiously inspired, generally top-down, and mainly organized by the North.

But as this top-down or one-way development strategy did not seem very effective, a new type of NGO, so-called 'second generation NGO', emerged.<sup>9</sup> As a matter of fact, the various groups working for development became more independent of the North and started to work with local agents operating on a smaller scale. They began to strive for self-reliance and development from the bottom up. The emergence of these second generation NGOs in the South cannot, of course, be separated from the world's economic crisis in the 1970s and from a certain disillusionment with the role of the state and the international economy in Third World development. NGOs, during the 1970s, were therefore essentially about popular participation. At the same time they increasingly became seen by Northern aid agencies as a channel for distributing aid more effectively.

During the 1970s and within this second generation NGO framework, a series of environmentally oriented NGOs emerged in the South. These included the Environmental Liaison Center International (ELCI) created in 1974, Environment and Development Action in the Third World (ENDA) in 1976, Sahabat Alam Malaysia in 1977, and the Green Belt Movement in Kenya in the same year. These and many other environmental NGOs in the South already operated at that time within an environmental and developmental framework. At least at local and regional levels, environmental protection and restoration could not be separated from development. Indeed, environmental restoration such as tree planting was considered to be an integral part of participatory and self-reliant development.

To be sure, none of these NGOs opposed the idea of development, thus still buying into the Northern development ideology. But the fact that it was said to be people's development — as opposed to governments' or multinationals' development — made this endeavour, in the eyes of many, sufficiently different,

so as to coin the term 'another development'. Ideologically, the idea of another development in the South was very close to, and often inspired by, the political ecology movement in the North, in particular Western Europe.

As the second development decade ended, self-reliant participatory development in the South can show some small successes. However, in the South overall the situation worsened: Third World countries' debt increased steadily, their environment was more degraded, poverty and malnutrition grew, and many countries' prospects for future development looked rather bleak. In the third development decade, the 1980s, many in the NGO movement therefore come to recognize that self-reliant participatory development has certain limitations, mainly because the NGOs' 'scope of attention is limited to individual villages and neighborhoods, and to specific local groups the NGO is assisting'. Second generation NGOs were unable to deal successfully with the real causes of underdevelopment and environmental decline in the South, which mainly pertain to the globalization of the economy. And this led to a split of the Green movement in the South during the third development decade, i.e. the 1980s.

On the one hand we can observe the transformation of the second generation NGOs into 'third generation NGOs'. 11 Indeed, local initiatives in the South now become increasingly seen within a national and international environmental and developmental framework. As Korten puts it, 'self-reliant village development initiatives are likely to be sustained only to the extent that local public and private institutions are linked into a supportive national development system'. 12 Having withdrawn from and criticized governmental initiatives, NGOs in the 1980s, according to Korten, were again seeking collaboration with governments and international agencies. International agencies in turn, operating under a new awareness of global ecology, were trying to integrate NGOs into this global environmental and developmental framework. It is from this background that many grassroots and local NGOs organized themselves during the 1980s into coalitions, many of them with a strong environmental component. Since the beginning of the 1980s various NGO coalitions have emerged, such as APPEN (Asia Pacific People's Environmental Network) in 1983, ANEN (African NGOs Environmental Network) in 1986, or ANGOC, the Asian NGO Coalition. Today, it seems, Southern NGOs are seeking more and more to organize themselves regionally, nationally, and even internationally.

As a result, many of these Southern NGO coalitions have become quite powerful agents, often bypassing national governments and negotiating directly with international donor agencies. Their framework remains one of participatory development, generally with a particular focus on local environmental resources management. Quite logically, many of these Southern NGO coalitions went to Rio. And even some local NGOs did. At least on paper the Rio framework was totally in line with their own approach to environment and development. However, in practice, concrete participation in the UNCED process turned out to be quite difficult for them. One of their major problems was the lack of organization. As a result, many Northern conservationist NGOs functioned as a voice of Southern NGOs.

But there is also, on the other hand, another trend detectable during this third development decade in the South. We refer here to environmental protest movements, somewhat similar to the political ecology movements of the 1970s in the North. In the South, such groups criticize and protest against Northern development schemes, promoted by such international agencies as FAO, UNDP, or the World Bank, and implemented with the help of national and local élites. These groups oppose, for example, large dams, modern industrial agriculture and reforestation schemes, transmigration programmes, deforestation, and other Northern-inspired, massive development efforts. They criticize, along the lines of a political ecology approach, Northern science, technology, and more generally industrial practices put forth by transnational corporations, their own national governments, northern governments, and international development agencies.

In 1989 the Kayapo Indians, for example, protested against the building of a US\$10 billion World Bank dam near Altamira in the state of Amazonia. Six thousand locals and Kayapo joined a five-day rally with British rock singer Sting. Dressed in full battle gear they waved clubs and spears at the engineers. This was not their first fight, as they had held gold miners hostage four years ago and camped out in the parliamentary buildings of Brasilia for days campaigning against nuclear waste. The World Bank caved in and the dam, which would have displaced 70,000 people, was cancelled. In India, Sunderlal Bahaguna helped start the Chipko (tree huggers) movement in 1973 to protect forests from local commercial development and prevent the landslides that accompanied deforestation. The movement later led to tree planting and has grown to include protests against the environmentally unsound Tehri dam and limestone quarries. <sup>13</sup>

The Third World Network, founded in 1985, and its journal *Third World Resurgence* have become a voice for many of these protest movements of the South. And the Third World Network, together with other like-minded organizations protesting against the destructive effects of Northern-type development in the South, was highly prominent in Rio. Unlike the declining political ecology movement in the North, this Southern political ecology movement is thriving. But like the political ecology movement in the North, its relationship to national politics is highly ambiguous, as we show in the case of Rio: though the Third World Network, for example, sees Northern inspired industrial development as a problem for the South, it nevertheless believes that political control in the Southern countries is the answer to the problem.

Also, because of the visibility of such environmental protests in the South and the negative consequences this has for obtaining further financial support from the North, this political ecology movement in the South has become a threat to some Southern élites as well. Through the Rio process, however, they managed to channel this protest into a North-South framework, thus using the Southern political ecology movement in order to put additional pressure on the North. As a matter of fact, the Third World Network, for example, has actually provided many arguments to the Southern élites, and helped them to reposition themselves in the light of the new challenge of global ecology. Building on this political analysis of environmental problems as put forth, for example, by the Third World Network in Malaysia or the Center for Science and the Environment in India, it is no longer industrial development per se which is considered destructive of the environment. Rather it is the fact that development remains controlled by the North instead of the South. The weakness of this argument, of course, stems from the fact that it mixes together Southern peoples and Southern élites.

# RIO AND THE VARIOUS SHADES OF GREEN

This historical look at the Green movement shows that, by the time the UNCED process took place, this movement was already quite fragmented. This fragmentation was due, in part, to the fact that the global ecology has created a new situation to which the Green movement—along with many other societal

agents, including business and industry - was and still is trying to adjust. Therefore, since the 1980s, the Green movement has seemed to be quite disoriented. The least disoriented groups, i.e. the ones with the most coherent intellectual framework, turned out to be the most efficient in Rio. This is particularly true of the big conservationist organizations - the Big 10, WWF, IUCN, and WRI - as well as the Third World Network. The other three factions of the Green movement - i.e. the New Age Greens, the Northern political Greens, and the Southern participatory (environment and) development coalitions - turned out to be more disoriented, confused, and not surprisingly, quite disorganized. As we will see, various efforts were made to organize these fragmented groups, in particular by the UNCED secretariat, the Center for Our Common Future, and environmental groups themselves. The Northern political Greens and some Southern NGO coalitions tried to team up in an effort to have their own 'Social Movement Summit', whereas the US Citizens Network and the Canadian Participatory Committee for UNCED were trying to organize the New Age environmentalists. Greenpeace remained outside all these coalition-building and organizing efforts but was prominent in the UNCED process. Finally, deep ecologists and social ecologists stayed away from Rio, considering from the very beginning that UNCED was going to be a 'débâcle'. 14

It is still too early to assess what effects this débâcle will have on the Green movement. Yet it is likely that those organizations that were riding the wave of Rio — the conservationist environmentalists and the Southern political ecologists — will sooner or later have to deal with this 'débâcle' and the effects it will have on them. This is not to say that the other factions of the Green movement will be better off in the long run, considering in particular the fact that they have not clarified their role in the age of global ecology either.

# FEEDING THE PEOPLES INTO THE GREEN MACHINE

The Green movement was confronted by the UNCED process, as we have seen, at a particularly crucial moment in its own evolution, when it was fragmented and needed to redefine itself in the light of the new global ecology. Would it be capable of seizing UNCED as an opportunity and redefining itself? This was the question before Rio. Today the questions in our mind are rather: what did UNCED do to the Green movement, to its various organizations, groups, and NGOs? And what, in turn, did the movement 'do' to UNCED? To what extent did it influence the UNCED process and the Rio conference? Those questions are examined in chapter 6. First, in this chapter, we look at how the Green movement got fed into the UNCED process. In the first section we examine how the UNCED officials conceptualized the Green movement's role. We then look at the various organizations that sprang up in order to feed NGOs into the UNCED process. Finally, we assess the role the Green movement played in UNCED, and show that the movement basically became coopted into the Rio process.

# THE OFFICIAL VISION OF NGO PARTICIPATION IN UNCED

There is no doubt that the Green movement was actually taken by surprise by the Rio process, in the same way that it was taken by surprise by global ecology. Consequently, the movement had no strategy on how to respond. Maurice Strong, however, did have a vision. It is important to understand his vision, as it came to drive the way NGOs related to and were fed into the UNCED

process. It is a vision which, once applied, turned out to favour certain NGOs, groups or organizations at the expense of others. On the other hand, it is also a vision which ideologically is quite attractive. Many people have embraced it quite enthusiastically. So did the Green movement, but by doing so it bought into an approach which ultimately weakened it. In order to understand this vision we have to backtrack a little and trace its origins.

To a large extent, the UNCED model of NGO or civil society participation is the international establishment's answer to the global crisis. The establishment's reference point for this crisis has been the Cold War. With the emergence of global ecology – and in particular the ozone hole at the beginning of the 1980s – the international establishment started to see the global environment as yet another way of overcoming the East–West divide and fostering dialogue and cooperation among heads of state. We have many reasons to believe that at the start of the Brundtland Commission's work, the goal was not so much to solve global environmental problems as to create opportunities for dialogue. Some of this desire for dialogue might of course have been driven by commercial interests, seeking to extend business to the other side of the Iron Curtain.

In the mind of the international establishment, the global ecological crisis thus became re-framed in terms of the threat of nuclear weapons. What is more, environmental degradation was considered to exacerbate that threat. Therefore it reinforced the idea promoted by the establishment, that we are all in the same boat, i.e. what we call the 'same-boat-ideology'. This ideology says that global environmental degradation – like nuclear weapons before – is a threat to all inhabitants of this planet alike. We therefore are all sitting in the same boat and have no choice but to engage in dialogue and cooperate, as we will either win or lose together. The responses to the global crisis as implied by the 'same-boat-ideology' are, therefore, (1) dialogue among enlightened individuals, (2) global environmental awareness raising and corresponding ethics, and (3) planetary stewardship. All three responses are actually rooted in the Brundtland report's failure to identify the real causes of today's global ecological crisis, and can be related to the international establishment's obsession with Cold War problems. As a result, one is left with the impression that the only reason why the global ecological crisis exists to begin with is because of a lack of dialogue between the citizens and their leaders and between the leaders themselves. Note that this same-boat-ideology is a

significant component of the above mentioned New Age environmentalism.

But if dialogue was, perhaps, an efficient means of ending the Cold War, it has become, within the UNCED process, a goal in itself. As such, the obsession with establishing dialogue has diverted attention from the real issues, perpetuated business as usual, and contributed to coopting and weakening the Green movement. This same-boat-ideology attributes a key role to NGOs who are said to be partners in dialogue, as well as multiplicands of environmental awareness and carriers of planetary responsibility.

Consequently, the two-year-long UNCED preparatory process was essentially designed to achieve two things, i.e. to build a so-called UNCED constituency by getting NGOs and, even more so, NGO coalitions to support UNCED publicly, and to identify some NGO or independent sectors' leaders as associates in global management. For these two purposes the UNCED secretariat created a special NGO-liaison office, whereas the Center for our Common Future came up, in June 1990, with an International Facilitating Committee (IFC) to help NGOs become part of UNCED. Moreover, many NGOs themselves made efforts to feed into this UNCED process. All this, plus the accreditation procedure which made it casy for all interested NGOs to become part of the UNCED process, should have helped to build this strong UNCED constituency and select potential working partners in global management. Let us therefore look at what UNCED itself put in place, how the Center for our Common Future tried to feed NGOs into UNCED, and how NGOs organized themselves in order to become part of UNCED.

## NGO ACCREDITATION

Despite the Brundtland Commission's vision of a global dialogue among all partners who sit in the same boat — that is, basically all inhabitants of this planet — and despite the desire of Maurice Strong and his secretariat to get NGOs involved in the Earth Summit, persuading the governments to do so was a difficult task. General Assembly Resolution 44/228 of December 1989 which sets the UNCED process into motion requests 'relevant nongovernmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council to contribute to the Conference as appropriate'. In a preparatory document by the Secretary-General at the UNCED organizational session in New York in

March 1990, it was stated that the community of non-governmental organizations could:

enrich and enhance the deliberations of the Conference and its preparatory process through its contributions and serve as an important channel to disseminate its results, as well as to promote the integration of environment and development policies at the national and international levels, and [that] it is therefore important that non-governmental organizations contribute effectively to the success of the conference and its preparatory process.<sup>2</sup>

The Secretary-General, Maurice Strong, was therefore invited by the Preparatory Committee to propose arrangements for NGO participation at the first PrepCom in Nairobi in August 1991.

Besides the idea of a dialogue among partners in global management, which had been put into practice for the first time in the Brundtland Commission's hearings, Maurice Strong used yet another argument in order to sell NGO and independent sector participation to governments. This was the idea that NGOs would contribute information to UNCED on the one hand and help disseminate its outcomes on the other, while the governments would remain in charge of the whole process. Therefore, getting NGOs and independent sectors to become involved in the UNCED process would not only create a dialogue among all partners in global management, it would also legitimize all governments involved in the UNCED process. Needless to say, many governments had some problems with this argument.

The first time this NGO participation model was tried out was in a regional conference preparing for UNCED, i.e. the follow-up conference on Environment and Development for the European region held in May 1990 in Bergen. This so-called Bergen conference took place at a ministerial level, but there was a planned attempt to involve what was called 'the independent sector' in the discussions with the ministers. By 'independent sector' one must understand organizations which are supposedly independent from government, such as industry, trade unions, the scientific community, youth, and NGOs. And the Brundtland Bulletin concluded optimistically: 'The Bergen process of consensus-seeking between independent and official channels . . . seems to become the model for the '92 process'.'

As a result of the Bergen meeting, Secretary-General Maurice Strong met with the representatives from the independent sector, including the board of CONGO and other non-governmental organizations, and stressed his support for the principle of broad representation and participation. The precedent set by Bergen meant that more or less any relevant sector in society — and not just environment and development NGOs — could and should be involved in the UNCED process. Moreover, the various NGOs were asked to organize themselves into coalitions, so that ultimately the various sectors would end up speaking with one voice.

After the Bergen precedent backed by Maurice Strong's vision, the stage was set for the debate about NGO participation at the first PrepCom in Nairobi. To recall, the Economic and Social Council to the General Assembly of the UN (ECOSOC) allows certain accredited NGOs to attend its meetings in New York and some are even allowed to suggest topics for discussion. There are upwards of 900 NGOs which have this 'consultative' status and they form a caucus called CONGO. As mentioned above, UN Resolution 44/228 called for their inclusion in the UNCED process, but said nothing about other NGOs. The UNCED secretariat, however, had its own interpretation.

At the first PrepCom meeting in Nairobi in August 1990, government delegates discussed this issue for the first time. Secretary-General Strong opened the session by noting that, though desirable, the Bergen formula for NGO participation would not be realistic or applicable, given the fact that the number of both governments and non-governmental organizations would be much greater in Brazil than in Bergen. He did recommend, nevertheless, that the Bergen 'principles' be applied. In the ensuing debate about NGO access, Tunisia and Mauritania objected to NGO access. Bolivia, on behalf of G-77, was in favour of NGO access but only for those with consultative status at ECOSOC. 'After several days of intense discussion', Dawkins reports, 'the Preparatory Committee acknowledged that the effective contribution of non-governmental organizations was in its interest, but approved a far narrower role than the one encouraged by the Bergen Ministers'.<sup>4</sup>

The final outcome of the Preparatory Committee's deliberations with regard to NGO participation can be summarized in the three following points:<sup>5</sup>

- 1. Non-governmental organizations shall not have any negotiating role in the work of the Preparatory Committee.
- Relevant non-governmental organizations may, at their own expense, make written presentations in the preparatory process.

3. Relevant non-governmental organizations in consultative status with ECOSOC may be given an opportunity to briefly address plenary meetings of the Preparatory Committee and meetings of the working groups. Other relevant non-governmental organizations may also ask to speak briefly in such meetings. However, this would be at the discretion of the Chairman and with the consent of the Preparatory Committee or the Working Group.

Overall it appears, therefore, that NGO accreditation to the UNCED process is different from standard UN practice only insomuch as NGOs without consultative status with ECOSOC are granted the same rights as the ones with such consultative status. And this was actually the minimum condition needed in order to get NGOs to become part of the UNCED process. NGOs and all other sectors seemed more or less happy with this formula. As a result, they asked to be accredited to UNCED in great numbers, a process which the secretariat handled. Basically, anyone who wanted to be accredited could do so. And according to our information, only four out of 1,420 NGOs were refused accreditation with the UNCED secretariat over the entire two-year process. If the UNCED secretariat was accrediting NGOs, the Center for Our Common Future took an active role in feeding them into the UNCED process. But in order to understand the exact role the Center played, we have to understand its origins.

# THE CENTER FOR OUR COMMON FUTURE

After the Brundtland report had been submitted to the UN General Assembly in October 1987, and the Brundtland Commission had been officially dissolved in December 1987, the question arose as to what to do next. As Warren Lindner, then Secretary of the Brundtland Commission, reports:

Ultimately it was decided that I would establish a charitable foundation called the Center for Our Common Future, whose sole agenda would be to further the messages contained in the report and broaden the understanding, debate, dialogue and analysis around the concept of sustainable development. The Center would move that debate into as many sectors of society and as many countries as possible. <sup>6</sup>

In other words, the Center for Our Common Future was conceived as a public relations agency, making publicity for the Brundtland report. Thus, the Center was established in April 1988 with voluntary funds and located at the same site as the Commission had been. Most of the staff transferred to the Center.

In the first phase, the role of the Center was basically to spread the message of sustainable development as well as the Brundtland report itself. During that time, the Brundtland report was translated into over twenty languages, accompanied by a video as well as educational and promotional materials. Moreover, the Center built up a network of over 160 so-called 'partners of the Center' in about seventy countries worldwide. These partners included not only intergovernmental organizations, environmental and developmental NGOs, media representatives, youth, women, and financial organizations, but also trade unions and professional organizations. On the environmental side, the working partners of the Center include IUCN, WWF, WRI, the European Environmental Bureau (EEB), and many other establishment NGOs. Working partners, as well as all other people and other organizations who happen to have been in contact with the Center are modestly called the 'Brundtland constituency'. Interestingly, after having published a critique of global environmental management, one of the authors found his one-man-NGO listed as a member of the 'Brundtland constituency'.

The second phase of the Center's activities began when it became clear, in September 1989, that the UNCED process was going to be launched and Maurice Strong was going to be UNCED Secretary-General. As a result, the Center redefined its mandate and priorities in order to feed into the UNCED process on the one hand and take advantage of the UNCED dynamic to promote itself on the other hand. Instead of making public relations for the Brundtland report, the objective of the Center now became the mobilization of the Brundtland constituency into the UNCED process. Lindner said: 'Maurice Strong was appointed to head UNCED and I went to him and said we would be happy to provide our assistance and support to mobilize in the broader constituencies'.<sup>7</sup>

Lindner must have been convincing. Indeed, in early 1990 UNDP offered Lindner US\$10,000 to help sponsor an initial organizational meeting to further that purpose. As a result, the Center convened a strategy meeting for what it calls the 'independent sector', defined to include environmental and developmental NGOs, business and industry, trade unions, professional associations,

scientific and academic institutions, women's organizations, youth groups, religious and spiritual groups, indigenous peoples' organizations, and other citizens' groups. The meeting took place in Nyon, Switzerland, in June 1990. The agenda was to mobilize for UNCED, in particular to prepare for the independent sector's participation in the imminent PrepCom meeting in Nairobi in August 1990.

In retrospect the Nyon meeting turns out to have been a key NGO gatekeeper meeting. Almost all the people who subsequently played a key role in Rio in the NGO and independent sector world were present there. But it would be just as correct to say that most of the NGO representatives that got invited to the Nyon meeting found it easy to get funding to attend the PrepComs and the Summit meetings.

In Nyon it was decided, among others things, to create a new body to coordinate NGO activities for UNCED, which would be structured, not surprisingly, according to constituencies and independent sectors. Also, there was a debate as to whether corporate industry should be part of the independent sector, which was finally accepted. An International Facilitating Committee – the IFC – was thus created as a coalition of independent sectors. The IFC is physically located within the Center for Our Common Future, but financially independent from it.

Members of the IFC are not individuals but organizations. Many of these member organizations, in turn, are federations or coalitions of other organizations. Moreover, in accordance with Maurice Strong's vision, the IFC was to organize all or at least as many independent sectors as possible, and feed them into the UNCED process. Members of the IFC include such organizations as the Brazilian NGO Forum, the Canadian Participatory Committee on UNCED, the Center for Our Common Future, CONGO, IUCN, EEB, indigenous people, the International Chamber of Commerce, Cable Network News (CNN), the World Conference on Religion and Peace, the International Committee of Scientific Unions, the Green Belt Movement, the International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, ANGOC, representatives of women's organizations, etc. As one can see from this list, environmental representatives were actually a minority. Among them, many defended a New Age vision of ecology, for example, the US Citizens' Network, or a global environmental management vision, e.g. the International Council of Scientific Unions (ICSU) and IUCN. Few actually represented a political ecology vision as, for example, did ELCI.

The IFC's stated aim was to assist organizations and networks in the independent sector to define their roles in UNCED, to promote fair and effective participation in UNCED on the part of the independent sectors, and to provide a forum for dialogue among the independent sectors. In more concrete terms, the IFC facilitated NGO access to UNCED, organized information briefings for NGOs, and organized the '92 Global Forum in Rio.

Overall, the IFC is certainly not a success story: important environmental and developmental NGOs refused to play along with the terms outlined by the IFC, the IFC itself became bogged down in procedural questions, and in Rio there were even some questions raised about its financial management. As a result, the IFC increasingly came under attack from the environmental and developmental NGO community, especially the ELCI and other Third World NGOs, which criticized, in particular, the IFC's bias towards business. The fact that the Center for Our Common Future practically took the IFC over by appointing Warren Lindner as its chairperson was also heavily criticized.

# FROM THE PARIS NGO MEETING TO THE INTERNATIONAL NGO FORUM

At the above-mentioned Nyon meeting it was decided, among other things, that the IFC was to organize 'a pre-UNCED meeting of all interested groupings to concentrate on the official conference agenda to be held approximately six months before the Conference.' However, 'the ELCI board members felt that the ELCI, and not the IFC, should organize such a pre-Brazil meeting and that the IFC should play only a facilitating role'. <sup>8</sup> The ELCI's opposition is quite understandable since the ELCI had organized regional meetings on people's participation in environmentally sustainable development long before the Center for Our Common Future. As a result, the ELCI left the IFC and started to define its own strategy for facilitating the participation of environmental and developmental NGOs as well as community groups in the UNCED process.

An international Steering Committee was set up to guide the ELCI's work, meeting for the first time in August 1990. This International Steering Committee was co-chaired by the ELCI, the Brazilian NGO Forum, and Friends of the Earth. Overall, this Steering Committee gathered mainly those NGOs that opposed the IFC, most of which were political ecology groups from

the North and participatory development NGOs from the South. A second meeting was held in Cairo in November of 1990. By then the participants included representatives from more than forty NGOs from thirty countries. The meeting discussed, in particular, the document that the Steering Committee intended to elaborate. The Committee considered that this document should focus on 'identifying local solutions to global problems which can contribute to changes in lifestyle, consumption patterns, etc.' The Steering Committee's perspective was much more coherent than that of the IFC, but it was also more ideological, confrontational and political, focusing basically on grassroots and people's initiatives against the governments.

Also, at the Cairo meeting it was decided to take up the French government's offer to sponsor a Global NGO Conference in Paris in December 1991, preparing for the Rio conference but also serving as a platform for discussing the above mentioned document in a large NGO gathering. The French offer was contingent upon the Steering Committee's selecting 850 participants, which created all kinds of conflicts among NGOs. The so-called Paris NGO Conference took place just before Christmas 1991. It led to an (unpublished) NGO position paper entitled 'Roots for Our Future', containing a synthesis of NGO positions and a plan of action dealing in particular with climate change, biodiversity, forestry, biotechnology, GATT, resource transfer, institutions, and lifestyle from a grassroots perspective.

After the Paris NGO meeting the original Steering Committee was dissolved, and it was unclear where this alternative process was leading to. Some wanted to have an NGO/social movement gathering to be held in Rio prior to the UNCED Conference. Others wanted an International Civil Society Conference to be clearly separate from and different to the Global Forum. Finally, an International Coordinating Group was set up. Overall, its members were still more grassroots oriented than were the members of the International Steering Committee. They included representatives from ENDA (Senegal), APPEN (Malaysia), the Green Forum (Philippines), the Latin American Ecological Pact (Chile), the Youth Consultation for UNCED (Costa Rica), the US Citizens' Network, the Canadian Participatory Committee for UNCED, and the Polish Ecological Club, as well as two representatives of the indigenous people, from ELCI, the International Council for Voluntary Agencies (ICVA), the International Youth and Student Movement of the United Nations (ISMUN), the Third World Network, and the Brazilian NGO Forum. As a

result of this whole alternative process, an International NGO Forum (INGOF) was held in Rio separately, yet within the Global Forum.

### COOPTATION

No matter what all these NGOs and alternative organizations ultimately did in terms of content, they all conformed to what the UNCED establishment wanted them to do, i.e. mobilize for UNCED. If the IFC and the Paris process were certainly the two most massive efforts to mobilize for Rio, there were many parallel efforts on regional and national levels, as well as in other sectors. Whether it was the US Citizens' Network on UNCED, the Brazilian NGO Forum, the Canadian Participatory Committee for UNCED, in many others, the idea was always the same: getting mobilized and organized so that the respective constituency's voice would get heard by the governments and their negotiators.

The IFC certainly was the most favoured partner of Maurice Strong and the UNCED secretariat. However, after the incident with ELCI and the setting up of a parallel NGO process, it became clear that the IFC on its own could not effectively mobilize all independent sectors. As a result, other sectors and other groups started to organize themselves. The scientific sector, for example, worked under the leadership of ICSU and with the support of the Norwegian Research Council on Science and the Humanities and the Third World Academy after the May 1990 Bergen conference towards a Global Science Summit. The Summit was finally called ASCEND 21 – 'Agenda of Science for Environment and Development into the 21st Century' – and held in Vienna in November 1991. But most successful in mobilizing for and influencing UNCED was certainly the business sector, which is discussed in Part III.

Indeed, probably the most impressive phenomenon in and around Rio was the fact that everyone wanted to be part of it. Whether this was deliberate or not, the fact is that Maurice Strong managed to create, and the UNCED secretariat to implement, a structure through which organizations from various sectors were almost forced into mobilizing themselves, trying desperately to make an input into the Rio process and the corresponding documents. Beyond seeking to create a dialogue, this structure basically replicated the US model of 'democracy' by which constituencies mobilize and organize in order to lobby the establishment.

The more money one spends and the more professional this lobbying effort is, the more likely it is that the group will make an impact. In the next chapter we examine whether and how this lobbying effort paid off, and for whom it actually did.

At this point, however, it is important to highlight that the primary outcome of this mobilization exercise for UNCED was not, by a long way, the UNCED documents. The primary outcome has been the increased legitimation of governments, and spotlight visibility for UNCED and perhaps for Maurice Strong himself.

Indeed, whether they promoted the Brundtland report's view and sought to mobilize citizens or NGOs into UNCED, or whether they were trying to do exactly the opposite, all NGOs and other agents involved in and around UNCED became caught in what could be called the 'UNCED visibility trap': no matter whether they sought to promote or protest against the idea of sustainable development, whether they sought to feed into Rio or organize alternative meetings, they all did what Maurice Strong and before him probably Gro Harlem Brundtland had wished for, namely increased the visibility of the UNCED process. Moreover, many of the NGO coalitions themselves had a stake in this, as their own visibility had come to depend on UNCED. In this sense, the whole NGO mobilization process can be seen as a means to use NGOs for public relations purposes. Most of them gladly participated.

But there were certainly other purposes as well. To recall, in the framework as promoted by the Brundtland Commission and implemented by and via the UNCED process, global environmental problems will ultimately be solved, it is said, once the governments of the world have established a dialogue among themselves as well as with the main non-governmental actors. It was therefore essential to have the appropriate, i.e. the most influential, dialogue partners associated with the UNCED process. In general, these are the ones that can speak on behalf of a powerful constituency. In this respect, the concept of 'independent sector' is very typical: the concept carries a technocratic bias, as it makes the assumption that the world leaders — i.e. the heads of governments — express the public interest, whereas the independent sectors aggregate private interests. This concept implicitly states also that all interests are by definition private, and they therefore all have an equal right to be heard by the world's leaders — provided, of course, they represent a powerful constituency and they have the means to make themselves heard.

### FEEDING THE PEOPLES INTO THE GREEN MACHINE

Not surprisingly, some partners in dialogue are more privileged than others in becoming associates in global management. The IFC as well as the UNCED secretariat promoted some independent sectors' organizations as privileged working partners of the UNCED process, whereas others, less organized and/or less powerful agents, were actually screened out. Not surprisingly, it is the business sector that has profited most from this model of American democracy. As a matter of fact, business and industry started preparing themselves for UNCED in 1984 - the year of the first World Industry Conference on Environmental Management. They ended up in 1990 with the creation of a Business Council for Sustainable Development. Its chairperson, the Swiss billionaire Stephan Schmidheiny, was appointed by Maurice Strong as his personal adviser. It comes as no surprise that the new global politics, stressing interpersonal dialogue and minimizing the role of change in socioeconomic structures, promote the best organized and financially most potent 'independent' sector as UNCED's privileged working partners. In addition to business and industry, this has also been the case as regards some Northern establishment oriented environmental NGOs, in particular IUCN, WWF, and WRI.

Meanwhile, other organizations and NGOs got bogged down in their internal mobilization and organization processes. This was particularly true of environmental and developmental NGOs which are, by definition, much more heterogeneous and have, as we saw in the previous chapter, ideologically different trends. This model of UNCED mobilization weakened them rather than strengthened them. Compared with others, in particular with the business sector, environmental and developmental NGOs were much worse off after UNCED than before. So what, exactly, did NGOs achieve in UNCED?

# WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOs ACHIEVE?

Let us pretend that you, the reader, are an Indian activist with a strong knowledge of forestry issues. You have been invited to attend the Fourth PrepCom in New York in late March 1992 by a sympathetic American forestry group with which you have exchanged information for several years and which has sent visitors to your community forestry project in India. Your American friends believe that you may be able to provide valuable input into the process. You inform an old friend in England who has written to you to say that she had attended the Nairobi meeting and will be going to New York too, and you agree to meet up.

Coming to the USA presents a problem. The US embassy will not issue you a tourist visa, nor will the Indian government allow you to take more than US\$500 out of the country. Given that you expect to spend six weeks away, you have heard that this will not be enough money. Even this US\$500 is a large sum of money because it equals half a year's wages for you.

You write to your American group which writes a letter of invitation for you and guarantees to support you, and then you go back to the US embassy. The visa is still not automatic, so you return for an interview and provide evidence that you have a job to return to. All this has taken up almost a week of your time.

Finally, you leave for the USA and make a stop in London where your English friend meets you. Since she has never been to New York either, she has checked with the embassy which says she won't need a pre-approved visa as she can obtain it upon arrival, from the US customs. Finally you arrive in New York. It takes you almost twice as long as other travellers to get through immigration because they are suspicious of your halting English. Early next

#### WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOs ACHIEVE?

morning the two of you go to the NGO centre at 777 UN Plaza where you are to meet the American forestry group. Then you are quickly shepherded into the UN.

Registration takes a matter of minutes because the American group has thoughtfully pre-registered you and then you head down into the maze of UN corridors to the first meeting of the day, a caucus of all the NGOs attending the meetings. Outside the meeting room you encounter a Costa Rican NGO representative who stops to ask you for something, but not knowing any Spanish, you shake your head helplessly. You go into the packed room where over 200 people are waiting for the proceedings to begin, and you notice that the Costa Rican has followed.

Had you been at the US Citizens' Network reception a few nights before, you would have recognized many of the faces here today. But you weren't there and this morning you wonder at the fact that all the people here seem to know each other quite well. You catch a few words here and there as people whisper about previous meetings in Geneva and Nairobi and you feel quite an alien. But the meeting is about to begin. Somebody starts by listing all the different meetings that were held the day before and you begin to wonder if you will ever understand what is going on; until you notice the Costa Rican beside you, who is plainly lost.

After the hour-long meeting, everybody speeds off to their little meetings with government representatives or to attend the sessions. You feel quite lost in this underground maze until you catch sight of your English friend again. She has discovered that, unlike in Nairobi, there is a formal NGO group that meets daily to examine the latest governmental proposals for a forest treaty and prepare a critique of it. Some representatives then take these ideas back to their governments to get them to present their ideas to the other governments. She has also discovered that it is possible to attend the informal governmental discussions. You elect to go to the governmental meeting and agree to meet for lunch and exchange observations.

Off to conference room 4 where the informal meeting is taking place. Unfortunately the guard does not let you in because you don't have a special ticket to attend the meeting. This takes half an hour to get and involves getting lost at least twice in the building. Finally, you get into the meeting to discover that there are only two other NGO representatives in a gallery that can seat 200. You wonder what all the fuss is about, particularly when you return the

next day and the next day to discover that nobody else attends these meetings.

Somebody gives you a spare copy of the forestry document under discussion — curiously named A/CONF.151/PC/WG.1/CRP.14/Rev2 — and you settle in to listen. At the side of your seat you discover a little knob that allows you to listen to the discussion in the original language or in any one of the six official languages of the UN: English, French, Spanish, Russian, Chinese, and Arabic. At first it seems a little strange: the delegates are not arguing about forests, but about brackets. Eventually you discover that the document you are reading was prepared by an expert and the 150 delegates are editing it into a document that they can all agree on. The brackets are put around the parts that they cannot agree upon. There is general laughter as the meeting chairman, Charles Liburd of Guyana, says: 'I understand that 150 copies of the bracket-ed document have been circulated'.

Frustrated, you wander off to another meeting. This one is about oceans and you listen in. The Indian delegate raises his hand and you listen with interest: 'As I have said Mr Chairman, ad nauseam, the phrase "where appropriate" should be added to "support from international groups". Another NGO representative who has been following the debate explains to you that this is to ensure that Northern activists cannot interfere with the sovereign right of Southern countries to choose their own development plans.

Thus might have been your first day at the New York meetings. Many other similar days might follow. The fictional account above is a composite of true stories of people the authors encountered at the meetings, as well as of their own experiences. Incidentally, both quotes from delegates at the meetings are real ones. Moreover, not only is this story of our Indian activist real, it is also highly symptomatic. First it shows, as we highlight in the next section, that in certain ways NGOs have quite easy access to the negotiations. But it also shows, as we detail in the subsequent section of this chapter, that NGOs hardly make a difference.

## NGO ACCESS TO UNCED

Above we have argued that NGO access to the UNCED process was deliberately made easy, and sometimes even paid for by UN agencies or other donors. We think that this easy access was ultimately detrimental to the NGOs

### WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOS ACHIEVE?

and confused them. In this section we would like briefly to discuss the major areas where NGOs did have access to the UNCED process, namely access to the negotiations, as well as becoming part of government delegations.

Though access to UNCED for NGOs was quite easy it was also highly confusing. Many NGOs did not understand the lobbying process that would have given them access to the negotiations. Others did not speak English. Still others were simply overwhelmed by the complexity. In order to influence the negotiations NGOs had basically three possibilities: to speak up in the sessions where this was possible, to submit written statements to the negotiations, and to establish personal contacts with the delegates.

Briefly, this is how lobbying was actually conducted. At the four PrepComs NGOs sat down every morning to plan strategy and to brief each other about what they had heard the previous day. Not everybody attended. During the day some met privately with government or UN officials, and attended the governmental discussions. When they got permission, they made statements about the subject under debate. In each of the fora they tried to make suggestions for textual changes to the agreements being discussed.

Separately they met in small groups to learn more about particular issues. Governments were invited to attend and face their questions. In Nairobi there were almost no such meetings, but by the third PrepCom in Geneva there were already two to three meetings happening simultaneously at most times of the day. Finally, in New York, there were up to six meetings happening at the same time and the UN agreed to allow the NGOs to take over its meeting rooms after the delegates had gone home.

NGOs did not, however, get into all the government meetings. As they progressed, the governments set up special meetings called 'informal-informals' where admission was restricted strictly to delegates and NGOs which were on government delegations. But all of this was confusing and frustrating to many of the NGOs which, being new to the process, understood little of the lobbying.

In a survey that Ann Doherty from the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis conducted right after the Earth Summit among the NGOs, three-quarters said that they were not satisfied with the access granted to them. <sup>1</sup> Only 12 per cent of the NGOs that responded were satisfied with the amount of speaking time allotted to them. Yet it is quite possible that many respondents confused access and influence. Indeed, another measure of access

#### NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

indicates that NGOs were well organized and functioning within the system. The average quantity of written interventions per NGO hovered between five and six in a broad range from zero to fifty. Of course, the quality of these interventions is undetermined and it remains unclear what the delegates actually did with these interventions. But this nevertheless shows that NGOs did have the possibility of access to the negotiations.

Overall, one can say that the speaking time was either inadequate or not well used, whereas lobbying through meeting with delegations and submitting written statements was considered more effective by the NGOs. But most effective by far, according to the NGOs, was direct personal contact in order to create a good relationship as early in the process as possible, preferably beginning in the home country.

But those who said that their views were 'often' incorporated into the documents were few, and tended to have been either on delegations or had some other special status in relation to delegations. Overall, being successful, i.e. having some influence on the negotiations, was basically a matter of good relations with government delegates and the secretariat. Environmental NGOs with such good relations were the WWF, IUCN, the WRI, and the Big 10. The Third World Network had such good relations with the Malaysian delegation.

But even then the influence of NGOs on the final wording of the UNCED documents was minimal. Says one NGO representative in the aforementioned survey: 'They at best took some formulations, but never the intentions.' And in the opinion of an editorial writer on *Crosscurrents*, the NGO newspaper, 'they used fragments of the text without the spirit of the whole recommendations'.<sup>2</sup> And even Mark Valentine, issues director of the US Citizens' Network, arguably one of the most powerful Northern lobbying groups during the Summit process, admitted:

Most NGOs would have to concur that citizens' groups barely scratched the surface of the official documents. Bits and pieces were tinkered with and modified here and there, but the structure of the agreements, the context within which they were considered, and the level of political and financial investment, all conformed to governments' expectations, not NGOs.<sup>3</sup>

Being on a government delegation, therefore, was a more direct means to influence the UNCED process and documents. As UNCED went on, more and more countries appointed representatives of what they called the independent sector to their national delegations. But they could basically represent any

#### WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOS ACHIEVE?

sector varying from business to academia to environment and development NGOs. Canada was apparently the first country to put NGO representatives on its national delegation. This occurred during PrepCom I in Nairobi, where Canada was the only country doing this. Moreover, Canada set yet another precedent by letting the NGO representative speak in a plenary session. By PrepCom II at least eight countries, almost all from the North, had appointed NGO representatives to their delegations. They were Australia, Canada, Norway, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, the United States, the Commonwealth of Independent States, and India. And in Rio about fifteen governments allowed NGOs to join their delegations as observers, attend morning briefing sessions, and even join them at the negotiating tables at the government discussions, where they could make minute-by-minute suggestions about the documents being discussed.<sup>4</sup>

Nevertheless, there seem to be considerable differences from one country to another as to the exact role NGO representatives played on national delegations, as well as to the degree they were integrated in the delegation. Canada, for example, asked its NGOs to provide advice and expertise, whereas others, like France, asked NGOs to represent the government. There was also a difference in terms of the information governments provided to their NGOs. Dawkins reports that during PrepCom II, for example, 'the British delivered three inches of official briefing papers to their NGO delegates, whereas the US provided no instruction whatsoever. Most of the NGO delegates had been given more specific instruction from their constituent organizations than from their respective government'. <sup>5</sup>

Overall, environmental NGO representatives on government delegations again basically represented mainstream NGOs. But as already mentioned above, even these NGOs do not seem to have made a major difference in terms of the final wording of the UNCED documents.

# DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOS MAKE A DIFFERENCE?

As we have seen, NGOs had considerable access to the UNCED process. They also had substantially mobilized in order to be able to take part in this process. But did they actually make a difference within or outside the UNCED process?

#### NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

We have tried to show that the UNCED documents were hardly affected by the various NGOs. This is with the exception of some mainstream environmental NGOs, whose positions were so close to the positions of the governments that their distinctive impact can hardly be detected in the texts.

The governments, however, did offer NGOs a specific chapter in the mammoth Agenda 21. The chapter discusses the creation of a 'real social partnership' between governments and NGOs and says there is a need to provide mechanisms for the substantial involvement of NGOs at all levels from policy to decision-making to implementation. If one thinks of the fact that at PrepCom I NGOs were not even mentioned, the mere existence of such a chapter is already in itself a major achievement. However, this chapter, like the entire Agenda 21, is unlikely ever to be used unless NGOs can persuade governments to implement it in their home countries.

But if NGOs made no difference within the UNCED process, did they at least make a difference outside it? Three aspects must be looked at in this respect, namely the Global Forum, the Alternative Treaty writing process, and the contacts among NGOs.

The Global Forum, in which about 30,000 people from all over the world participated, is probably best described as a circus or a colossal mess. All kinds of activities went on during the Global Forum, from theatre and dance to commercial events, New Age celebrations, and celebrity appearances; from sectorial alternative negotiations to a protest against the World Bank; from exhibits to a backwards march to the Rio Centro to symbolize NGOs' opinions of the progress made in Rio. The excitement was heightened by the near-bankruptcy of the event: with a debt totalling US\$2 million, the electricity, translation, and meeting areas were saved at the last minute only by an emotional fundraising drive. Many NGOs were enthusiastic about opportunities to meet other like-minded people; others were disgusted at the frivolous tone of the event.

The main grouping within the Global Forum was the International NGO Forum (INGOF), also known as the International Forum of NGOs and Social Movements. It was a grouping of progressive and political NGOs, whose origin can be traced back to the Paris NGO meeting in December 1991, which was jointly sponsored by ELCI, Friends of the Earth, and the Brazilian NGO Forum. It gathered together political ecologists from the North and grassroots development NGOs from the South. The main focus of INGOF was on

### WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOS ACHIEVE?

drawing up over thirty NGO 'treaties' on subjects ranging from climate change and biodiversity to poverty and racism.

Opinions on the thirty treaties were not very favourable, apart from those who wrote them. Some NGOs called the process 'dogmatic', 'stifling creativity', 'lopsided', and failing in crucial linkages between treaties. One NGO commented: 'The negotiations were done by people who could afford to pay a ticket to Rio. Can we hold these treaties out for the world to see and say they represent the small and large NGOs around the world?'.<sup>6</sup>

But the main problem with the treaties, however, was that no one seemed to know what exactly they would 'do' with them other than 'use them in the post-Rio work'. Though there are some substantial differences between these alternative treaties and the official ones, it is unlikely that they will ever have any practical effect.

Therefore, the main success of all the NGOs' parallel activities in and around the UNCED process might be limited to contacts and mutual learning. In the opinion of Martin Khor, president of the Third World Network, the success has been the evolution of NGO opinion, particularly in the North. He said:

The UNCED process forged new and stronger links between Northern and Southern groups, between development and environmental activists. It would now be difficult for environmentalists to stick to wildlife issues or population, without simultaneously addressing international equity and global power structures. A major step forward has been the increasing involvement of Northern based environment groups like Greenpeace, WWF, and Friends of the Earth in economic issues such as terms of trade, debt, and aid  $\dots$ <sup>7</sup>

Finally, the image NGOs gave in and around Rio was either absent, confusing, or negative. Indeed, the average person on the street following UNCED through the media had no idea that NGOs were lobbying at the Summit or that they could have been part of this process. If they did get any air time, their analytical back-up was largely confused. For example, because George Bush was everyone's undisputed bad guy, most people took the position that what Bush was against, they were for. Demonstrations were held and press releases demanded Bush's signature on the biodiversity convention. Yet the very few NGO analysts who had been following the complex negotiations on the convention were themselves calling for countries not to sign it. Similarly, NGOs lambasted Northern countries for not giving more aid, while criticizing past aid, claiming that environmental problems would not be addressed merely

#### NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

by giving money and fiercely attacking the main institutions through which the new loans and grants would be given.

There was also a lack of a clear message on issues of debt and trade. NGOs denounced Third World debt as an instrument of Northern imperialism, while demanding more loans for the South. They also called for the South to receive more money for the export of its commodities, while denouncing export-oriented development strategies. If these contradictory positions had been presented by different NGOs it would have been understandable, but often these arguments were being presented by the same organizations.

Not surprisingly, Greenpeace made by far the best use of the media of any NGO. Wide coverage was received, especially in Brazil, for the Rainbow Warrior's blockade of a paper mill and a nuclear plant, as well as for the hanging of a huge banner on the side of Sugarloaf Mountain at the end of the Summit with a picture of the Earth and the simple message 'Sold'.

However, the overall image NGOs gave at Rio was negative. The Financial Times' final summary, for example, included NGOs on its list of losers at the Summit. They were, it reported, 'shut out by the politicians, and spent most of their time at their Global Forum 50 km away, where they ran out of money and had their electricity cut off'. 8 Other summaries reflected similar images. The New Scientist's summary said that NGOs 'appeared marginalized, their lobbyists wandering round in ever increasing gloom. The greens had their stunts and photo opportunities but little more'. 9

Why these negative images? Where did the journalists get their ideas from? While the media must be blamed for ignoring the NGOs and not following the issues in detail – not one newspaper, television or radio station sent a reporter to cover all the PrepComs – the NGOs must also take blame for focusing so much on lobbying on the inside, where no one could see them, instead of being a voice for the millions they were supposed to be representing. And if they did not have the thousands of voices to make their presence felt, why did they choose to sit down and compromise themselves into oblivion instead of taking on the media?

This, in our view, was the result of a long-term transformation of the Green movement worldwide, combined with the very way the UNCED process was set up, as a means of reducing potential protest by feeding people into the Green machine. As a result, NGOs and the movement fudged what should have been their finest hour.

# THE END OF PROTEST?

Maurice Strong, who had already orchestrated the UN Conference on the Human Environment in 1972, took at least one lesson away with him from Stockholm: avoid protest and confrontation. As part of the political context of the late 1960s and early 1970s, including the ongoing Vietnam War, the Stockholm Conference was marked by heavy protest. At least part of this protest can be explained by the fact that civil society was basically shut out from the Stockholm process. Overall, the Stockholm Conference was characterized by heavy confrontation between activists of all sorts and governments. This was not going to happen in Rio. And indeed the overall climate was one of consensus and cooperation.

With the exception of one demonstration in Rio de Janeiro which brought together 50,000 people in downtown streets, most protests drew a few dozen people. With the exception of the treaty-making process, which attracted 2,000 NGO representatives, most of their meetings attracted only a few dozen. Rio, after all, was a highly individualistic event, reflecting the overall New Age spirit.

And despite the fact that the media covered some protests — especially when the UN security guards dragged forty youth activists from Rio Centro and detained ten, when these images were flashed on to ABC, CNN, Australian, German, and Hong Kong TV, with pictures in the Los Angeles Times, the New York Times, the San Francisco Examiner, the San Francisco Chronicle, the Washington Post, and the Village Voice in the USA, The Independent and the Guardian in England, and Libération in France — their actions were almost certainly forgotten by the public at large within days of the occurrence.

To be sure, access to the heads of government at the Summit had been carefully limited to those who had registered in advance, so large protests were almost impossible. Then, of course, there is the fact that the Brazilians had pretty well scaled off the conference centre with 35,000 troops, tanks, and helicopters for four miles in every direction.

Finally, the UNCED process had been set up from the very beginning in a way that made people feel they were part of it, a game most NGOs gladly and very actively played. And the few groups that had actually criticized or even opposed the Rio process from the start never showed up and did not bother to participate.

#### NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

On some occasions, UN agencies, as well as national, governmental, and private donors, even paid money so that people would become active participants in the UNCED process. This was the case with UNDP, for example, which spent approximately US\$682,000 on sponsoring NGOs, US\$475,761 on three programmes in 1990 and 1991, and then US\$206,400 in the final six months up to and including Rio. The money for this had been raised largely from the governments of Norway and the Netherlands.

The three main projects that UNDP paid for were to support NGOs to go to the meetings and it gave US\$10,000 in assistance to NGOs in twenty-three Southern countries to enable them to generate interest in the Summit at home. There was also support for a special meeting on poverty and the environment in Geneva in March 1991.

From this UNDP funding also sprang two major drives among the Southern country NGOs. First, it strengthened the Third World Network — an existing umbrella organization of Southern country NGOs who were already working on the issues. Second, it created a demand for a special emphasis on issues of poverty, which then spawned a protest against the World Bank and demands for alternatives to it, notably under the aegis of Maximo Kalaw, President of the Green Forum of the Philippines.

Third World Network brought some heavy hitters to the various PrepCom meetings – Vandana Shiva, an eco-feminist from India, Martin Khor, president of TWN at its headquarters in Penang, Malaysia, Chee Yoke Ling, the head of Friends of the Earth in Malaysia, Charles Abugre, an economist from Ghana, and Daniel Querol, a biologist from Peru. All of these were recognized experts in their fields and they churned out a series of briefing papers to counter government ideas.

Most of their criticisms were directed against the World Bank, the IMF, GATT, and of course the USA. They were silent about UNDP. UNDP arranged for them to confront the Bank at its meetings in Washington, DC, when it agreed to meet NGOs at the new GEF participants' meeting (unfortunately, because of a prearranged South strategy meeting neither Vandana Shiva nor Martin Khor could attend). UNDP even sat down in private with TWN and briefed them on the key issues that the World Bank could be swayed on. Meanwhile Maximo Kalaw separately led a group of NGOs to put together a common position paper on poverty and call for a new institution to be set up, called the People's Bank.

#### WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOS ACHIEVE?

What is wrong with this? Of course, UNDP and others must be lauded for building up Southern capacity. But at the same time NGOs were being tricked into giving some support to an institutional process that had created the problems they were raising to begin with. By stressing (and financing) their criticism of inequity and poverty, UNDP was using these and many other NGOs to build up a South–North conflict, whose only solution, of course, turned out to be more development. By letting themselves be mobilized along these lines, many Southern NGOs and in particular the TWN directly played into the hands of the development establishment internationally and even more so nationally.

And this is actually quite symptomatic of the overall outcome of the UNCED process: the mobilization of peoples and NGOs to participate actively in the UNCED process, while not letting them influence the outcome, has led to an overall legitimation of a process that is ultimately destructive of the very forces that were mobilized. Some Southern NGOs and NGO representatives through their participation in this process quite logically became coopted. This added some well needed fresh blood to the old development élite, which had already absorbed the mainstream Northern NGOs such as WRI, WWF, IUCN, and the Big 10.

If there was no substantive outcome in terms of conventions and documents, UNCED was at least an exercise in mobilization and cooptation, weakening the Green movement on the one hand while identifying and promoting potential opponents - mainly from the South - on the other. This UNCED has done successfully by extending the US model of 'democracy' to the planetary level. This model is basically a lobbying model to which theoretically everybody has access, yet only the strongest ones are successful. As already happens within the USA, this model has a high potential for mobilization – especially by the media – while simultaneously promoting the financially most powerful. Many people and NGOs, indeed, did get mobilized without being able to lobby at all. Others, as in the case of the Southern NGOs, were mobilized either by the UN itself or by other sponsors, such as the big Northern NGOs, which raised money from their governments and foundations. And of course the largest number of people at the Summit were professional lobbyists from Greenpeace, Friends of the Earth, the Big 10, and their European equivalents. Greenpeace, for example, had thirty professionals at the New York PrepCom (though not all the time), more than all except a half a dozen of the governments.

#### NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

On the other hand, very few real grassroots or community groups went to Rio or joined the two-year process. This is because becoming part of the sort of lobbying system set up by the secretariat requires the activists to have a detailed knowledge of the UN and government bureaucracies and easy access to international telecommunications and travel. This effectively ruled out most community activists, especially in Southern countries. What is more, the lobbying system set the grassroots and community groups up against better funded corporate or special interest advocacy groups (including other big environmental NGOs), which do have access to all these facilities. No effort was made to ask communities what was wrong and ask them how to solve it. Rather, the most vocal NGOs were called upon and promoted to try to make them part of the top-down problem-solving process. As a result, they themselves became part of the problem.

It is, of course, unfair to blame these NGOs for the failure of the UNCED process. But it is legitimate to question their buying into the UNCED process without prior critical reflection. Anyone with a lucid mind should have seen that this system was set up for potential lobbyists who would follow the process from meeting to meeting, sit down and compromise, and legitimize it while doing so. As a result of the UNCED process, most environmental lobbyists have lost their innocence vis-à-vis their constituencies. Southern NGOs in particular, some of which are now quite alienated from their grassroots constituencies, have been driven into the arms and are now at the mercy of UN agencies, Northern governments, and, especially, their own governments. What is more, they can now, and almost certainly will, be played off against each other, thus ultimately weakening the position of the South.

In conclusion, let us offer an opinion we (the authors) formed as NGOs and governments were gathering in Rio – drawn from the original paper that went on to form the basis of this book:

The UNCED process has divided, coopted, and weakened the green movement. On the one hand UNCED brought every possible NGO into the system of lobbying governments, while on the other hand it quietly promoted business to take over the solutions. NGOs are now trapped in a farce by which they have lent support to governments in return for some small concessions on language, and thus legitimized the process of increased industrial development.<sup>10</sup>

# Part III

# **BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY**

The UNCED process has been a clear success from the perspective of business and industry, in particular big business, and more precisely transnational or multinational corporations. Business and industry are, in fact, the only sector that can claim success. Business and industry not only became entirely part of the UNCED process, they shaped the very way environment and development are being looked at. Indeed, in the absence of any intellectually coherent analysis of the present crisis and the solutions to it, the view of business and industry came to dominate. And since business and industry were actively promoted to be an integral part of UNCED, their view has rapidly spread worldwide.

This is totally different from what had happened in Stockholm twenty years before. According to Harris Gleckman at the UN Center on Transnational Corporations (UNCTC), at the 1972 Stockholm Conference on the Human Environment the role of the business sector was a single intervention lasting eight minutes by the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC). At Stockholm, business was, like the NGOs, basically left out of the process. Worse, it was an object of potential environmental regulations. Within the political context of the 1960s, business and industry were very clearly on the defensive. This was totally different in the UNCED process: Strong, who between Stockholm and Rio had himself become heavily involved in big business, made this sector become part of UNCED from its very inception. Business and industry were offered multiple opportunities to pay their way and have their say in the UNCED process. They had multiple occasions to lobby. Of course they took advantage of it and were quite efficient at it. As a result and unlike at Stockholm, business and industry were no longer objects of

discussion, but 'partners in dialogue' to help solve environmental and developmental problems.

NGOs did not realize this at the beginning. However, they became increasingly worried about the fact that corporations were taking part in UNCED, but their activities were not being discussed at all. At various stages during the Summit's preparatory process, activists voiced their concern and by the time of the fourth PrepCom in New York, they suddenly realized that corporate pollution was not going to be discussed at all in the final documents in Rio. So Greenpeace joined hands with the US-based National Toxics Campaign and TWN, among many other NGOs, to condemn the environmental record of multinationals at a press conference, and the absence of this issue from the agenda.

When it came to light that business NGOs were also attending meetings and in fact lobbying behind the scenes, there was outrage on the part of the other NGOs. At the New York PrepCom, for example, there were bitter exchanges between the two groups at an NGO—government dialogue when a Canadian business lobbyist attended the meeting. Greenpeace's Summit coordinator Josh Karliner delivered an impassioned speech to one of the evening NGO meetings condemning industry in general.

Yet the bulk of industry was neither present nor lobbying at UNCED. The type of industry that got fed into, received visibility, and was promoted in the UNCED process was mainly multinationals or transnational corporations (TNCs). Many of them are heavy polluters and therefore particularly interested in the outcome of Rio. As we have shown earlier, the entire Rio process was set up as a lobbying exercise. And given the fact that TNCs were perfectly at ease with this lobbying model, which they had practised in many countries, it is not surprising that they turned out to be quite good at it.

Activists, of course, see corporate pollution as a major international problem and they wanted the Summit to make some firm commitments on regulating their activities. A commonly cited figure is that multinational corporations conduct 70 per cent of international trade and 80 per cent of foreign investment, and rival the military in terms of the pollution they emit and cause with their products. The UNCTC, for example, notes that multinationals control 80 per cent of cultivated land for export crops worldwide and a mere twenty of them control 90 per cent of pesticide sales. They also control the major share of the world's technology and dominate key

industries in the mining sector.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, they control the markets for most of the major products of Southern countries and are thus responsible for the unsustainable depletion of habitats and resources caused by the extraction and cultivation of these products.

Since TNCs are indeed the major agents in the global development and environment arena, the fact that they were made part of the UNCED process is justified. However, the way the process was set up and run made TNCs appear less and less to be part of the problem. As Rio came closer, they appeared more and more to have the solutions or to be the solutions to the kind of problems for which they were at least partly responsible.

In Chapter 7 we examine how TNCs got fed into and promoted by the UNCED process. We look at how business and industry prepared themselves for Rio, paid their way, and organized finally to take over the process altogether. In Chapter 8 we consider the ideological implications of this takeover. These are, in our view, much more worrying: we thus examine how business and industry have redefined environment and development issues to fit their needs and deeds, and we show why the business view of how to solve the global environmental and developmental crisis is fundamentally flawed.



# PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO

Business and industry have always had an inside track with governments. Over the years, business has become quite good at lobbying national governments, especially in the 'model' Western democracies such as the USA and Canada. More recently, lobbying by business and industry has also become a crucial part of EC politics in Brussels. In international negotiations such as GATT or FAO discussions on Codex Alimentarius, governments regularly take business executives along. To a certain extent this is quite natural and normal, since on many issues governments and industry pursue the same goal. In particular, they share the same core value, namely that industrial development is the foundation of modern society, and that it must be pursued at any price. If industry is perhaps focusing more on the production of wealth, government is focusing more on its distribution. But both are obsessed by economic growth. It is therefore only logical that many governments included business and industry advisers on their delegations to the PrepComs and the Rio conference.

Also, during the 1980s it became quite acceptable for environmental NGOs to solicit donations from private corporations and many of them make it a point to go to corporations and get money. By the end of the 1980s most Northern NGOs had levered substantial corporate contributions. Many of them even have joint programmes with corporations. The Environmental Defense Fund (EDF), one of the Big 10 environmental NGOs in the USA that follows the lobbying model of politics, which is predominant in the USA, for example, was praised by industry at Rio for its compromising stance. In recent years EDF has signed two major cooperation agreements with McDonald's and General Motors (GM). Both of them agreed not to use the agreement for publicity and both allowed EDF publicly to criticize their policies. As a result, EDF suggested

that McDonald's use recycled paper in their packaging. To GM it suggested that old cars be bought up by companies wanting to receive pollution credits for reducing pollution. These credits could then contribute to their required targets of reducing pollution under the US Clean Air Act of 1990.

While both suggestions are useful if they constitute part of an organizational learning process that will lead to much more profound and radical changes, we have good reasons to believe that these agreements basically pursue strategic purposes. While GM was getting all this free publicity from EDF, it was actually suing state environmental protection agencies in Connecticut, Massachusetts, and New York to limit new strict air quality laws. McDonald's did not need to go to EDF either to discover that recycled cardboard was more ecologically sound than Styrofoam. The problems of Styrofoam and advantages of recycling have been topics of common discussion all over the USA for years. But what did count for it was the implicit endorsement from EDF of its efforts. Moreover, it was of course not EDF that convinced McDonald's that it should use recycled cardboard, to stay with this example. The fact is that McDonald's policy change was a direct result of a campaign by the Citizens Clearinghouse for Hazardous Waste's Lois Gibbs, who had led the earlier, very successful, protest on corporate dumping in Love Canal, New York. Gibbs got thousands of schoolchildren to send their used McDonald's fast food containers back to the company.

Not only did EDF take undue credit for a change in McDonald's corporate policy which it did not have much to do with, but moreover they contributed to the fragmentation and erosion of the environmental movement. The point of these two examples is that by paying for NGOs that do not criticize them, corporations can marginalize the ones that do. What is more, they can get free mileage out of groups like EDF and portray themselves as compromisers and listeners, while their motivation remains strategic. EDF, of course, maintains that the agreement specifically gives it the right to criticize GM, but in fact it admitted that it was not doing that. Senior attorney Joe Goffman told us that EDF had different opinions on many subjects from GM, but that is hardly surprising. Moreover, anybody can criticize a company and that does not need a special agreement.

The precise problem is that this is not simply a matter of opinion. The question is whether EDF is ready and GM willing to engage in a process of mutual learning, the ultimate outcome of which should be phasing out from

### PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO

environmentally and societally unsustainable car production and car culture altogether. This example highlights very well, in our mind, the type of problems raised by the corporate sponsorship of NGOs. But the result is that the big environmental NGOs are becoming less critical of big corporate polluters, while the critical groups are being marginalized.

The next example brings us closer to what was going on in Rio as regards the role of business and industry in environmental matters. Right on time for Rio, the Swedish/Swiss multinational Asea Brown Boveri (ABB) launched its own journal *Tomorrow* dealing with global environment and development issues. On its board are representatives of major Northern and even Southern NGOs. This is symptomatic of the fact that up to and during the Rio Summit, business and industry, especially big business, were no longer influencing and lobbying the main agents. Rather, they were shaping the environment and development debate. Indeed, given the abdication of governments and the erosion of the environmental movement, the Rio conference became a platform from which business and industry, often with the help of public relations agencies, were offered an additional opportunity to shape the way the public should think about environment and development.

This is our argument: the new global reality of which UNCED is an expression and which it simultaneously helps to promote, is of a fundamentally different nature to the national realities on which governments had a monopoly, and where other agents such as NGOs and business could lobby governments. For most agents the global reality is something new: it is not at all clear yet whether national governments and most NGOs are up to the challenges of this new global reality. This is also true for the UN system which remains an organization of nation-states and which, moreover, has been set up with a different purpose to the one required by today's global environment and development crisis. Indeed, the UN was to guarantee world peace, which was to be achieved through accelerated industrial development. Today, war and peace have changed their very nature, and industrial development hits bio-geophysical limitations. Therefore, even if the UN once was a coherent global agent, the philosophical basis of its actions has now eroded. The only currently functioning global agents are therefore TNCs.

UNCED set up a process through which TNCs were transformed from lobbyists at a national level to legitimate global agents, i.e. partners of governments. UNCED gave them a platform, from where they could frame the

new global issues in their own terms. In this chapter, we show how the UNCED process was set up in a way that meant big business and industry would inevitably turn out to be the winners. We look at how business and industry systematically prepared themselves for the Earth Summit in anticipation of the future role they were going to play, and we also highlight how business and industry benefited from the way UNCED was run. Finally, we look critically at corporate sponsorship of the Earth Summit. This is not because we believe that corporate sponsorship played a decisive role. Rather, such sponsorship, in our view, illustrates the much more profound process of corporate takeover of the leadership in environment and development matters.

# THE UNCED PROCESS FAVOURS POWERFUL LOBBYISTS

Although business and industry, in particular TNCs, took over the UNCED process, this was not a 'hostile takeover'. It was not, in our view, the result of a conspiracy, though public relations certainly helped. Rather, TNCs just did what they were supposed to, i.e. shape the outcomes of the UNCED process in a way that was advantageous for them in the long run. In doing so, they have been considerably helped by the way UNCED was set up to begin with, by Maurice Strong's active advocacy for business and industry, and by the absence of any other major global agent. Also, neither governments nor NGOs seemed to be willing or able to oppose this takeover. As a matter of fact, many essentially Northern governments were highly supportive of business and industry and offered themselves as a platform from which to lobby UNCED. The big Northern NGOs were, as we have seen above, already quite compromised with business and industry, and had already more or less agreed to the idea that business and industry should play a key role in solving the global environment and development crisis. The big Southern NGOs – essentially the Third World Network (TWN) - though highly critical of TNCs, played right into their hands by portraying the global crisis as a South-North issue, thus making everybody believe that this crisis was not the result of industrial development, but rather an issue of more equal distribution. All other NGOs, finally, were scattered and fragmented, the result of both the set-up of the

#### PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO

UNCED process, and the crisis and the erosion of the Green movement itself.

Overall, the set-up of the UNCED Process clearly favoured the most powerful lobbyists. The first step of this set-up was the very definition of an 'NGO' or an 'independent sector', as the Center for Our Common Future and the IFC liked to call them. As defined by the UN, the acronym 'NGO' is a catch-all that covers anything that is not governmental. But while this encompasses anything from the best known activists like Greenpeace to religious groups like Hare Krishna, it also covers non-profit business associations whose real mission is to try to promote the sale of many of the things that activists are opposed to, from toxic chemicals to nuclear weapons. By uniformly referring to the various groups involved in UNCED as 'nongovernmental' or 'independent', one is led to believe that they are all equally legitimate agents. Of course, the origin of this model stems from national politics, replicating the ideal of US or Canadian 'democracy', where all groups that can organize themselves have the theoretical chance to lobby and thus to influence government policy. The problem with this model is that the global political system is not set up like the US government. In the absence of a coherent government to be lobbied at the global level, the strongest -i.e. most powerful and financially most potent lobbyists – quickly substitute themselves for all other international agents. And this is exactly what happened. As we show in the next section, the Business Council for Sustainable Development or the International Chamber of Commerce took over even the very way environment and development problems were to be looked at.

This lobbying model furthermore implies that, in order to be an efficient lobbyist, NGOs and independent sectors have to organize. The ones which will get most out of UNCED will be those 'NGO-coalitions' or independent sectors which 'speak with one voice', as Maurice Strong once suggested to them. The environmental movement should of course have seen that this process of organizing in order to speak with one voice was ultimately going to weaken it. On the other hand, business and industry had understood that this lobbying model was offering them a unique competitive advantage. Unlike most other NGOs, business and industry already had a global presence and some – for example, the International Chamber of Commerce – a global organizational structure. Also, the mission of business and industry is much more unified and coherent than the missions of the various environmental and developmental NGOs. Indeed, a coherent mission makes it easier to organize.

# BUSINESS GETS ORGANIZED FOR UNCED

Business and industry have perfectly conformed to the expectations of the lobbying model set up by Strong and the UNCED secretariat. Very rapidly, therefore, these sectors gained a considerable comparative advantage over all others. Indeed, they seemed to have heard the Brundtland Commission's call for sustainable development before all other independent sectors. In retrospect, one may ask whether the business and industry sectors did not receive some insider information, or at least friendly suggestions.

The Brundtland Commission had hardly started when, in 1984, the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC), in collaboration with UNEP, organized the first World Industry Conference on Environmental Management (WICEM I) in Versailles, France. The outcome was the emergence, in 1986, of the International Environmental Bureau (IEB), which was originally located with the World Economic Forum in Geneva and is now with the ICC office on environment and energy in Norway. IEB was, at that time, a trans-industry clearinghouse on environmental management information. The Bergen conference was the next significant step in the business sector's endeavours aimed at Rio: out of the Bergen conference and the parallel Industry Forum came the 'European Green Table', 'a contribution to the work of the ICC towards the 1992 UNCED'. In Bergen ICC was mandated to prepare seven industry projects, to form the core of an industry initiative, to be finalized at WICEM II. 'This initiative will both cover industry's own operational approach to sustainable development, and prepare the main policy issues relevant to world industry in relation to UNCED'.3

WICEM II, the second World Industry Conference on Environmental Management, was held in Rotterdam in April 1991. At that occasion, *Network '92* (as the journal of the Center for Our Common Future was then titled), generally reflecting the views of the global environmental managers, remarked: 'As the first global sectorial initiative organized to prepare for the Earth Summit, the organizers of WICEM are to be congratulated on being first off the mark and for a well structured effort'. In retrospect, this remark sounds quite cynical.

In the mean time, Maurice Strong had appointed Dr Stephan Schmidheiny

- 'a leading Swiss industrialist' - as the principal adviser for UNCED. Dr

#### PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO

Schmidheiny recruited a group of forty-eight business leaders from around the world and during WICEM II created the Business Council for Sustainable Development (BCSD). Said the *Brundtland Bulletin* at that time:

The Business Council will provide advice and guidance to the UNCED secretariat on initiatives and activities undertaken by business and industry in respect of the preparatory process for the 1992 Conference, including programmes developed by the International Chamber of Commerce and other business organizations and bodies, programmes developed by the World Economic Forum and its industry Fora, and programmes developed by individual corporations and business leaders. <sup>6</sup>

Interestingly, 'Maurice Strong requested that the mandate be carried out well in advance of the Earth Summit so that the input of the Business Council's members could be taken into consideration during the consultative process that the UNCED Secretary General is carrying out prior to Rio'. As a result, the BCSD fed directly into the 'consultative process' of UNCED, whereas most NGOs fed, if at all, into the discussions that went on at the Preparatory Committee's meetings.

Even though, as we see in the next section, the BCSD was very successful during and after the Earth Summit, differences seem to have emerged between Dr Schmidheiny on the one hand and the International Chamber of Commerce on the other. As a result, in February 1992 the ICC set up a new organization — the World Industry Council for the Environment (WICE) — 'to lobby on environmental issues for business interests'. <sup>8</sup> Over sixty international companies are founding members of WICE, i.e. more than in the BCSD. Nevertheless, before and during the UNCED process it was the BCSD that lobbied on behalf of business and industry.

# THE 'SUSTAINABLE COUNCIL FOR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT'

As we have said, the key figure in the BCSD is the Swiss billionaire Stephan Schmidheiny. The official story goes that his association with the Summit began in mid-1990 when Maurice Strong appointed him to be his principal adviser for business and industry. Their personal relationship, however, goes back to the Davos Forum — of which Maurice Strong had been the chairman — a

glamorous annual meeting of international business and government leaders in Switzerland, whose aim is to promote business—government dialogue. Schmidheiny's family owns Swatch and made a lot of money from investment in the asbestos industry, although after he started to work for the Summit he sold his asbestos holdings. He sits on the board of at least two TNCs: Asea Brown Boveri, manufacturers, among others, of nuclear reactors, and Nestlé, whose marketing of infant formula has been a major target for activists for years.

The chief executives recruited by Stephan Schmidheiny to the BCSD, to help him advise Maurice Strong, represented key industrial sectors. Their role is important because business was the only independent sector — unlike NGOs, women, youth, indigenous peoples, trade unions, and farmers — that helped pay the Summit's bills. Their lobbying had an important impact on Agenda 21. BCSD members claimed to be acting in 'personal, not institutional roles', but were so successful with their 'advice' that the only mention of corporations in Agenda 21 was to promote their role in sustainable development. No mention was made of corporations' role in the pollution of the planet, nor was there any kind of guidance or regulation to ensure that they are more responsible in the future. This success earned them the nickname of the 'Sustainable Council for Business Development'.

The BCSD worked closely with the ICC in promoting the idea to the Summit that economic growth, new technologies, and 'open and competitive markets both within and between nations' were key elements in solving environmental and developmental problems. In the fortnight's run-up to the Rio-Summit talks, Maurice Strong appeared at conferences in Rio de Janeiro and re-endorsed both organizations' principles for sustainable development. What is more, all other UN heads of agencies were persuaded to sign the principles with the single exception of Peter Hansen, head of the UNCTC, who was never approached with the document. 9

Following the fourth PrepCom meeting in New York, these businesses were keen actively to present themselves as part of the solution to the global environmental crisis, rather than as part of the problem. Peter Bright, head of environmental issues for the UK oil company Shell, speaking on behalf of the ICC, told government representatives in New York on 1 April that Agenda 21 should take advantage of the enormous resources of businesses and go beyond the role of regulation. <sup>10</sup> And at a BCSD meeting on 29 May 1992, Strong told reporters that 'no assignment has meant more to us' than working with the

#### PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO

BCSD, as BCSD 'has become a cadre of the world's leading practitioners of sustainable development, [and] BCSD staff have become our happy partners with our own secretariat in this process'.<sup>11</sup>

# MONEY MATTERS

Of course, Strong's words were not totally disinterested: Schmidheiny and other corporations had substantially helped finance the Summit and even the parallel non-governmental Global Forum. In fact, apart from lobbying heavily within the system, business actually helped pay for much of the Summit, a tactic from which they reaped considerable benefits. In particular, it helped defeat recommendations from within the UN – from the UNCTC as a matter of fact – that would have called for a much stricter monitoring and regulation of corporations, replacing them with the much weaker idea of 'self-policing'.

The Summit secretariat spent US\$16.9 million in preparing for Rio. Like any other UN body, it would normally be expected to rely on UN funding plus any additional money it could raise from sympathetic governments, and most of its money did come from these sources. But almost a fifth of the financing for the Summit came from corporations. The secretariat set up a Voluntary Fund to raise money directly from governments, which together with the funding from the UN's regular budget raised US\$6 million. In addition, it set up a special US\$10.86 million Trust Fund to which anybody could contribute and private corporations certainly did, through yet another fund called EcoFund. Without doubt, this was Strong's forte – raising private money and acquiring expertise to carry out government approved projects.

In 1990 when all the arrangements for the Summit were being made, Maurice Strong helped retired Washington, DC lawyer Benjamin Read set up EcoFund '92.<sup>13</sup> Registered as a non-profit organization, it had raised US\$2.3 million before the New York PrepCom. Read told us that he had increased this to US\$4 million by the time the Summit closed in Rio, and eventually anticipated topping it up to US\$4.6 million when the final donations and royalties came in.

The biggest contributor to EcoFund was Swatch of Switzerland, owned by the Schmidheiny family. Swatch sold special Earth Summit watches and donated 5 Swiss francs for each watch, a total of US\$1.8 million, i.e. over 10

per cent of the secretariat's costs of preparing for the Summit. Chemical giants like UK-based ICI, USA-based Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing (3M), and oil companies like USA-based Atlantic Ritchfield Oil (ARCO) were also recruited to pay into the Fund.

The details of the financing as told to us by Read were as follows. ICI and ARCO were quite small contributors, putting in US\$25,000 and US\$35,000 each. 3M put in US\$100,000, while Coca-Cola put in US\$200,000 plus two executives to help organize logistics in Rio. Coke also prepared 'Earth Summit Kits' for every elementary school in the USA and other English speaking countries. Other than Swatch, ICI, 3M, and ARCO, contributors to EcoFund included Fiat of Italy, Asahi Glass Co, Kadokowa Shoten Publishing, Kinki Nihon Tourist Co, and Ito Yokado Supermarkets from Japan. The EC also put some money into EcoFund.

EcoFund helped pay, among other things, salaries of Summit staff, Summit youth ambassadors, and an indigenous peoples meeting prior to the Earth Summit. Corporate contributors who paid over US\$100,000 into EcoFund were allowed to use the 'In Our Hands' Earth Summit logo. At least four companies took advantage of the logo — Fiat, two companies that manufacture personal badges monitoring ultraviolet and acid rain levels, and Swatch. The secretariat later maintained that NGOs had the same right to use the logo for free, but no NGO was ever known to have used the logo. UN staff told us that this was not the first time that corporations had sponsored the UN — previous examples include Benetton's paying for guards' uniforms, and IBM's paying to revamp UNEP's computer system — but the scale is certainly unprecedented. <sup>14</sup>

What is more, some events were directly paid for by corporations. For example, Swatch sponsored a cultural gala and reception for negotiators at the New York PrepCom meeting. Meanwhile, other corporations gave in-kind support to the Summit. As mentioned earlier, Coca-Cola loaned the services of some of its top executives to assist the Summit in its promotional campaign and produced a series of public service ads promoting the Summit through its New York based advertising agency Lintas. Volkswagen gave a fleet of 'clean' cars for use by the Summit secretariat and delegates. Xerox donated equipment to the conference organizers.

Furthermore, Strong got corporations to pay for a private newspaper that he helped set up at the Summit – the Earth Summit Times, now called Earth Times. This made its appearance at the New York PrepCom but at that time

#### PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO

advertised itself as an independent newspaper. This changed at the Summit, when the masthead clearly declared it to be the official newspaper of record. According to Paul Hoeffel, editor of the UN's own development newspaper—the Development Forum—Maurice Strong sidestepped the UN's own Department of Public Information to ask journalist and entrepreneur Pranay Gupte to set up the Earth Summit Times. Gupte set up the paper with money from businesses.

Equally insidious was the fact that the BCSD's public relations consultants, Burson-Marstellar, offered to help the Summit with its public relations. According to Jean-Claude Faby, director of the Summit's New York offices, it offered to do all the Summit's public relations, but when the secretariat said it was too expensive, the head of its US operation offered to do the work probono publico. As far as we can tell, the secretariat decided not to accept this offer. To recall, Burson-Marstellar has extensive experience in presenting environmentally friendly images for corporations. It helped Exxon present the best possible face after the Exxon Valdez disaster in Alaska and did the same for Union Carbide after Bhopal. It also helped to stem the negative publicity surrounding the problems after the Three Mile Island nuclear reactor failure. Attempts to discover the full extent of corporate sponsorship in UNCED and how it was conducted were frustrated, however, by the lack of information.

Again, in our view, business and industry are not to be blamed for having sponsored UNCED and taking advantage of it. They were basically profiting from an opportunity offered on a golden plate. However, they must be criticized for double-speak, and for using the Earth Summit as a strategic event without being willing even to consider the profound changes that would be necessary in order to take significant steps towards a sustainable society. Indeed, many of the corporations that paid for the Earth Summit had appalling environmental management records. Perhaps more insidious still, many of these corporations funded anti-environmental lobbying groups in the United States and probably elsewhere. In short, while promoting themselves through the Earth Summit as the solution to the environmental and developmental problems, they simultaneously opposed environmental protection standards and legislation at the national and the local levels. This is what made business and industry lose credibility and legitimation as serious agents in dealing with the global environmental crisis. This is what turned their sponsorship of UNCED into a greenwashing farce.

In our view, it is mainly Maurice Strong and the UNCED secretariat that have to be blamed for giving TNCs a comparative advantage over other independent sectors and for deliberately presenting them as the solution to the crisis. Governments must be blamed for having abdicated their responsibility and often for actively supporting this perversion of the UNCED process. Most NGOs, finally, deserve blame for not having been perceptive enough to notice what was going on, notably at their expense. This is even more embarrassing as funding of the so-called NGO-event, the Global Forum, is even more mysterious and impenetratable than is the funding of the Earth Summit.

# CHANGING WHAT?

As we have seen, the UNCED process in general and the Rio Conference in particular have led to the promotion of business and industry and their worldview over other agents and their worldviews. We have also seen that there are several reasons for this. These are:

- The set-up of the UNCED process as a lobbying exercise, where everyone
  defended his or her interests, as opposed to a collective learning
  endeavour;
- The fact that business and industry understood Rio precisely as that: a lobbying and public relations effort, thus using UNCED to present themselves as the solution rather than as the problem;
- The fact that Maurice Strong and the UNCED secretariat were actively
  promoting business and industry and their views over other agents. As a
  matter of fact, neither Strong's nor the Brundtland report's views differ
  much from the view of business and industry;
- The fact that governments have basically abdicated their responsibility: many Northern governments have become the spokespersons of Northern business, while Southern governments were advocating more development and economic growth, thus playing into the hands of business;
- The fact that the environmental movement the only potential counterforce – was highly fragmented, organizationally and ideologically, and that the UNCED set-up enhanced, not reduced, this fragmentation.
   This includes the fact that nobody in the movement seemed to be able to see that UNCED weakened not strengthened their movement; and finally
- · The absence of any intellectual leadership in and around UNCED. There

was not and still is no alternative vision sufficiently coherent and strong to face the 'Brundtland' ideology presented in Chapter 1.

All these reasons led to the result that the business and industry worldview came out of Rio as the solution to the global environmental crisis and no longer as its cause. Schmidheiny and his BCSD book entitled *Changing Course* became as important an output of the process as the Brundtland report was an input to it.<sup>1</sup> And their views of the problem are hardly any different.

This chapter is divided into three sections. In the first section we present the core views of the BCSD and the suggestions it makes for solving the environment and development problems, as outlined in the book published right before the Summit. In the second section we present and discuss the discourse that accompanies these core views. We do not address here the suggestions made by the ICC, which published a summary of its ideas in book form as well. This was titled *From Ideas to Action* and was co-authored by Jan-Olaf Willums and Ulrich Gölüke. In the introduction to this book, the authors stress that the difference between *Changing Course* and *From Ideas to Action* is that the former is a book about vision and a call to action. The latter was intended to supplement the former as a handbook on how to transform the vision into reality. In the third section we examine this view and outline why we think it is flawed and not suited to deal with the global environment and development crisis.

The two initial sections of this chapter correspond to the distinction in Schmidheiny's book between two different themes: there is first a core in which environment and development are considered from the perspective of organizational development and change. This core actually constitutes the bulk of the book (Chapters 6 to 17), and we basically agree with it. But there is a second theme, which is the discourse on environment and development. This discourse, i.e. the BCSD's ideas on sustainable development, is in our view basically flawed.

### CHANGING WHAT?

# THE CORE: MANAGING ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

In order to understand what the core of Stephan Schmidheiny's book is all about, we have to place ourselves within the context of recent management philosophies, in particular the philosophy called total quality management (TQM).<sup>3</sup> The two main features of TQM are its customer focus and the fact that a product is looked at in its overall production process from its inception until it ends up with the customer. Both, process and customer focus combined, lead TQM to imply changes in corporate strategy, output, work, people and their training, as well as leadership, organizational architecture, and organizational culture. Most of the big corporations such as the ones that are represented in the BCSD have undergone quite substantial internal reorganization efforts over the past few years, inspired by TQM and similar management philosophies.

To be sure, TQM has nothing to do with environmental problems. It is an integrated means of dealing with a changing corporate environment, perceived essentially as globalization, acceleration of technological change, cultural fragmentation, and individualization of the customer. To all these changes corporate organizations respond with a focus on the management of their overall process, by trying to integrate into one single approach the hard and the soft factors of a company, i.e. technology and organizational structure on the one hand, and organizational culture and learning on the other. Ultimately, TQM is to make the organization or the company more efficient, i.e. more fit for a changing environment. But such fitness is not going to be achieved by technological change alone. It is equally the result of changes in the organizational architecture, i.e. the organization's structure, its leadership, and its culture. In short, TQM asks the company to focus on the customer — who generally only sees the output — and rethink its production and management process accordingly.

Interestingly, the environmental challenge is not alien to but actually reinforces the TQM philosophy, focused as TQM is on the results (outcomes) and the efficiency of the process. Indeed, the natural environment is interpreted within the TQM framework as analogous to the customer: what the low quality product is to the customer, pollution is to the environment, i.e. basically a sign of organizational inefficiency. Says Stephan Schmidheiny:

'More and more companies are realizing that the pollution they produce is a sign of inefficiency and that waste reflects raw materials not sold in the process'.<sup>4</sup>

The environment, like customer satisfaction, is basically considered to be located on the output side of the production process, yet starting from this output side environmental and customer considerations must be inbuilt, according to TQM philosophy, into the whole process and more generally into the whole organization, as well as into its strategy. 'The environmental considerations must be fully integrated into the heart of the production process, affecting the choice of raw materials, operating procedures, technology, and human resources. Pollution prevention means that environmental efficiency becomes, like profitability, a cross-functional issue that everyone is involved in promoting'. <sup>5</sup>

Schmidheiny then gives a series of examples of how the environmental focus leads to changes in the organization and the production process in various companies. Unfortunately, these examples remain unanalysed and sketchy. Others have gone much further in conceptualizing organizational change as a result of the new environmental focus. Dyllick, for example, distinguishes six foci of change, namely product development, materials acquisition, production, marketing/sales, logistics, and recycling, each of which must be addressed at the four following levels, i.e. infrastructure, personnel and organization, management, and communications/public relations.<sup>6</sup>

In short, TQM and other related new management philosophies have made companies focus on some of the environmental consequences of their production process by analogy with their rediscovered focus on the customer. As a result, environmental problems are framed in terms of organizational efficiency. We indeed detect a lot of honest and laudable management efforts to deal with the environment in this way and are all in support of them. However, TQM and the analogy between environmental and customer focus have some limits and flaws.

First, TQM, and even more so Schmidheiny, sees the production process as separate from the customer and by analogy from the environment. What the customer and the environment 'see' is the output, i.e. pollution and waste in the case of the environment. Consequently, the production process and the organization have to be designed so that they are more efficient, i.e. in a way that reduces such undesirable output, ranging from waste reduction, to

## CHANGING WHAT?

recycling, to pollution prevention. Thus, it is not the idea of industrial production that is questioned, but some particularly nasty outputs. The philosophy, therefore, does not go to the roots of the problem.

Second, the unit that has to change remains the organization and the company, not society. The main concern is profit maximization and in some cases survival. But it is always survival of the unit, not of society or the environment. The problem is that an organization or corporation is not a self-sustaining unit. Current management philosophies, even if they are focused on the environment and the customer, cannot by definition go beyond this idea. What is beyond it generally turns into a lofty discourse on (business) ethics.

Third, there is a flaw in the analogy between the customer and the environment. Even in the case of the customer, TQM in particular and the economists in general are probably wrong, as customers are not organized enough to speak up for themselves, fragmented and manipulated as they are. But the problem is even more serious in the case of the environment: who speaks up for the environment when a company does not treat it satisfactorily? In short, how detrimental the outcomes of a given production process are for the environment remains defined by the company, not by the environment.

There are three types of agents who, according to the BCSD, can speak up for the environment, namely:<sup>7</sup>

- 1. Governments via regulations (command and control);
- 2. Governments via their intervention in the marketplace (economic instruments);
- 3. Business itself (self-regulation).

And we should add here a fourth:

4. The market through consumers' preferences.

Schmidheiny is clearly not in favour of command and control government regulation, such as emissions and immissions standards, though he thinks that in case of urgency such regulations might be justified. He is somewhat lukewarm about economic instruments such as pollution taxes and charges, tradable pollution permits, resource quotas, etc. From an organizational perspective, economic instruments are quite logically preferable to command and control, since they allow for more flexibility and innovation in the organizational change process. Not surprisingly, Schmidheiny is most in favour

of self-regulation, which he immediately ties to the leadership business will take in solving environmental problems. He says: 'It is time for business to take the lead, because the control of change by business is less painful, more efficient, and cheaper for consumers, for governments, and for businesses themselves. By living up to its capabilities to the full, business will be able to shape a reasonable and appropriate path toward sustainable development'. <sup>8</sup>

However, this opposition Schmidheiny points out between government and business, i.e. between command and control regulation by the state and self-regulation by business, is in our view a false dichotomy which obscures the real issue. The fact is that governments and businesses are not enemies, but allies, interested as they both are in economic growth and industrial development. There is indeed a collusion of interests: governments will only go as far in regulating business as regulation will not cut into GNP, which is ultimately where governments derive their income. Also, governments, like self-regulating business, have an interest in stimulating a type of technological progress that will give national industries a comparative advantage. The only difference between government and business might well be that government is slower than business. The picture that Schmidheiny tries to give of business being the victim of government regulations is therefore misleading.

And this goes hand in hand with yet another picture that permeates the entire book, namely that business is the humble servant of the consumers, a picture that is, by the way, implicitly promoted by TQM philosophy. Although this picture might be true in the case of small and medium sized businesses, we have some doubts that this is the case for multinationals, such as the BCSD members. Many of them are in quasi-monopolistic positions and self-regulation, in this case, will be more or less equal to self-interest.

In the absence of competition, of government regulations and of consumers' and citizens' pressure, the BCSD and the ICC have nothing else to propose than 'business ethics', that is, highly abstract and in any case non-binding principles such as the ones compiled in the ICC Business Charter for Sustainable Development. Of course, we are not opposed to principle 10, for example, which is all in favour of the 'precautionary approach', nor do we have a problem with principle 15, 'openness to concerns'. Other principles, though, are more questionable, such as the promotion of technology transfer. Overall, we do not believe that such lofty principles are up to the challenges of preventing the type of global environmental degradation many TNCs are

### CHANGING WHAT?

causing. More generally, we do not believe that ethics can slow down, let alone redirect, organizational behaviour where stakes and interests are as high as they are in TNCs, in governments, in science, or in the military, for example. Quite interestingly, almost all examples of self-regulation given by Schmidheiny, as well as all the forces that drive industry, according to him, to self-regulation, stem from some sort of outside pressure on business and industry.

Moreover, this collusion between governments and businesses is even higher at the global level than it is at the national levels, given the fact that at the national level, at least in the North, there is some tradition of separation of power. By pushing global concerns and global approaches to these concerns as actively as business and industry do, they simultaneously push towards the creation of a new global reality on which TNCs have a better handle than on the national and the local realities. Without institutional precedent, the global reality is more favourable to business, at least to big business, than other levels of society. And this is implicitly what the move towards sustainable development means, according to the authors of *Changing Course*: being in favour of sustainable development in and around UNCED is probably just another means of accelerating the erosion of the national dimension and promoting the global approach where TNCs do have a comparative advantage over governments.

# THE DISCOURSE: ECONOMIC GROWTH AND FREE TRADE

We have seen that the core views of the BCSD are quite in line with the newest management thinking. Such thinking leads business and industry to deal with environmental problems as an issue of total quality, i.e. ultimately as an issue of organizational efficiency. However, the evolution of such thinking is quite unrelated to UNCED. As such, it is also quite unrelated to the global environmental crisis, and the corresponding challenges. As a matter of fact, the BCSD has actually taken advantage of the forum UNCED provided to display its environmental and other management efforts. As we have seen in the previous chapters, it has also used the UNCED forum to promote its views as a solution to the global environmental crisis. Our criticism is that the inference Schimdheiny and others make is wrong: even if

environmental and other management efforts may be quite appropriate answers to changes in the global marketplace, one cannot deduce that the same environmental and other management efforts are also a solution to the global environmental crisis. Quite the contrary is the case, as we will see: environmental management efforts that provide a given company with a competitive advantage in the global marketplace might well be counterproductive for society or the planet overall.

As in the case of the Brundtland report, Schmidheiny's analysis of the global environment and development crisis is fundamentally flawed. First, the cause of today's crisis is not seen as being industrial development, but is attributed to humanity and humans, i.e. the very 'nature of human activity'. Moreover, Schmidheiny does not seem to have a sense of the globalness of the problems, and therefore not of their urgency either. Economic growth is an imperative, a 'requirement' as Schmidheiny says. 9 And 'economic growth does not necessarily hurt the environment'. 10 It is synonymous with 'human progress'; 11 in any case it is the answer to growing needs. There are virtually no input limits to economic growth, 12 whereas output problems are not seen as being global in nature. In line with TQM philosophy, they are problems of pollution and waste, i.e. precisely the type of problems industry can deal with. In any case, everything is a matter of efficiency and efficiency is what environmental management is all about: the efficient use of resources and the decrease of pollution, both being challenges for management and technology development. The best way to achieve such efficiency is not government regulations, but open markets, albeit markets that reflect the cost of environmental degradation, i.e. markets that 'internalize externalities'.13 Quite logically, therefore, the solution to all our problems is not to be found in UNCED, but in GATT. Says Schmidheiny: 'Perhaps the most effective way forward is to improve the ability of GATT to minimize trade interferences caused by environmental regulations'.14

New open and competitive markets certainly profit TNCs, especially monopolistic ones. But do open and competitive markets solve the global crisis or, to begin with, reduce use of resources and environmental pollution? In a review called *Changing Course*, the *New Scientist* quotes World Bank economist Herman Daly as saying that in fact competition through a combination of open markets and multinational corporations results in a 'permanent international standard-lowering competition to attract capital. Wages can be lowered as can

### CHANGING WHAT?

be safety standards and environmental standards – all in the name of reducing costs'.  $^{15}$ 

Now, corporations will say that they manufacture in Southern countries because the cost of labour is more competitive and regulations are laxer, which theoretically will profit the consumer. But as Daly says, read lower for competitive. Will the consumer object? From what we know about consumer behaviour, the answer is no. In other words, if the regulations are too strict and the wage costs too expensive, the companies will leave. The consumers will continue to buy, especially in the case of monopolistic TNCs. Therefore, open and competitive markets will not only lead to the lowest common denominator, read lowest environmental standard, but moreover such low environmental standards will retard, if not prevent, the internalization of externalities, i.e. the hope that the market will ever get the price right.

In short, Schmidheiny's book contains two themes, the promotion of environmental management in line with TQM philosophy on the one hand, and a discourse on economic growth, free trade, and open and competitive markets on the other. They are unrelated. Moreover, neither this discourse nor environmental management will help solve the global environmental crisis: if economic growth and open markets lead to more and not less environmental degradation, environmental management will at best slow down resources consumption and pollution. But we suspect that the hidden agenda behind promoting environmental management is not to stem global pollution, but rather to find another competitive advantage in the global marketplace. Says Schmidheiny: 'Yet ultimately we have to accept that a move towards sustainable development will cause far-reaching change in the structures of business and industry; there will be losers and there will be winners'. <sup>16</sup> In this way, UNCED was used by the BCSD, ICC, and many others to present their latest management efforts to stay competitive as being the solution to the global environment and development crisis. By connecting environmental management to economic growth and global trade, they could, moreover, rehabilitate business as a means of environmental protection.

## 'CHANGING LABELS' - A CRITIQUE

It comes as no surprise that, like the EcoFund corporations, the BCSD members are not all environmentally friendly themselves. Among them we have Norsk Hydro AS, Asea Brown Boveri, 3M, Ciba-Geigy AG, Aracruz Celulose SA, Mitsubishi Corp, Shell, du Pont, Tata Industries Ltd, Browning-Ferries Industries, Dow Chemical Company, and others. And that might be one of the reasons why they joined the BCSD to begin with. Mitsubishi, for example, is one of the world's leading destroyers of tropical rainforest, <sup>17</sup> while du Pont Corporation is the inventor and largest producer of ozone-destroying substances, <sup>18</sup> and Brazil's Aracruz Celulose is the world's largest exporter of bleached eucalyptus pulp. <sup>19</sup>

Indeed, we see a certain contradiction between the new environmental vision of the companies which are profiled in the second part of Schmidheiny's book as environmental leaders on the one hand and their actual doings on the other. We will rely here on Greenpeace material which has already highlighted some of these contradictions. Indeed, the BCSD was thwarted somewhat by Greenpeace, which scored two major coups. First, it pre-empted the launching of Changing Course in May 1992 with its own critique a few hours earlier. Then, in Rio, it launched its own book called the Greenpeace Book of Greenwash, 20 a detailed critique of nine of the BCSD corporations, the day before the BCSD had its gala pre-Summit meeting. Finally, on the day of the meeting, several Greenpeace members slipped into the press briefing where Maurice Strong was enjoying a photo-opportunity with Schmidheiny and other BCSD members like Erling Lorentzen, the Norwegian chairman of Aracruz, and Frank Popoff of Dow Chemicals. To their consternation and the amusement of the press, a Greenpeace television reporter announced that, as they spoke, Greenpeace's flagship vessel, the Rainbow Warrior, was blocking Victoria, Aracruz's main export harbour 190 km north of Rio to protest against the BCSD and its takeover of the Summit.<sup>21</sup>

The Greenwash report, prepared by Kenny Bruno, attacks Aracruz for the very example cited in *Changing Course*, i.e. reforesting the Amazon which the book claims taught the company that 'enlightened environmental and social stewardship can be combined with corporate profitability'.<sup>22</sup> The company claims it took over a devastated, unproductive, deforested area and reforested it with highly productive fast-growing eucalyptus that could be harvested every

### CHANGING WHAT?

seven years. Bruno, however, contends that Aracruz's own environmental impact statements show that 30 per cent of the region had regenerated second-growth forests that were cut and replaced with monoculture eucalyptus forests.

Aracruz claims that eucalyptus forests are part of sustainable forest management, but Greenpeace points out that on the contrary eucalyptus monocultures destroy topsoil, water tables, and biodiversity. Aracruz does not mention either that the land it now harvests belonged to the Tupiniquim native peoples and was handed over to Aracruz Celulose by the former military regime. Aracruz used their food production lands to grow timber on. At the press conference launching the 'Greenwash' book, Greenpeace Brazil representative José Augusto Padua said that Aracruz was fined twice the previous year for not complying with environmental laws.

Then Changing Course highlights a Mitsubishi project on sustainable forestry in Malaysia on a laughably small 50-hectare university plot. As Fred Pearce points out in the New Scientist, logging companies in Malaysia annually fell 450,000 hectares of primary forest every year. Another more bizarre attempt at greenwashing includes a comic book distributed to all Japanese high school students that depicts Hino, a fictional Mitsubishi executive, who travels around the world to find out the truth behind the corporation's bad public image and discovers that, far from being the major cause of deforestation, poor peasants are the real problem. 24

One more example will suffice. In *Changing Course* du Pont cites its chief executive officer, Edgar S. Woolard Jr, who took over the company in 1989, as an example of how 'committed leadership from a chief executive can unleash a cascade of environmental improvements throughout the corporation'.<sup>25</sup> In fact, Bruno points out that the company invented and manufactures the largest quantity of CFCs in the world, and is currently believed to be the leading ozone depleter. And in 1989, after the Helsinki declaration ordered the phase-out of the chemical by 1995, du Pont lobbied against a faster phase-out, while two years later its management blocked a resolution from some of its own shareholders to phase out the chemical by 1995. In contrast, *Changing Course* claims that its leadership has been 'precautionary' and 'proactive', because it called for a phase-out of CFCs in 1988 and gave a deadline of the year 2000.

Given what many of the companies highlighted in Schmidheiny's book really do, the book appears as a public relations exercise, a form of greenwash, or

## BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY

as it was said in Rio 'changing labels' as opposed to 'changing course'. Now, such inconsistencies between saying and doing are not in the interests of the companies either, as they throw doubts on their credibility. Of course, the companies will say that they are in the process of changing, that this is only the beginning, and that they will implement environmental management. Besides the fact that, as we have seen, environmental management is not the solution to the global environmental crisis, every single step towards environmental management of TNCs has generally occurred, at least as far as now, in response to outside pressure.

A UNCTC survey conducted specially for the Summit discovered that the BCSD recommendations were quite the opposite of why companies were changing in the first place. <sup>26</sup> Legislation and not self-regulation is generally the driving force behind a change in corporate environmental policy. The UNCTC Corporate Environmental Benchmark Survey says: 'Changes in home countries legislation were cited as the most significant factor in influencing the companies' environmental policies and programmes on a country-wide basis'. Of all companies surveyed by the UNCTC, 59 per cent noted that a change in home country policies provoked a company-wide policy change. A survey conducted by Tufts University in Massachusetts also identified government laws and regulations as the most influential factors in corporate environmental policies.

But the UNCTC and Tufts were not the only ones who found that government agents direct corporate environmental policy. A curious fact was brought to light by Friends of the Earth, which obtained a draft copy of Changing Course and discovered that the BCSD's own research had come up with the same conclusions. Apparently, a survey commissioned from the accounting firm of Deloitte and Touche by the BCSD reported that 'government regulation, either already existing or thought to be on the horizon, was often cited as the most powerful force, encouraging the generation of this type [i.e. environmental] of information'.<sup>27</sup>

On the other hand, international guidelines for corporate behaviour were not very widely used. The UNCTC survey showed that 'over half of the respondents were found not to utilize international guidelines. Many transnationals were unaware of the nature or existence of particular international guidelines'.<sup>28</sup> Of the twelve international guidelines listed, the least frequently followed were UN guidelines (i.e. UNEP, FAO), followed by ICC guidelines

# CHANGING WHAT?

- except in Europe where ICC guidelines were known and followed by quite a number of companies. This and the preceding data indicate that strong national legislation is perhaps the most effective way to shape corporate policy.

There is, indeed, enough evidence to support the contention that almost all changes towards environmental management were initiated by some sort of governmental regulation. For example, industry said that 'market based incentives' were a substitute for regulation that would help keep the environment clean. Many of the big NGOs have fallen for this line. Thus, GM says that a system of 'pollution credits' is a market incentive, because it gives corporations the right to trade pollution 'rights'. If we think of this as a market-led incentive, then we believe that we simply need to allow the market to correct itself or perhaps help correct itself. Yet the reason that companies start trading pollution 'credits' or 'rights' is because of government regulation, in this case the US Clean Air Act of 1990 which they fought tooth and nail but which now forces them to reduce or face fines. We should not forget that the real force of change in the past has been legislation, i.e. government interventions and, most importantly, public accountability. And this is most likely going to be true also of 'full-cost pricing' and 'environmental reporting', the two suggestions of self-regulation made by Schmidheiny.

The problem, however, is not necessarily TNCs. The problem lies in the fact that any organization will want to control the very forces that try to limit and shape its activities. This is especially true of big multinational corporations, which actually do have the power to influence the very processes by which they are regulated. The UNCED is a perfect illustration of this: it had the potential to regulate global business and industry, especially TNCs, since industrial development, at least in the beginning, was seen as causing global environmental problems. But the BCSD, with the aid of the UNCED secretariat, made sure that this would not happen.

Governments were, indeed, offered alternative ideas on business, industry, environment and development, drawn up by the UN itself. These alternatives were elaborated at the suggestion of another UN body, ECOSOC, which commissioned the UNCTC to draft a set of recommendations for the regulation of multinationals. The G-77 block of Southern countries asked that these ideas also be taken to the New York PrepCom. Harris Gleckman of the UNCTC helped draft and redraft ideas to make them acceptable to the secretariat, but was reduced to lobbying individual governments at the New

## BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY

York fourth PrepCom, when the secretariat displayed little interest. After intensive lobbying, some governments like the Swedish and the group of 77 Southern countries did agree to take up the UNCTC proposals, but they were defeated by the big powers, the USA and Britain in particular, during the government negotiations. At the same time, according to Greenpeace, the ICC was actively lobbying the Swedish government in Stockholm to withdraw the call for TNCs to internalize environmental costs in their accounting and reporting processes. At this point, UNCTC was fighting a last-ditch battle because only weeks before the New York PrepCom Dr Boutros-Ghali, the new UN Secretary-General, had cut the ground from under its feet by axing the department.

The UNCTC suggestions were completely ignored both by Maurice Strong's secretariat and Stephan Schmidheiny. In fact, Schmidheiny told the authors at a press conference in Rio that the UNCTC proposals for regulation were no concern of his.

# CONCLUSION

The UNCED process in general and the Rio Conference in particular were a unique platform for the Business Council and the International Chamber of Commerce to present their view. It is a view of a particular management philosophy, accompanied by an overall apology for the free market, a view that proposes self-regulation at a time when governments' legislative authority and legitimation are being eroded. We have seen how this became the dominant view at Rio, and will probably remain so for a certain time to come. But to conclude, we offer a critique of this view, as we believe it will aggravate, not alleviate, the global environmental and developmental crisis.

Given that this view is rooted in TQM management philosophy, the environmental challenge from the perspective of a company is basically a problem of efficiency. The company must be made eco-efficient. What contributes to this is more efficient management, more efficient organization, a cultural change in the organization, and of course technological improvements. The environmental problem, at the company level, is thus redefined as a technical problem. This is furthered by the focus on more efficient resource use and better pollution control. There is an underlying assumption, in

# CHANGING WHAT?

Schmidheiny's book and elsewhere, that the most efficient company does not pollute. By extrapolation, Schmidheiny seems to believe that economic growth can be 'decoupled' from environmental impact.<sup>29</sup> We oppose this view of techno-efficiency for three reasons.

First, technology and efficiency are a means, not an end. Elevating efficiency and technological solutions to become the goal itself, as Schmidheiny does, will fail, because it promotes a technocratic management approach to a problem – the global crisis – which is not fundamentally technical in nature. We therefore differ from Schmidheiny in the very assessment of the crisis: in our view, this crisis is the result of the industrial civilization, whose origin can be traced back to the Scientific Revolution of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries in Europe. Trying to solve the crisis with the very tools that created its origins will only accelerate the problem. Rather than ever-better technology, everbetter management on an ever-more-global scale and at an ever-faster pace, in our view the way out is to slow and to scale down. The direction to go is deindustrialization, while building up local and regional communities to manage their own socio-economic activities and resources. Moving in this direction implies a collective learning process which is not primarily a matter of efficiency.

Second, we oppose this technological eco-efficiency solution on cultural grounds. If this eco-efficiency approach makes perfect sense at a company level, where it will certainly lead to increased competitiveness, it will, however, at best slow down the acceleration of global environmental degradation on a planetary scale, but not reverse it. Moreover, on a societal level it is counterproductive. The reason is that eco-efficiency is a Northern approach. It is an approach particularly geared to reducing pollution problems for which there are indeed technological solutions. But in the South environment and development problems are of a different nature. There are, of course, pollution problems in the South as well, but these have been imported by the North and Northern industries. The primary problems in the South are resources problems. By this we mean problems of access, control, participation, and governance of natural resources at local and regional levels. And this is primarily an equity and not a technological issue. By declaring the ecoefficiency approach to be universal and exporting it to the South, Schmidheiny, the BCSD, the ICC, and UNCED are guilty of ethnocentrism, in addition to promoting inadequate solutions.

## BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY

Third, we oppose this eco-efficiency approach because by promoting ecoefficiency planetwide, accompanied by the call for open competitive markets and full-cost pricing, an economic rationality is being extended to everything that previously had social, cultural, and natural values attached. Everything nature, culture, beliefs, and values - will have a price tag and will be judged on whether or not they contribute to eco-efficiency. The planet-wide extension of economic rationality under the cover of eco-efficiency will therefore further cultural destruction and erosion. It will promote the ideology of rational choice with the self-interested individual at its core, and destroy the remaining cultural restraints on individualism. It will destroy the local by imposing upon it a global market rationality. It will eventually wipe out the very cultural forces from which ways out of the present crisis could eventually emerge. In short, the price of global eco-efficiency, imposed by the planet-wide extension of economic rationality through open and competitive markets, will be further cultural erosion. The cultural consequences of this evolution are difficult to assess but certainly go in the direction of growing individualism and fundamentalism. Even if eco-efficiency were a solution to our environment and development problems, it would probably have to be rejected because its cultural consequences are so disastrous that it is not worth the price.

UNCED and its reference to a planetary urgency was invoked by Schmidheiny, the BCSD, Strong, many governments, especially in the North, and even NGOs such as IUCN and WRI to promote global eco-efficiency, further economic growth, universal economic rationality and open competitive markets as the answer to the environment and development problems as they see them. After UNCED, this discourse and view are now dominant. The BCSD has significantly contributed to legitimizing this view, thus promoting a new global reality where environment and development problems are supposed to be solved. Establishing this global reality as a legitimate one has allowed business and industry, especially TNCs, to free themselves from government control – under which they certainly were at the national levels – and become legitimate global agents. At best, the governments are now partners of business and industry in this overall global environmental management scheme, a fact that was further cemented in the Rio financial and institutional arrangements.

# Part IV

# FINANCE AND INSTITUTIONS

This final part will deal with the UNCED outcomes and follow-ups, which were separated at UNCED into a financial and an institutional aspect. It was at the fourth PrepCom in New York that the issue of the follow-up to the much anticipated Rio agreements on climate change, biodiversity and Agenda 21 came to the fore. Days before the PrepCom started, Maurice Strong kicked off the discussions by telling reporters that a lot of new money would be needed to finance the draft plans for saving the planet. He said that the secretariat estimated that it would cost US\$125 billion a year in new aid between 1992 and the year 2000 for Southern countries to clean up their environment, US\$70 billion more than the current global total of bilateral and multilateral 'aid' that was being sent to the South. When a Reuters correspondent asked how much the total cost would be - aid plus local financing - Maurice Strong said perhaps US\$600 billion a year. There were of course some gasps. Others in New York at the time, like the British minister for trade and industry, Michael Heseltine, questioned the likelihood of anything near that sum being raised, although cynics pointed to the fact that as much was spent on the previous year's Gulf War. Parallel to these 'finance' discussions, governments also began serious talk of a monitoring mechanism for the Rio agreements, which they called the 'institutions' discussions.

As we have pointed out all along in this book, the global environmental crisis was being reframed through UNCED as a development problem, development essentially being needed in the South. Be it in the Brundtland report or in Schmidheiny's book, the solution to the global environmental problems is said to be efficiency, i.e. technology and investment in technological progress as well as

in economic growth in the South. In other words, solving the global environmental crisis basically boils down to a matter of money. By the fourth PrepCom in New York, governments had come to agree on this. Jamsheed Marker, head of Pakistan's delegation to the summit and the chairman of G-77, said: 'What we want is a credible commitment on financial resources so that we do not leave Rio with a mere statement of good intentions and wait to see how it is going to be implemented.' And his partners in the wealthy North agreed. Curtis Bohlen, head of the US delegation, said in New York: 'The US accepts that if the world is to fully achieve sustainable development, industrialized countries must generate new and additional financial resources.'

Global environmental problems now turned into the question of how this money was going to be found and allocated. This question became the source of much contention between the countries of the North, which were viewed as the source of money and wanted to retain control of it through institutions that they controlled like the World Bank, and countries of the South, which were viewed as the recipients of the money and wanted an equal say in its distribution, perhaps through new institutions. Two weeks after the end of the New York talks, a meeting of 'eminent persons' was called in Tokyo by the former Japanese prime minister, Noburo Takeshita. Officially it was a private meeting, but unofficially it was set up by Maurice Strong's conference secretariat and according to senior members of the secretariat everybody was there with the approval of their home governments. The purpose was to iron out the massive disagreements on finance and get some commitments. Among those involved in the last minute negotiations were former US President Jimmy Carter, and former World Bank presidents Barber Conable and Robert McNamara. Also included were the finance ministers from Brazil and Pakistan, Marcilio Moreira and Sartaj Aziz (the conference host and the spokesperson for Southern countries respectively), as well as the heads of the African and Asian Development Banks. At the meeting itself the 'eminent persons' said that they thought US\$10 billion was essential to get the ball rolling and that this could be financed through new economic instruments.

However, a month and a half later in Rio there were few commitments on additional money. The Rio speeches of some were spiced with slightly vague but tantalising offers of new aid as a precondition for 'sustainable development'. British Prime Minister John Major told his peers in Rio that 'Britain will mobilize its aid programme to back Agenda 21' and that 'money is the root

of all progress'. Chancellor Helmut Kohl's plenary speech called on the industrialized nations to help developing nations and said he aimed to increase German aid to reach the UN target of 0.7 per cent of their GNP. US President George Bush declared in his speech in Rio that developing countries 'will need assistance in pursuing . . . cleaner growths' and announced that Washington would increase its funding for international environmental initiatives by twothirds. In terms of actual money, however, independent estimates figured that heads of state had promised US\$2 billion extra in aid for the South. This was peanuts compared to the US\$70 billion that Maurice Strong's secretariat had estimated needed to be spent. Although governments were not ready to commit themselves to anything near this sum, they did indicate how they would channel new money. They agreed in principle that the money should be delivered through the new Global Environmental Facility (GEF), the International Development Agency (IDA) at the World Bank, and through bilateral aid between individual Northern and Southern governments. Rich countries were supposed to try to bring this level of aid up to 0.7 per cent of their GNP. We deal with the financial aspect of the Rio follow-up in the next chapter.

At Rio the 'means' – i.e. the money – was separated from the 'substance' – i.e. the institutional follow-up. Governments agreed to set up an UN Commission on Sustainable Development (UNCSD or CSD) to monitor their decisions and make recommendations on financing the agreements. But they were unable to agree on the precise details of how the Commission would work and eventually decided to leave that for the UN General Assembly later in the year. These institutional aspects of the UNCED follow-up are dealt with in chapter 10.



# CAN MONEY SAVE THE WORLD?

It was not mainstream thinking only that focused on money during Rio. Money was also what the Southern élite wanted. Indeed, as McCoy and McCully say: 'Although they initially saw the "environment" element of UNCED as a threat to their "right to develop", Southern governments soon realized how the North's stated environmental concerns might be used to extract economic concessions'. Lobbying from Third World NGOs, especially the TWN, played a major role in persuading their governments of the advantages of this strategy, which was supported by most Northern NGOs. The Third World NGOs also played an important role in getting Southern governments to adopt a common negotiating position under the umbrella of G-77. China, which is not a member of G-77, normally supported the G-77 position. The G-77's arguments were summed up by its chairman, Ambassador Jamsheed K.A. Marker of Pakistan, who told the fourth and final PrepCom that 'the major cause of the continuing deterioration of the global environment is the unsustainable pattern of production and consumption, particularly in the industrialized countries', and that therefore 'developed countries must provide the major part of the resources required for sustainable development'. The 'sustainable development' of the Third World should be paid for by the unsustainable development of the First.

The Northern governments, of course, did not publicly refute this call for money and financial aid, because it suited their thinking as well as their agenda. In line with Brundtland's and Schmidheiny's view that economic growth and eco-efficiency were going to solve the problems, the North's main strategy during the UNCED process was never to raise the question of the unsustainability of industrial development. Keeping the media and NGOs

focused on Southern demands for aid and technology transfer helped convey the message that environmental problems occurred mainly in the Third World and were caused by poverty, overpopulation, a lack of Western capital, management and technology, and insufficient application of currently fashionable Western economic theory. What is more, combining the threats posed by the poor Third World masses and the global environmental problems meant that a security syndrome was being created: the global environmental crisis became, at least for the North, a security issue, and when security is involved, the traditional problem-solving mechanisms are never questioned. Although they got little new money, Southern élites, like those in the North, benefited from the 'aid for sustainable development' and 'environmental security' arguments. Both helped distract from those showing that the only answer to the global crisis lay in profound structural changes, accompanied by deindustrialization and demilitarization. Groups and movements demanding agrarian reform, local control over resources, an end to large scale development projects, greater participation in decision-making, and a restructuring of global trade and finance were sidelined by the focus on the financial needs of Third World governments.

# THE RIO CHEQUEBOOK

At or just after the Rio Summit, the World Bank and UNDP were the major sources of the new 'sustainable development' finance available. But as we have mentioned earlier, there was a lot of talk of new forms of bilateral aid at the Summit itself and if that funding does take off it could be equivalent to or even larger than the multilateral funding.

The USA was probably the first to come up with concrete commitments of bilateral money when, at the beginning of the New York talks in March 1992, it promised US\$150 million over two years for Southern countries to study their emissions of global warming. In Rio the USA also promised another US\$150 million for a 'forests for the future' initiative, an increase of US\$217 million a year in overall environmental aid, and the Canadians promised an additional US\$115 million a year. Then, the Japanese brought along the largest offer of new environmental aid, some US\$500 million a year.

Some of the other promises appeared like public relations efforts to grab

## CAN MONEY SAVE THE WORLD?

favourable headlines that had little domestic backing. The EC promised an increase of US\$800 million in environmental assistance at Rio, conditional on the approval of its twelve member governments. We have already quoted John Major as saying that he would back Agenda 21 financially. Promises like those of Canadian Prime Minister Brian Mulroney were also suspect. In Rio Mulroney announced a contribution of US\$10 million to develop models of 'rational forest use in developing countries, based on Canadian principles'.³ But Canadian NGO representatives at Rio like François Coutu of the UN Association in Ottawa say that 'rational forest use' in Canada consists of clearcutting huge areas of old growth forests, which is bitterly opposed by Canadian conservationists and indigenous peoples.<sup>4</sup>

At the same time the promises of new and additional money were threatened by recession. Months after Rio, the British Conservative government was planning to cut the following year's foreign aid budget by up to 270 million pounds sterling (US\$437 million) or 25 per cent of its 1991 budget. And the EC was planning to slash its budget by £95 million (US\$136 million). While governments insist that this new money will eventually come through, NGOs were expressing fears that the new money was simply replacing old aid. At the time many pointed out that despite the new programmes, as a rule aid money was becoming harder to get. Whether or not new bilateral money will actually be found remains to be seen. Let us now turn to the international institutional aspects of financial aid.

# THE WORLD BANK

At the fourth PrepCom in New York, the G-77, following a lead from China (which is not a member of the group), wanted to create a new Green Fund to administer the financing of the Rio agreements. Each nation, rich or poor, donor or recipient, would have one vote on the Fund's activities. But donor countries refused to agree. As early as March, US President Bush voiced the opinion of most Northern leaders in saying that the GEF, the Global Environmental Facility, should be the 'primary vehicle' for any new money. Simultaneously, Michael Heseltine, the British trade and industry minister, relayed the same message from the British government.

The GEF had been established at a meeting in Paris in November 1990 to

'provide grants on concessional funding for technical assistance, preinvestment and investment projects and related activities in developing countries' in the fields of energy efficiency, foresting management, preservation of ecological diversity, water pollution, and protection of the ozone layer.<sup>5</sup> The GEF is a joint project of the World Bank and the two UN agencies, UNDP and UNEP. It is administered and controlled by the World Bank, which in turn is controlled by rich donor countries like the USA. The World Bank itself, which was merely an observer at the Summit process – it is not a UN agency although it is closely linked to the UN – was more than happy to take on this burden. Its president, Lewis Preston, told finance ministers at the Bank's 1992 spring meeting that developing countries would need more aid to meet the environmental goals agreed at the Summit. This aid, Preston said, should flow through development agencies 'with a proven track record in promoting development, reducing poverty, and protecting the environment' - meaning the Bank. And at Rio the GEF was made the 'interim' financing agency for the biodiversity and climate change treaties signed in Rio, as it was already the financing agency of the so-called Multilateral Fund or Ozone Fund, which was established under the Montreal Protocol to protect the ozone layer. We present the GEF in more detail in the next chapter.

The World Bank is actually four agencies run by their member countries who put up capital to lend or guarantee loans to other member countries and the private sector. Its principal agency is the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), which was set up at a post Second World War meeting in July 1944 in Bretton Woods, New Hampshire, USA, to help finance the restoration of war-battered Europe. At this meeting two other institutions were planned under the auspices of the IBRD, namely the International Monetary Fund, which is supposed to help stabilize exchange rates, and the International Trade Organization (ITO) to set world trade rules. The latter was never set up, but an informal talking shop called the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) has taken its place and is still trying to formalize the ITO's existence. Collectively, the three are called the Bretton Woods institutions. The three other World Bank agencies are the International Finance Corporation, the International Development Agency (IDA), and the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA). The International Finance Corporation was set up in 1956 and now has 145 members. It lends directly to the private sector and can even buy shares in companies. It also plays a role

# CAN MONEY SAVE THE WORLD?

in developing stock markets in Southern countries. Its 1991 loans totalled US\$2.9 billion. The IDA was set up in 1960 and now has 140 members. It makes interest-free loans to the 'poorest' countries, which have to be paid back over 35 to 40 years after a 10-year period of grace. Its 1991 loans totalled US\$6.3 billion for countries with a per capita income of US\$1,195 or less. MIGA was set up in 1988 and has seventy-eight members. It spent US\$922 million in 1991 to protect investors against nationalization or war, which commercial insurers refuse to cover.

According to its own literature, the IBRD - which had 156 member countries in early 1992 - now makes loans to Southern countries and the former Soviet bloc 'to help reduce poverty and to finance investments that contribute to economic growth. Investments include roads, power plants, schools, and irrigation networks, as well as activities like agricultural extension services, training for teachers and nutrition-improvement programs for children and pregnant women. Some World Bank loans finance changes in the structure of countries' economies to make them more stable, efficient and market-oriented. The World Bank also provides "technical assistance", or expert advice, to help governments make specific sectors of their economies more efficient and relevant to national development goals'. Its loans totalled US\$16.4 billion in 1991. The IBRD is therefore one of the biggest 'aid' donors to Southern countries alongside the 'aid' from the USA and Japan. Currently the biggest contributors are the USA (18.02 per cent), Japan (7.82 per cent), Germany (6.04 per cent), France and Britain (5.79 per cent each). Activists commonly call this system the 'one dollar, one vote' system. In addition, according to longstanding custom, the Bank's president is nominated by the USA and is a US citizen.

The activities of the World Bank group have been roundly condemned by development and environment activists. The major critics say that they are undemocratic because the donors have control while communities are not consulted about projects in their neighborhoods, that Bank loans are based on economic considerations alone ignoring other impacts such as environmental and cultural effects, that its plans and reports are not open to public scrutiny, and finally that the loans benefit the donor countries and rich élites in the Southern countries.<sup>8</sup>

There are problems even by the Bank's own standards. In mid-1992 a report was prepared by a special high level Portfolio Management Taskforce which

reported directly to the Bank's president. Willi Wapenhans, the chairman of the taskforce, submitted his draft recommendations after meeting with a number of policy-makers from borrowing countries and reviewing about 1,800 current Bank projects in 113 countries for which the Bank had lent US\$138 billion. Entitled 'Effective Implementation: Key to Development Impact' and marked confidential, his report calculated that over a third of World Bank projects completed in 1991 were judged failures by the Bank's own staff, a dramatic 150 per cent rise in failures over the previous ten years. Specifically the Wapenhans review noted that 37.5 per cent of the projects completed in 1991 were deemed failures, up from 15 per cent in 1981 and 30.5 per cent in 1989. Bank staff also said that 30 per cent of projects in their fourth or fifth year of implementation in 1991 had major problems. The worst affected sectors were water supply and sanitation, where 43 per cent of the projects were said to have major problems, and the agriculture sector with 42 per cent.

But let us look at two specific areas of World Bank financing energy and forestry – as they are an integral part of the climate change and the biodiversity treaties signed at Rio and therefore likely to be managed by the GEF. A report prepared for the Summit by Greenpeace noted that the World Bank is the largest source of energy finance worldwide, lending billions of dollars for projects that increase the consumption of fossil fuels such as coal, gas, and oil that directly contribute to global warming. 10 Yet at the same time the Bank has no policy on global warming – its own 1991 reports indicated that it spent a mere 1 per cent of energy sector lending on energy efficiency, most of which was spent on studies. Interestingly, these studies showed that in Brazil and India as much as half of the projected new power demands could be met by energy efficiency and conservation practices. But what was the Bank itself doing? In the fiscal year ending in 1991, out of every five dollars that the Bank spent on energy, two were spent on gas and oil and eighty cents were spent on coal development. And in the five years leading up to 1996, the Bank was expected to spend over US\$2.2 billion on gas and oil development and US\$1.2 billion on coal development. 11

Our second example is forestry. Between the time of its creation and 1992, the Bank financed eighty forestry projects worth over US\$2.3 billion, on top of which it had paid for other projects such as road and dam construction which have also had a significant impact on forests. Many of these have resulted in significant deforestation and environmental damage. In 1978 the Bank began

## CAN MONEY SAVE THE WORLD?

to draft a forestry policy, which included what it called 'social forestry' which would benefit local communities and decrease deforestation. This policy, which was known as the Tropical Forest Action Plan (TFAP), was carried out with the help of the FAO and the UNDP. According to the FAO, the aim of these projects is to:

raise the standard of living of the rural dweller to involve him in the decision making process which affects his very existence and to transform him into a dynamic citizen capable of contributing to a wider range of activities than he was used to and of which he will be the direct beneficiary.<sup>12</sup>

In fact, according to Vandana Shiva of the Third World Network, who conducted an analysis of the TFAP published by the World Rainforest Movement, the Plan had exactly the opposite effect:

it takes forestry away from the control of communities and makes it a capital-intensive, externally controlled activity. It totally neglects the economics of tribal and peasant life based on natural forests and food production and focuses exclusively on the economics and production of commercial wood.<sup>13</sup>

Shiva makes three conclusions from her study of the TFAP. It fails to take into account the fact that international development financing is a cause of forest destruction, but rather puts the blame on the poor. As we have seen in the previous chapter, they do have a role, but only because development financing has forced them to that point. Second, she says that TFAP is based on the investment returns for commercial timber, and puts control in the hands of external commercial interests. Finally, it does not take into account the rights of indigenous peoples who have taken care of and depended on these forests for centuries. Because of the increasing opposition from activists and the obvious deforestation effects of TFAP and other Bank lending, the World Bank had its policy redrafted at the end of the 1980s by the World Resources Institute. But the new policy was still heavily criticized by activists. 14

In short, the World Bank is clearly a development agency which has its origins in the Post-War ideology of unlimited economic growth. Growth is put before social and environmental costs. Later on, efforts are made to minimize these costs, rather than the Bank realizing that these effects may be symptoms of a larger problem with the original economic growth policies. Had the policy-makers looked at the root causes of poverty and environmental

degradation, such as the inequitable distribution of wealth, and the destruction of habitat and natural resources that poor people are dependent on, they might have realized that the environment and social issues are key factors, if not more important than economic growth. The question is whether an institution like the World Bank, whose primary mission was and still is economic growth and industrial development, is the most appropriate organization to manage the money that is supposed to lead to a more sustainable development. We, for our part, have serious doubts. Yet, beyond the institutional question, there is a profounder question of whether financial aid — be it multilateral or bilateral — is an appropriate answer to the global crisis to begin with.

# AIDING THE NORTH

Previously, we have argued that focusing on money as a means of dealing with the global environmental crisis is at best inappropriate, as the problems are not of a technical or economic nature. Money is invested in further economic growth, which will only exacerbate the global environmental crisis. We would like to introduce here yet another argument, namely the fact that aid increases South—North inequity and thus promotes the exploitation and destruction of natural resources.

Indeed, it is often not mentioned that most aid, environmental or other, is repayable with interest. So that Uganda, for example, has to pay the World Bank back the money that it borrowed plus interest. Given that only a sixth of Bank projects in Uganda were actually successful because of the combined bungling of the Bank, aid agencies, and implementers, it is getting a mighty poor deal and little opportunity to find the money to pay back the loans.

At the end of the 1990s, the combined debt of poor countries was estimated at US\$1 trillion. The net outflow of money from these countries to pay back this debt was quoted at US\$39 billion in the year between 1 July 1987 and 30 June 1988. The World Bank estimates that it makes a profit of about US\$1.1 billion a year (figures as of 1987), and this despite the fact that many countries did not pay back their debts. <sup>15</sup> Most of this money stems from the exploitation of natural resources, which goes hand in hand with environmental degradation and destruction. In the future we can expect financial outflows and thus environmental degradation to increase.

# CAN MONEY SAVE THE WORLD?

The purpose of most loans and of many grants is to generate profit for the donor country and its industries. This holds true even more for bilateral than for multilateral aid. Indeed, aid often pays for large projects such as the ones we have described above which largely sustain Northern construction contractors at the expense of the South's environment and poor communities. Studies of British and US aid show that these projects reap the most benefits not for the recipient country but for the donor country. 16 Vandana Shiva quotes J. Johnston, the US deputy assistant secretary of state in the Bureau of Economic and Business Affairs, as testifying to the US Congress in 1978 that for every dollar that his country paid into the multilateral development banks, \$3 in business for US companies was generated. 17 Likewise, the British Overseas Development Administration has pointed out that for every pound that the government puts into the multilateral banks, it makes a 20 per cent profit. 18 For example, in 1985 Britain 'gave' Southern countries £531 million. But on the back of this 'aid' British companies won £637.2 million in contracts. 19

Much of the profit generated from aid stems not simply from the lucrative construction contracts for building roads, dams and factories, but also from the commodities and labour exploited as a result of this new infrastructure. Japanese aid agencies, for example, pay to develop Malaysian fisheries because Japanese consumers want to buy fish, not to feed local people. Hong Kong companies invest in Sri Lankan textile factories because they want to profit from cheap labour. All this is part of the new free trade environment where goods are produced in the South for consumption in the North. This point was brought home to one of these authors when visiting the US embassy in San Salvador, El Salvador. The USAID deputy chief agreed to answer our questions. He was asked what return US taxpayers could expect for the US\$1 billion in aid that their government had given to El Salvador. The official replied: "The purpose of our aid is to get them to buy American products'.<sup>20</sup>

Why do Japanese aid agencies, for example, ignore the plight of local peoples? Because the aid is not for them, it is for Japanese industry and consumers, and it is to these they are listening. Japanese aid officers do not solicit the opinion of local peoples, let alone even spend much time at the project sites. Of the estimated 6,000 aid staff, fewer than 5 per cent are actually based overseas. Instead they are in Tokyo, where they are listening to Japanese corporations which are bidding for the contracts. And not surprisingly

this very same corporate sector played a significant role in encouraging governments to invest in more aid. In fact, the co-host of the 'eminent persons' Meeting on Financing Global Environment and Development convened in Tokyo by the Summit secretariat in April 1992 was none other than Keidanren, the federation of Japanese businesses, which had much to gain.

And having profited from construction and other development contracts handed over to Northern companies and from cheap labour, the North then profits again from the artificially low prices of Southern natural resources, largely due to the fact that the South is forced to sell its environmental assets in order to pay back the loans and interests that were given to it by the North in order to do all this. There is no reason and no argument why the mechanism we have described here will be any different when it comes to 'sustainable development' projects, as opposed simply to 'development' projects. The only thing that will be sustainable, we are afraid, is the very mechanism we have just described.

It can be argued that it is useful to have two institutions ensuring the follow-up of the UNCED process. One institution, the GEF, would deal with the financial aspects of the follow-up, while the other one, the Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD), would deal with the political aspects. Common sense would call for the political institution to oversee the financial one. However, it turns out that these institutions have no relationship. The GEF is an initiative of the World Bank, which not only wanted a piece of the UNCED cake, but moreover needed to address environmental concerns for internal reasons, attacked as it was by environmental activists. Establishing the GEF was its answer to this challenge. On the other hand, the CSD is the more logical institutional follow-up of UNCED. However, with the financial aspects being dealt with by GEF, the CSD has little power left. The official reason for this separation is that the GEF is dealing with the environmental conventions - climate change, biodiversity, ozone convention, plus all future conventions - while the CSD is dealing with the follow-up of Agenda 21. In this chapter we critically analyse both these institutional outcomes of UNCED, the GEF and the CSD. Finally, we also mention the Earth Council, the post-UNCED vehicle for 'people power' as Maurice Strong likes to see it.

# THE GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL FACILITY

In 1987 UNDP commissioned the World Resources Institute (WRI) to study the conclusions of the Brundtland Commission, which said that there was a

serious lack of funding for conservation projects and strategies which improve the resource base for development. WRI came up with the idea of a financing facility to pay for environmental treaties. In September 1989, at the joint World Bank–IMF annual meeting (and in the wake of the Montreal Protocol on ozone depleting substances), the French government with backing from the Germans suggested that the Bank set up the Global Environmental Facility (GEF). The Bank invited UNDP and UNEP to a meeting with seventeen donor countries in Paris in March 1990, where an agreement was forged. Interestingly, the GEF was subsequently headed by one of WRI's senior analysts, Mohammed El-Ashry, who left WRI to take over the Bank's environment department.

The GEF's formal existence began in November 1990 as a three-year joint pilot project of the Bank, UNDP, and UNEP. Donor countries pledged US\$861.4 million to the GEF's core fund, US\$350.1 million in co-financing (Japan, Australia, Belgium, Canada, and Switzerland), and parallel financing. The existing US\$200 million in the Montreal Protocol was included in the accounting, rounding off the initial pool at US\$1.411 billion. GEF projects were invited in four areas - to tackle emissions of greenhouse gases, deal with ozone-destroying chemicals, protect biodiversity, or reduce pollution of international rivers. Projects had to be in countries with a per capita income of less than US\$4,000 a year and the project had to deal with an international problem rather than merely with a local one. At the third meeting in April 1992 in Washington, DC, participants were asked to consider extending the four categories of schemes that then qualified for GEF money to cover other anticipated treaties. The new categories were combating the spread of deserts and tackling land-based forms of marine pollution, both of which were expected to and actually did feature quite strongly in initiatives proposed at the Earth Summit. By the fourth GEF meeting in December 1992 a total of seventy projects had been approved for US\$584 million in financing. The GEF estimated at that point that 47 per cent of the core fund money had been earmarked for biodiversity, 36 per cent for global warming and 17 per cent for international waters.

In its next phase – the so-called GEF II – core funding will double or triple (US\$2.8–4.2 billion), and the GEF will officially become the permanent funding mechanism for environmental conventions. This means that the GEF will have established itself as a new organization, despite the insistence of

mainly Northern countries at the fourth PrepCom in New York that no new institutions should result from UNCED. But what exactly is this institution about?

The emergence and the nature of the GEF is probably best understood in terms of organizational dynamics. Indeed, in the second half of the 1980s the World Bank came under heavy attack from environmentalists. In response, the Bank created a new institution within itself, called the Environment Department. This department built itself up from two professional staff to 140 between 1987 and 1992, to the point where it had more environmental professionals than even UNEP itself. In fact, like the GEF that followed, the Environment Department was obviously built up to take over the new environmental agenda. Yet the new department was an afterthought, an addition to compensate for past failures, not to reset the agenda that created the problems in the first place. Even more than the Environment Department of the Bank, the GEF took advantage of the new opportunities that presented themselves because of the UNCED process. We have shed light on its emergence above.

But at the Earth Summit, the idea of using the GEF for post-Rio funding came under severe attack from Southern countries and NGOs because of the control wielded over it by the World Bank, against which they had been waging a long struggle. The way the GEF answered these challenges was by admitting to the various criticisms, without, however, fundamentally changing the nature of its activity, i.e. financing development projects. First of all, it made all its documents available to the public. Second, it consulted NGOs on each and every project, and even offered to pay for some of the NGOs' own projects. Finally, it offered Southern countries an equal say in its decision-making. And, of course, two other 'non NGO hostile' UN agencies were supposedly equal partners, so the World Bank would not control any of the decisions.

Let us start with the way the GEF handles Southern governments. When the GEF was set up, its agenda was dominated by the rich donor nations. Subsequently nine Southern countries — Brazil, China, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Mexico, Morocco, Pakistan, and Turkey — were invited to take part in the decision-making. They were also required to pay in US\$5 million to be able to vote — half of this money could be provided by the Bank if the country did not have the ready cash. When it was pointed out that donor countries still outnumbered Southern countries after the second participants' meeting in

Geneva in December 1991, the number of participants was increased to thirty-two at the third meeting in April 1992 in Washington, DC, so half of the members were now Southern countries. Decisions were taken by consensus, and although there were no major disagreements up to that point, it was obvious that this would not last for too long. At its fourth meeting in Abidjan, Ivory Coast, the Bank reviewed a dozen proposals on voting structure. According to Ian Johnson, the GEF administrator at the Bank, they favoured one proposal that would allow for majority voting in the absence of a consensus, with the caveat that two-thirds of donor countries would have to vote on the motion. The most recent proposal is that there should be two tiers of voting. An administrative board of thirty members from thirty constituencies with geographic balance would vote the first time. The second vote would be weighed by dollars or both the North and the South would have veto power.

Though the GEF has moved away from the 'one dollar – one vote' principle of the Bank, the North will retain control. As a matter of fact, at the fifth meeting of the members of the GEF held in Beijing in May 1993, the proposals of the G-77 countries on the governance of the GEF funds were quite similar to those of the donor countries, probably because the South had received assurance on additional finance. Says Mohammed El-Ashry, the Director of the GEF: 'There was a new tone of cooperation at the meeting'.<sup>3</sup>

Not only Southern governments, but also NGOs are increasingly finding it easy to cooperate with the GEF in mutually productive ways. To begin with, the GEF managers had invited NGOs to the second participants' meeting in Geneva in December 1991. This meeting failed, even in the opinion of the GEF itself, because fewer than half of the participating countries showed up to meet representatives of forty-five NGOs, half of which were from the Southern countries. But at the third meeting in Washington, DC, the GEF extended personal invitations to (and offered to pay all of their costs) more NGO representatives including two of their strongest critics, Martin Khor and Vandana Shiva of the Third World Network. Unfortunately the meeting coincided with the big Southern countries' pre-Summit strategy meeting in Kuala Lumpur and neither of them was able to go.

In order to improve planning for this and future consultations with NGOs, the GEF set up a joint GEF/NGO taskforce in September 1992. In addition to the GEF's implementing agencies, the taskforce included four Washington-

based NGOs (WWF, IUCN, the Environmental Defense Fund, and the Bank's Information Center). However, recently the Committee broke up and only IUCN remains as a consulting agency with the GEF. NGOs were even offered the opportunity to implement or consult on GEF projects and, better still, the GEF offered to pay for some of these projects. This GEF/NGO cooperation, again, seems to profit the big Northern NGOs which will be the only ones to have a say in GEF. Already, according to Charles Abugre, a Ghanaian economist for the Accra-based Agency for Coordination and Development (ACORD) who also works for the TWN, WWF is the NGO most often consulted on GEF projects. As we have seen, there is no risk that the big Northern environmental NGOs' views will be radically different from the views of the GEF managers. As in the overall UNCED process, this process of establishing the GEF will have led to the further cooptation of the already quite mainstreamed NGOs (e.g. WWF, IUCN, and the Big 10), as well as to the fragmentation of the rest of the Green movement.

This also means that the GEF prevents itself from learning and transforming. Though it will take into account some concerns of Southern élites and big Northern environmental NGOs, the GEF will essentially be an agency which finances and manages projects related to environmental conventions. But they are development projects none the less. The Bank will exert major control, and it could well be that the function of the GEF turns out to be very similar to the function of its Environment Department, i.e. 'a Green add-on'. Indeed, despite the supposed equality of the three participating agencies — the Bank, UNDP, and UNEP — the actual day-to-day administration of the GEF itself is conducted by the World Bank. Both the chairman and the administrator are Bank employees, although theoretically the chairmanship is supposed to rotate among the agencies.

And there is also the matter of financing: in terms of project allocation, the Bank gets two-thirds of all the project money, UNDP gets the remaining third, while UNEP has no projects at all. Weighed by numbers of projects, fully two-thirds of the World Bank's projects are actually tied to its own investment projects of the kind we have criticized in the previous chapter, such as large dams, forestry projects, and the like. According to estimates provided to us in April 1992 by Charles Feinstein, operations officer for the Bank's Global Environmental Unit, of twenty-three World Bank projects with US\$298.5 million in approved funding in April 1992, there were seven free-standing

projects of a total of US\$43.5 million, while the rest were tied to already existing projects – i.e. 70 per cent of the projects in number terms and 85 per cent of the money committed to Bank-related work. Also interesting is the fact that at least some GEF projects are designed to complement existing projects or 'greenwash' them. Vandana Shiva of the Third World Network gives the example of the Kerinci Seblat national park in Northern Sumatra, a GEF biodiversity conservation project which followed a World Bank investment project in forestry management programmes in 1991. Although a certain amount of documentation is available for the GEF projects, the usual Bank rules of non-disclosure apply to the massive companion Bank investment projects, which are often the source of the environmental problems. <sup>5</sup>

Not surprisingly, those NGOs which have been tracking the Bank for years are quite alarmed. Says Abugre: 'The World Bank, with its track record of environmental damage, cannot be entrusted with the role of the major institution for the management of the world's environment'. An analysis of two GEF projects carried out by the Environmental Defense Fund and Greenpeace gives an even better picture of how the GEF is used to greenwash the World Bank's own activities and how the changes that the GEF is supposed to have brought to Bank thinking have not been implemented.

EDF investigated a US\$10 million GEF biodiversity protection project in the Congo called the Congo Wildlands Protection and Management Project, which the GEF described as free-standing. To begin with, EDF said that the project was not free-standing because it was tied to a US\$20 million Natural Resources Management Project Bank loan that was being offered to increase Congolese timber exports. This Bank project also violated its own forestry policy which prohibits the logging of primary tropical forests. Finally, EDF pointed out that the root causes of deforestation in the Congo were landlessness and industrial expansion. These occur in the south of the country, not in the north where the project was located. The GEF project itself was paying for the construction of a road that would open up previously unvisited areas of the Nouabele Reserve to tourists and 'rational forest exploitation', but it could have the opposite effect, of bringing devastation to this untouched area.

Greenpeace investigated an US\$8 million GEF grant to Costa Rica for Conservation and Sustainable Development of La Amistad and La Osa reserves on the Panamanian border and the Osa peninsula respectively. Greenpeace asked UNDP, which is conducting the project, for information on it and

received a total of five pages of information. Requests for more were denied. An NGO was identified for each of the two reserves, both of which were large foreign-funded groups (both were funded by the USAID). Only one — Fundácion Neotropica in La Osa — had received any documentation on the project. The other — Centro Cientifico Tropical — had received nothing. None of the groups listed by UNDP as project beneficiaries had any knowledge of the project and a government official said that they would be notified after the project had been designed. A Greenpeace survey in January 1992 of other NGOs working in these areas showed that none of them had been consulted by any of the groups conducting the project. Finally, no public meetings about the project had been held in any of the affected communities, despite the fact that the reserves covered areas that were home to 80 per cent of the country's indigenous peoples.

# THE COMMISSION ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The function of the Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD) is to promote and monitor the implementation of Agenda 21, in the various UN member states – the signatories of Agenda 21 – as well as in the numerous UN agencies. There are, in Agenda 21, about 2,500 recommendations in about 150 programme areas, ranging from poverty alleviation to toxic substances to their interrelationships. Since the governments did not want any new institution emerging from UNCED, the CSD remains a commission that will meet two to three weeks annually and have a very small secretariat in New York. Its task is, of course, impossible.

Initially, the Commission was supposed to develop a plan to monitor the implementation of the overall environment and development activities of several of its own agencies, its member states and the multilateral development banks such as the World Bank. NGOs spent a lot of time campaigning for the setting up of such a commission and many viewed the Rio decision to create it as an important victory. William Pace of the Center for Development of International Law in Washington, DC, Tony Simpson, an Australian lawyer, Martin Khor of TWN, and Simone Bilderbeck from IUCN in the Netherlands, among others, spent a considerable amount of time convincing their

governments that such a commission would be a fitting forum to continue the debates initiated at the Summit. Unfortunately, the outcome is not exactly what they lobbied for: the Commission is bogged down in the UN bureaucracy, has no money and therefore no power, and grounds its activity on Agenda 21 which is toothless at best (see chapter 3). Furthermore, governments have asked the Commission to report to the Economic and Social Commission of the UN, a moribund and useless body which has little effect on policy.

Weeks after the Rio Summit, two teams of experts began to discuss possibilities for post-Rio activities. The first was composed of members of the Summit secretariat who had drafted the Summit agreements. Separately, UN Secretary-General Boutros-Ghali appointed the FAO chief, Edouard Saouma, to set up a taskforce to advise the secretariat on the new commission and also on how to coordinate environment and development activities within the UN system itself. In the eyes of many NGOs, Saouma was an unfortunate choice. In 1991, an open letter from eighty international NGOs, published in the *Ecologist*, had accused him of pushing the inappropriate industrialization of Southern agriculture and the export of cash crops instead of the production of food for local consumption. 'Whether in agriculture, in forestry, or in aquaculture,' the open letter claims, 'you have promoted policies which benefit the rich and powerful at the expense of the livelihoods of the poor. Policies that are, in effect, systematically creating the conditions for mass starvation' 9

In November 1992, one of the committees of the UN General Assembly set up an ad hoc open-ended working group on UNCED follow-up. The group met for three weeks, and drew up seven resolutions on various matters ranging from setting aside a day of the year dedicated to water [sic!], to plans for a special conference on migratory fish stocks, a conference on the sustainable development of small island developing states, and a convention on desertification, and plans to establish the CSD. At the next meeting of ECOSOC, in early February 1993, governments continued to flesh out these plans and agreed to have a special session at the end of the month to organize the workplan of the CSD for the next few years. As soon as the ECOSOC meeting ended, the governments sat down to elect the members of the CSD. Some eighty states took part in the elections for the fifty-three seats on the Commission. Under a system aimed at ensuring geographical equity, thirteen members were elected from Africa, thirteen from Western Europe and North America,

eleven from Asia, ten from Latin America, and six from Eastern Europe.

Shortly thereafter the CSD held a first organizational session in New York. At that time, Secretary-General Boutros-Ghali suggested that the forty chapters of Agenda 21 should be divided into nine discussion clusters. (The first chapter, an introduction, is not included.) They were:

- (a) Critical elements of sustainability (chapters 2-5);
- (b) Financial resources and mechanisms (chapter 33);
- (c) Education, science and technology (chapters 16, 34–37);
- (d) Decision-making structures (chapters 8, 38-40);
- (e) Roles of major groups (chapters 23-32);
- (f) Health and human settlements (chapters 6, 7 and 21);
- (g) Land, forests and biodiversity (chapters 10-15);
- (h) Atmosphere, oceans and fresh water (chapters 9, 17-18);
- (i) Toxic chemicals and hazardous wastes (chapters 19, 20 and 22).

The first five clusters were to be taken up every year at the annual 2–3 week meetings of the CSD. For the first session of the CSD the governments were also supposed to discuss financial commitments and the transfer of environmentally sound technologies. In 1994, the governments are supposed to give special consideration to international cooperation and changing consumption patterns (from cluster a), health and human settlements (cluster f), and toxic chemicals and hazardous wastes (cluster i). The year after, governments are supposed to discuss the chapters on combating poverty and demographic patterns (from cluster a) and land, forests and biodiversity (cluster g). In 1996 the CSD are supposed to take up cluster h.

The governments also elected Malaysian Ambassador Razali Ismail as chairman of the CSD. All other officers also came from the UNCED negotiations. The CSD held its first substantive meeting in New York in June 1993. Inter-sessional groups on technology transfer and finance were established, as well as an Inter-Agency Committee on Sustainable Development, a group of nine UN agency representatives chaired by Nitin Desai, another UNCED person, who has meanwhile advanced to the position of Under-Secretary-General of a new Department of Policy Coordination and Sustainable Development. It was also requested that numerous reports be prepared by the secretariat for the next year's meeting. This includes a report

on the progress made in the implementation of Agenda 21.

As for outside input into the CSD, we detect a set-up that is identical to the UNCED process: on the one hand, NGOs will have to go through complex procedures in order to feed into the CSD, while, on the other hand, business and industry and other mainstream voices will have a direct line. To recall, at the Summit, governments did agree to allow NGOs to play an 'expanded' role on the Commission. The secretariat was looking at two options: either having representation from certain major NGOs and coalitions or asking the NGOs to organize themselves into constituencies and propose representatives. Razali, who met with several NGOs on an *ad hoc* basis in spring 1993, said he would like to see NGOs reporting to special committees in the Commission on matters on which they have expertise. But he underlined the fact that the Commission was to be a body of governments and cautioned that NGOs would not replace governments as the voice of the people, but simply give expert opinions when necessary.

On the other hand, in spring 1993 UN Secretary-General Boutros-Ghali set up a high level Advisory Board on Sustainable Development to contribute to the work of the CSD. The Board will input directly into the CSD and ECOSOC, as well as the UN's Administrative Committee on Coordination, the body which coordinates the activities of the UN's different agencies. Among the thirteen members of the Board, all chosen of course for their 'knowledge of environment and development', <sup>10</sup> we find, not surprisingly, the by-now established environment and development élite, such as Klaus Schwab of the Davos Forum, Stephan Schmidheiny, and Maurice Strong.

# THE EARTH COUNCIL

During the Summit Maurice Strong proposed setting up a group of independent experts to be called the Earth Council and to be based in Costa Rica. He hoped that the governments would mandate this body to monitor the results of the Summit. Strong saw this as a continuation or follow-up of the Global Forum. When his proposal was largely ignored by governments, except for the Central American governments, he went back to EcoFund and the private sector to get more backing, this time for an 'NGO monitoring group'. In September, when Strong's job as secretary-general of the Summit was

terminated, he became the chairman of the organizing committee for the Earth Council. Also on this organizing committee was Stephan Schmidheiny and Benjamin Read from EcoFund (ex-officio). At that point, EcoFund received the bulk of the Swatch contribution to the EcoFund (US\$1.8 million) and offered an unstated share of it to the new Earth Council, which has other strong financial backers. It is also being co-sponsored by the IUCN, ICSU and the Society for International Development (SID), and has been endorsed by the WRI. In October 1992 Strong and President Rafael Calderon of Costa Rica inaugurated the Earth Council in San José, the country's capital, to 'promote worldwide awareness, understanding and resolution of major planetary problems'. <sup>11</sup>

But since then the Earth Council has not really taken off, and its Geneva subsidiary has closed down for lack of funds. Also, environmental activists like Greenpeace sceptically pointed out that the Council might just be a front-office for business to promote its own agenda. Josh Karliner, coordinator for Greenpeace's Earth Summit activities, said:

The Earth Council has some questionable sponsors like Swiss billionaire, Stephan Schmidheiny, whose Business Council for Sustainable Development used the Earth Summit to raise multinational corporations to the status of global environment leaders. But what they do in actual practice is very different and Greenpeace is concerned that the Earth Council may serve to institutionalize the greenwash of corporations promoted by Schmidheiny and Strong in Rio. <sup>12</sup>

In a recent article promoting the Earth Council as a vehicle for 'People Power' Strong does not deny this. There seems some confusion about the distinction between grassroots and business. For example, he wrote in spring 1993:

There has been a dramatic rise in Rio-induced activities and initiatives at the grass-roots level – and what I call the 'brass-roots' level: the influential constituencies of business, financial, scientific and professional organizations [sic!]. We must count on the energies generated by these activities to keep the follow-up and implementation of the agreements reached at Rio at the center of the political agenda. The Earth Council, now in the process of formation, is designed to facilitate this. <sup>13</sup>

# CONCLUSION: WAS IT WORTH THE EFFORT?

When the Rio Conference ended, optimists argued that the awareness of international leaders had been raised and the leaders were now firmly committed to the principles of 'sustainable development'. What's more, they pointed to the fact that some new money and institutions were now being planned. One year after the Rio Conference, we can say that even the most modest hopes have been disappointed. The institutional and financial outcomes bear no relationship to the expectations raised, let alone to the needs and the urgency of the global environmental crisis. Moreover, the financial and the institutional outcomes have to be divided, thus reducing the chances even further that the 'means', i.e. the money, will be related to the theoretically more substantial 'goals'.

Of course, it would be inappropriate for us to complain about these outcomes, as we have argued all along that the philosophy of sustainable development on which UNCED was based and the set-up of its process were flawed from their inception. However, one could have hoped that along the way some learning would occur among the various agents and stakeholders involved. One could have hoped that such learning, had it occurred, would translate into innovative institutional structures which would at least carry this learning process further, and perhaps initiate a collective environmental learning dynamic of its own. The opposite has been the case: because of its set-up as a lobbying and as a public relations exercise, UNCED promoted established worldviews and cemented existing institutions. Except for some lofty 'global environmental awareness raising', collective learning does not seem to have occurred.

Instead, old thinking about economic growth prevails, old institutions promoting such growth persist, and the old development establishment that had made a living out of such economic growth has repackaged itself in green and miraculously represented itself as the new global environmental leaders. The monitoring of what is believed to be the solution to the global crisis is handed over to a powerless commission, more interested in sustaining the UN and the nation-state system than in questioning whether the process it is monitoring is actually leading somewhere. On a totally separate track, the implementation of environment and development projects has been appropriated by a subsidiary of

the biggest industrial development and economic growth agency, the World Bank. If the GEF does not directly sustain the development paradigm — though in a subtle way it does precisely that — it will at least serve as a green smokescreen, barely hiding the fact that behind it the development paradigm has, once again, survived. If the Bank now has its Green facility, the UN a Green commission, and business and industry two or three Green councils, the Green movement after Rio still has to apply for accreditation. It has to, and most likely will, beg for participation in a process which will further weaken it.



# Part V CONCLUSIONS



# WHAT NOW?

At the Summit, the day before George Bush was to address the assembled government representatives and heads of state, youth representatives were given a few minutes to sum up their views of the process. The various youth groups that were present elected Wagaki Mwangi from Kenya, a representative of the Nairobi-based International Youth Environment and Development Network, to speak for them.

She said:

[The Summit] has attempted to involve otherwise powerless people of society in the process. But by observing the process we now know how undemocratic and untransparent the UN system is.

At this point the closed circuit TV transmission of the speech to observers outside the hall was cut, apparently caused by a technical problem, but many of the youth felt that it was deliberate censorship.

Unheard by all except the delegates inside the hall, Mwangi continued.

Those of us who have watched the process have said that UNCED has failed. As youth we beg to differ. Multinational corporations, the United States, Japan, the World Bank, The International Monetary Fund have got away with what they always wanted, carving out a better and more comfortable future for themselves . . . UNCED has ensured increased domination by those who already have power. Worse still it has robbed the poor of the little power they had. It has made them victims of a market economy that has thus far threatened our planet. Amidst elaborate cocktails, travelling and partying, few negotiators realised how critical their decisions are to our generation. By failing to address such fundamental issues as militarism, regulation of transnational corporations, democratisation of the international aid agencies and inequitable terms of trade, my generation has been damned. \(^1\)

### CONCLUSIONS

# SUMMARY

The decision to have the Earth Summit was an outcome of the UN mandated World Commission on Environment and Development led by Norwegian premier Gro Harlem Brundtland which reported back to the UN on the state of the planet in 1987.

The report of the Commission, as we have shown, avoids the issue of the ownership of resources. According to it, the global commons consist of Antarctica, the high seas, and outer space. Land and biological resources such as seeds are not considered part of the commons. It says that the main cause of environmental degradation is population and poverty — too many people with low living standards who are destroying the environment. Little mention is made of the problems of over-consumption — that most of the resource depletion is caused by a few people consuming too much — or the fact that poverty is caused by export orientation in the face of falling commodity prices. Although some importance is given to indigenous people and women, communities and local organisations are given short shrift.

The Commission was created at the height of the Cold War in 1983 when NATO missiles were being implanted in Western Europe. After a decade and a half of standstill or even deterioration in global cooperation, the environment appeared to offer a way forward that avoided the traditional East—West deadlock. However, it was rapidly rediscovered — as this had already been found at the 1972 Stockholm Conference on the Human Environment — that addressing the environment from a resource management perspective opened up a potential South—North conflict. If military build-up was a relatively easy way to address the East—West confrontation, the North—South environmental conflict was less easy to tackle.

The Brundtland Commission found another way around the problem. It promoted the idea of sustainable development, similar to what had been suggested in 1972. This defined an efficient natural resource management approach within the broader context of industrial development coveted by both Northern and Southern governments. Here sustainability is defined in terms of the resource base, not in terms of society, culture, and people. It basically talks of sustainable growth, not of sustainable communities. But the Brundtland report did more than simply advocate sustainability; it was a staunch advocate of growth as the principal means to stop the poor from destroying the environment.

### WHAT NOW?

Meanwhile, with the end of the Cold War, a new factor had entered the picture: global ecology and its new approach to environmental problems. Global ecology — exemplified in a satellite picture of the fragile planet Earth taken from space — was a threat to nation-states and national politics far more deep seated than any previous social and environmental movements, because it fundamentally questioned their and their sovereignty's relevance as units when dealing with the global ecological crisis. If nation-states are perhaps pertinent agents to promote industrial development, a way out of the global crisis caused by such development will have to be found simultaneously below and above the nation-state level, i.e. in the interaction between the local communities and the global awareness. Global ecology also posed a threat to business and industry because it raised the issue of the ultimate limits to growth on a finite planet far more acutely than the environmental movement did in the 1970s.

The Summit came right on time to defuse both these threats from global ecology. To do so, the Brundtland Commission, and later the UNCED secretariat used two political tools from the Cold War. Both became particularly helpful in the overall transformation of the global ecological crisis into global environmental management, while putting adversarial environmental movements to work for them. These are the security analogy and the New Age model of politics.

The security analogy originates in the debate for security from nuclear weapons in the beginning of the 1980s, a debate which can be traced back to the origins of the atomic bomb. Environmental degradation, together with problems of development such as poverty, are said to be a threat to the security of humanity, so humanity has to combat this threat by mobilizing all available means to exterminate it. This analogy automatically leads to a resource, a risk, and ultimately to a crisis management approach, where the most efficient way to deal with the crisis will be a militaristic one, based on high-tech and hierarchy.

Parallel to and in support of this view, the New Age model of politics says that since we are all faced with an unprecedented threat and are equally endangered, we must all join hands as humans in order to overcome the threat. We have to, it is argued, work together for a common purpose. The more powerful among us will, quite logically, have to take the upper hand to lead the process. It is in the North and through facing peace and security issues

### CONCLUSIONS

during the Cold War that this New Age model of politics has emerged. The model stresses individual awareness of the threat and is supposed to lead to collaboration and cooperation. The UNCED secretariat and other self-appointed organizations such as the Center for Our Common Future helped organize this 'cooperation'.

Both the security analogy and the New Age model of politics were the basis for organizing the so-called 'independent sectors' at the Summit. The secretariat accredited every single NGO that applied (except four), a move which simultaneously strengthened the secretariat because the more NGOs the secretariat could line up, the more legitimacy it had and the stronger it became to overcome any dissenting opinions from either governments or NGOs. NGO coalitions also played the game. They organized NGOs to speak with one voice, applying the rationale that since we are all in the same boat, everybody should make his or her contribution to global management. And in order to achieve this, money was willingly provided by business and foundations. As a result of this 'facilitating' process, business and industry, which do share a common culture and working methods, came out strengthened, while the culturally diverse environment and development movement diluted its inherent strength stemming from its very diversity and unique approach to local situations. Indeed, this New Age model of politics turned out to be nothing more than the lobbying model of US democracy. The model has, not surprisingly, strengthened the rich and powerful lobbyists.

Interest from Southern governments picked up as the Summit PrepComs got under way. The South Commission, which was closely modelled on the Brundtland Commission but composed entirely of representatives from Southern countries and far more focused on the issues of development, put out its report. Although not a part of the official Summit process, it summarized the thinking and cooperation between Southern governments at the time. Like Brundtland, the report does not consider the common ownership of resources and it too advocates speeding up growth to solve the problems of poverty. It focuses largely on cooperation between nation-states and the use of trade for this purpose. And at the Summit, the Southern governments discovered and picked up on NGO demands such as the equitable distribution of profits as the key leverage to justify further industrial growth for the South. If the North–South deadlock became portrayed as the ultimate global crisis, this was only in order to allow further industrial development miraculously to emerge as the only solution to it.

### WHAT NOW?

Business and industry, in particular big business, were systematically built up through the UNCED process as the agents holding the key to solving the global ecological crisis. Since North and South came to agree that accelerated economic growth was the solution, TNCs had no trouble presenting themselves as the agents which could further stimulate such growth, provided, however, that environmentally based trade restrictions would not impede them. Under the influence of some new management philosophies and helped by public relations, big business proposed the only intellectual novelty of the official UNCED process, i.e. 'clean' growth, 'clean' meaning technological and organizational efficiency. Not only did this eco-efficiency approach become widely accepted, but big business managed, thanks to its privileged access and its generous financial contributions, never even to be mentioned in the UNCED documents as being a problem for the environment, locally and globally. Two other major contributors to the global crisis, science and the military, also managed never to be mentioned as a problem.

At Rio itself, the agreements reflected the ideologies that had gone into their creation. Neither Brundtland, nor the secretariat, nor the governments drafted plans to examine the pitfalls of free trade and industrial development. Instead they wrote up a convention on how to 'develop' the use of biodiversity through patents and biotechnology. Likewise the governments drafted a statement of principles on the protection of forests that says nothing about logging, one of the major threats facing them. They also drafted a convention on climate change that does not even have a concrete deadline or targets by which to achieve its aims. The two other documents — Agenda 21, an 800-page action plan for the planet to achieve sustainability by the twenty-first century, and the Rio Declaration of Environment and Development, a set of twenty-seven rights and duties of peoples and states towards the planet — remain lofty and toothless.

Of course, the relevance of nation-states as units for dealing with the crisis is not questioned, since the various national governments are in charge of implementing these agreements. If the local peoples are mentioned, this is to ensure their participation in the national resources management and development plans.

What is more, the institutional outcomes are not even up to the quite limited challenges as UNCED has defined them. The Global Environmental Facility (GEF) will distribute money to specific projects related to the

### CONCLUSIONS

conventions. Because of the largely predominant eco-efficiency approach and because the GEF remains under the World Bank's shadow, it is likely that these will be development projects in the very tradition of Northern development aid. The GEF is indeed the vehicle of the new global managers, who believe in global technocratic solutions, see environmental problems as a threat to human security, and seek to solve them with either a resource or a risk management approach. On the other hand, the Commission on Sustainable Development, the other institutional outcome of the Summit, will be a body of politicians and turn into yet another UN talking shop with no decision-making power. NGOs will be allowed to lobby both, but their influence is likely to be as limited as it was in the general UNCED process.

Overall, UNCED did not offer any vision or way out. There was no alternative to the still dominant development paradigm, not even a critique of it. No thought had been given to the process at all, and no major stakeholders—not even the secretariat and the Secretary-General—seem to have understood what was at stake in Rio. And this is what Maurice Strong and his secretariat ultimately must be criticized for in our view, i.e. the absence of solid intellectual leadership or serious vision. As a result, the development paradigm was given, through UNCED, yet another period of grace.

# BALANCE SHEET AND CHALLENGES

This book has offered a critique of the UNCED process and a critical look at the various aspects of development that were being played out through UNCED. It has concluded that as a result of this process the planet and most of its inhabitants will be worse and not better off. After UNCED, just as before, we do not have any answer to the increasingly pressing global environment and development crisis, not even to aspects of it.

The major lesson to be drawn from the entire ten-year process leading up to UNCED is, in our view, that the global approach is at best a useful tool for awareness raising. But it is not at this global level that the environment and development crisis will be dealt with. Overall, the shift to the global approach, as it has occurred through UNCED, seems only to have reproduced the old approaches and solutions, this time on a planetary scale. Rather than facing up to the challenge of the limits to growth and the prospect of deindustrialization,

### WHAT NOW?

UNCED has raised the promotion of economic growth to a planetary imperative. Rather than developing a new vision in line with the challenges of global ecology, UNCED has rehabilitated technological progress and other cults of efficiency. Rather than coming up with creative views on global governance, UNCED has rehabilitated the development institutions and organizations as legitimate agents to deal with new global challenges. These include the Bretton Woods institutions and the UN, as well as the national governments and the multinational corporations. And, finally, rather than making the various stakeholders collaborate and collectively learn our way out of the global crisis, UNCED has coopted some, divided and destroyed others, and promoted the ones who had the money to take advantage of this combined public relations and lobbying exercise.

As a matter of fact, this shift to the global, which UNCED has significantly helped to achieve, turns out to be the continuation of the development process, the logical outcome of the pursuit of economic growth through technoscientific progress, this time on a planetary scale. Yet more economic growth, better technologies, more efficiency and increasing planetary management will at best help us buy some time.

We think that the only way out of this crisis is to question this development process in its entirety. Given that the biosphere is a closed system, we must come to admit that the system cannot grow to the point when it will develop sustainability. We must acknowledge that industrial development has induced global cultural and ecological changes of an unprecedented nature which will further restrict, not increase, our possibilities within that system. And we must accept that further industrial development will only lead to further destruction. Instead, we must think and collectively behave in terms of the sustainability of a closed and finite system of local and regional resources, as well as of socially and culturally rooted users.

UNCED has shown us the global horizon, but by analysing the UNCED process we now know that the word 'global' is a mirage. It turns out to be the illusion created by the traditional agents and major stakeholders in order to maintain their privileges and to avoid questioning the fact that their traditional problem-solving mechanisms are basically bankrupt. If the global perspective, as UNCED shows, is the increasingly blocked horizon and if global management — total quality or not—is a dead end, we have no choice but to focus on the local, its people, and its communities . . . and collectively un-learn the development paradigm of which modern society is both the product and the victim.

# INTRODUCTION

- 1. L.J. Goree VI, 'Summitteers, sherpas and the rest', Crosscurrents, 26 March 1991, p. 9.
- 2. EcoCurrents, Vol. 2, No. 2, May 1992. (Obtainable from: 1 Emile-Nicolet, 1205 Geneva, Switzerland.)
  - 3. W. Sachs (ed.), The Development Dictionary, London, Zed Books, 1991, p. 2.

# 1 WHOSE COMMON FUTURE?

- 1. World Commission on Environment and Development, Our Common Future, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1987, p. 1.
- 2. Like the Brundtland Commission on Environment and Development, the so-called Palme or World Commission on International Disarmament and Security was addressing, at the beginning of the 1980s, the question of the threats to humanity's security in the light of the New Cold War. See Common Security: A Blueprint for Survival, New York, Simon & Schuster, 1982.
  - 3. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 304.
  - 4. The World Commission, op.cit., p. X.
  - 5. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 8.
  - 6. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 95.
  - 7. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 95.
  - 8. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 105.
  - 9. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 96.
  - 10. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 98.
  - 11. The World Commission, op.cit., p. xx.
  - 12. E.F. Schumacher, Small is Beautiful. Economics as if People Mattered, London, Blond & Briggs, 1973.
- 13. World Bank, World Development Report 1992: Development and the Environment, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1992, p. 11.
  - 14. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 12.
  - 15. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 123.
  - 16. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 125.
- 17. C. Fowler and P. Mooney, Shattering Food Politics and the Loss of Genetic Diversity, Tucson, Arizona, Arizona University Press, 1990, p. 70.

- 18. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 144.
- 19. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 144.
- 20. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 150.
- 21. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 150.
- 22. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 13.
- 23. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 147.
- 24. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 13.
- 25. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 159.
- 26. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 206.
- 27. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 173.
- 28. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 43.
- 29. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 196.
- 30. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 196.
- 31. The World Commission on International Disarmament and Security, Common Security, op.cit.
- 32. The World Commission, op.cit., p. X.
- 33. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 304.
- 34. The World Commission, op.cit., pp. 302-303.
- 35. The World Commission, op.cit., pp. 297-298.
- 36. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 301.
- 37. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 301.
- 38. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 302.
- 39. For a clarification of the meaning of the term 'commons' see: E. Ostrom, Governing the Commons. The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1990.
  - 40. The World Commission, op.cit., p. 8.

# 2 SOUTHERN ELITES

- 1. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1990, p. 61.
- 2. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 58.
- 3. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 59.
- 4. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 21.
- The South Commission, Environment and Development. Towards a Common Strategy of the South in the UNCED Negotiations and Beyond, Geneva, The South Center, 1990.
  - 6. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 113.
  - 7. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 86.
  - 8. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 129.
  - 9. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 180.
  - 10. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 131.
  - 11. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 132.
  - 12. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 132.
  - 13. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 81.
  - 14. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 81.15. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 93.
  - 16. The South Commission, *The Challenge to the South*, op.cit., p. 87.
  - 17. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op. cit., p. 138.
  - 18. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 138.
  - 19. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., p. 141.

- 20. The South Commission, Environment and Development, op.cit., p. ii.
- 21. The South Commission, Environment and Development, op.cit., p. iii.
- 22. The South Commission, The Challenge to the South, op.cit., pp. 91-92.

### 3 RIO AND BUST

- 1. Third World Resurgence, 1992, No. 24/5, p. 12.
- 2. P. McCully, draft article for Media Natura, London, 1992.
- 3. V. Shiva, *Third World Network Briefings*, 1992, Paper No. 24, Third World Network, Penang, Malaysia, p. 80.
  - 4. Third World Resurgence, 1992, 24/25, p. 16.
- Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, article 3. (Obtainable from: UN Department of Public Information, attn. Project Manager for Sustainable Development, Room S-894, United Nations Plaza, New York, NY 10017.)
  - 6. Article 16(1), Convention on Biological Diversity, op.cit.
- 7. D. Sitarz (ed.), Agenda 21: The Earth Summit Strategy to Save Our Planet, Boulder, Colorado, Earth Press, 1993, p. 119. This is an edited version of Agenda 21. We refer here to this version rather than to the original 800-page text.
  - 8. Third World Resurgence, 1992, 24/25, pp. 19-20.
  - 9. Tiempo, 1992, No. 6, p. 1.
- 10. Calculated from World Bank statistics in: The World Development Report 1992: Development and the Environment, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1992, p. 204.
  - 11. Policy Implications of Greenhouse Warming, Washington, DC, National Academy Press, 1992.
  - 12. Tiempo, 1992, No. 6, p. 1.
  - 13. Statement on Forest Principles, Official Document. (Details as for note 5.)
  - 14. Third World Resurgence, 1992, 24/25, p. 12.
  - 15. Statement on Forest Principles, Paragraph 2(a). (Details as for note 5.)
  - 16. Sitarz, op.cit., 1993, p. 94.
  - 17. Network '92, 1991, XI, p. 13.
- 18. Greenpeace forest activist Francesco Martone quoted in: M. McCoy and P. McCully, The Road from Rio, Amsterdam, World Information Service on Energy and International Books, 1993, p. 94.
  - 19. Earth Island Journal, 1993, Winter, p. 18.
- 20. See: Sitarz, op.cit., 1993; M. Keating, The Earth Summit's Agenda for Change. A Plain Language Version of Agenda 21, Geneva, The Center for Our Common Future, 1993.
  - 21. Sitarz, op.cit., 1993.
  - 22. This critique will be addressed in Part III.
  - 23. Sitarz, op.cit., 1993, p. 10.
  - 24. Sitarz, op.cit., 1993, p. 19.
- Greenpeace International, UNCED Undone: Key Issues Agenda 21 Does Not Address, Amsterdam, Greenpeace, 1992.
  - 26. Financing of sustainable development will be discussed in Part IV.
  - 27. Sitarz, op.cit., 1993, p. 21.
  - 28. D. Meadows et al., The Limits to Growth, New York, Universe, 1972.
  - 29. Earth Island Journal, 1993, Winter, p. 18.

# 4 TELLING 'GREENS' APART

- 1. See: M. Finger (ed.), The Green Movement Worldwide, New Hartford, CT, [Al Press, 1992.
- 2. See for example: Society and Natural Resources, 1991, Vol. 4, No. 3, special issue, 'Two decades of American environmentalism', guest editors: R. Dunlap and A. Mertig.
  - 3. IUCN/UNEP/WWF, The World Conservation Strategy, Gland, Switzerland, IUCN, 1980.
  - 4. M. Dowie, 'The New Face of Environmentalism', UTNE Reader, July/August 1992, p. 107.
  - 5. F. Pearce, Green Warriors, London, Bodley Head, 1991, p. 84.
  - 6. Dowie, op.cit., p. 108 and p. 110.
  - 7. P. Watson, Earth First! Journal, 21 December 1986, p. 1.
- 8. See: M. Finger, 'UNCED an exercise in New Age politics', in W. Sachs (ed.), Conflicts in Global Ecology, London, Zed Books, 1993.
- 9. Sec: D. Korten, Getting to the 21st Century. Voluntary Action and the Global Agenda, West Hartford, CT, Kumarian Press, 1990.
- 10. D. Korten, 'Third Generation NGO Strategies: a Key to People Centered Development', World Development, 1987, Vol. 15, Supplement, p. 148.
  - 11. Korten, 1990, op.cit.
  - 12. Korten, 1987, op.cit., p. 149.
- 13. V. Shiva and D. Bandyopadhyay, 'The Chipko Movement', in J. Ives and D. Pitt (eds), Deforestation: Social Dynamics in Watersheds and Mountain Ecosystems, London, Routledge, 1988, pp. 224–241.
  - 14. See: The Ecologist, Special issues 'Whose Common Future?', July/August 1992.

# 5 FEEDING THE PEOPLES INTO THE GREEN MACHINE

- 1. United Nations General Assembly Resolution 44/228, p. 9.
- 2. A/CONF/151/PC/2. (Details as for note 5, Chapter 3.)
- 3. Brundtland Bulletin, June 1990, No. 8, p. 1.
- 4. K. Dawkins, 'Sharing rights and responsibilities for the environment. Assessing potential roles for non-governmental organizations in international decision-making', unpublished master's thesis, Cambridge, Massachusetts, M.I.T., 1991, p. 46.
  - 5. Sec: A/45/46, p.22. (Details as for note 5, Chapter 3.)
- 6. W. Lindner interviewed by Stephen Lerner. See: S. Lerner (ed.), Earth Summit. Conversations with Architects of an Ecologically Sustainable Future, Bolinas, California, Common Knowledge Press, 1991, p. 241.
  - 7. Lindner in Lerner, op.cit., 1991, p. 242.
  - 8. Center for Our Common Future, internal paper, undated.
  - 9. Network '92, December 1990, p. 5.

# 6 WHAT DID ENVIRONMENTAL NGOS ACHIEVE?

1. A. Doherty, NGOs and UNCED, excerpted with permission from a draft report for the International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria, 1992.

- 2. 'Editorial', Crosscurrents, CONGO, Geneva, 30 March 1992, p. 2.
- 3. M. Valentine, Earth Island Journal, 1992, Summer, p. 40.
- 4. This information has been provided to us by Kristin Dawkins from the Institute on Agriculture and Trade Policy, Minneapolis, USA.
- K. Dawkins, 'Sharing rights and responsibilities for the environment. Assessing potential roles for non-governmental organizations in international decision-making', unpublished master's thesis, Cambridge, Massachusetts, M.I.T., 1991, p. 49.
- 6. Unpublished survey conducted by Ann Doherty, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, Austria, July 1992.
  - 7. M. Khor, Third World Resurgence, No.24/25, p. 4.
  - 8. Financial Times, 15 June 1992, p. 7.
  - 9. F. Pearce, New Scientist, London, 27 June 1992, p. 12.
  - 10. M. Finger and P. Chatterjee, EcoCurrents, Vol. 2, No. 2, May 1992, p. 2.

### Part III

- 1. United Nations Commission on Transnational Corporations (UNCTC), Ongoing and Future Research: Transnational Corporations and Issues Relating to the Environment, New York, April 1989, p. 6.
- 2. UNCTC, Transnational Corporations and Issues Relating to the Environment. The Contribution of the Commission and UNCTC to the Preparatory Committee for UNCED, New York, February 1991; UNCTC, Ongoing and Future Research, op.cit.; A. Makhijani et al., Climate Change and Transnational Corporations. Analysis and Trends, New York, UNCTC, 1992, Environment Series No. 2, p. 77.

# 7 PROMOTING BIG BUSINESS AT RIO

- 1. M. Wald, 'GM signs accord with environmentalists', New York Times, 9 July 1992, p. C4.
- 2. Brundtland Bulletin, Sept/Dec 1990, SF18.
- 3. Brundtland Bulletin, March 1991, p. 69.
- 4. Network '92, No. 6, 1991, p. 15.
- 5. Network '92, October 1990, p. 11.
- 6. Brundtland Bulletin, October 1990, p. 11.
- 7. Network '92, April 1991, p. 2.
- 8. The Environmental Digest, No. 68, February 1993, p. 6.
- 9. Hansen says that this is because he was only in charge of a department, not an agency. But given the fact that his department was dealing precisely with TNCs, we think that he should have been approached.
  - 10. See: P. Chatterjee, 'Who pays for the Earth Summit?', New Scientist, London, April 1992, p. 13.
- 11. Quoted in: T. Harding, D. Kennedy and P. Chatterjee, Whose Earth Summit is it Anyway?, Action for Solidarity, Equality, Environment and Development, Amsterdam, June 1992, p. 2.
- 12. J. Wurst, 'Concern as business helps pay the bill', Crosscurrents, CONGO, Geneva, 23-25 March 1992, p. 16.
  - 13. Wurst, op.cit., p. 16.

14. Information from: C.G. Fraser, Earth Summit Times, New York, 31 March 1992, p. 6; L. Gould, Earth Summit Times, New York, 13 May 1992, p. 17; T. Harding, D. Kennedy and P. Chatterjee, op.cit., p. 1.

# 8 CHANGING WHAT?

- 1. S. Schmidheiny, Changing Course, Cambridge, Massachusetts, M.1.T. Press, 1992.
- 2. J.-O. Willums and U. Gölüke, From Ideas to Action, Gyldendal, ICC Publishing, 1992.
- 3. See: W. Schmidt and J. Finnigan, The Race without a Finishing Line. America's Quest for Total Quality, San Francisco, Jossev-Bass, 1992.
  - 4. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 99.
  - 5. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 101.
- 6. T. Dyllick, 'Question Sensible aux Problèmes Ecologiques', L'information, 1990, No. 96, Zürich, Swiss Popular Bank.
  - 7. Schmidheiny, op.cit., pp. 16ss.
  - 8. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 83.
  - 9. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 7.
  - 10. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 72.
  - 11. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 34.
  - 12. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 1.
  - 13. Schmidheiny, op.cit., pp. 14-15.
  - 14. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 74.
  - 15. F. Pearce, 'How Green are Multinationals?', New Scientist, London, 23 May 1992, p. 43.
  - 16. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 25.
  - 17. B. Kenny, The Greenpeace Book of Greenwash, Amsterdam, Greenpeace International, 1992, p. 14.
  - 18. Kenny, op.cit., p. 10.
  - 19. Kenny, op.cit., p. 27.
  - 20. Kenny, op.cit.
- 21. P. Chatterjee, 'Environmental auditing still awaits its green signal', Financial Times, London, 4 February 1993, p. 10.
  - 22. Kenny, op.cit., p. 27.
  - 23. F. Pearce, 'Hit and run in Sarawak', New Scientist, London, 12 May 1990.
  - 24. Kenny, op.cit., p. 14.
  - 25. Kenny, op.cit., p. 10.
- 26. UNCTC, Benchmark Corporate Environmental Survey, New York, United Nations, ST/CTC/SER.C/4.
- 27. A. Lees, 'Business wants to help protect the environment—but on its own terms', Friends of the Earth UK Press release, 7 May 1992.
  - 28. UNCTC, Benchmark Survey, op.cit.
  - 29. Schmidheiny, op.cit., p. 161.

# 9 CAN MONEY SAVE THE WORLD?

 M. McCoy and P. McCully, The Road from Rio, Amsterdam, World Information Service on Energy and International Books, 1993, p. 94.

- 2. McCoy and McCully, op.cit., p. 82.
- 3. Personal conversation with François Coutu in Rio de Janeiro.
- 4. Personal conversation with François Coutu in Rio de Janeiro.
- 5. 'The GEF', International Environmental Affairs, 1991, Vol. 3, No. 2, Spring, p. 140.
- 6. McCoy and McCully, op.cit., p. 82.
- 7. World Bank Annual Report, The World Bank, Washington, DC, 1992.
- 8. G. Hancock, Lords of Poverty: the Power, Prestige, and Corruption of the International Aid Business, New York, Atlantic Monthly Press, 1989.
  - 9. P. Chatterjee, 'How to waste US\$5 billion a year', Guardian, London, 13 November 1992.
- 10. C. Duncan, The World Bank's Greenwash: Touting Environmentalism While Thrashing the Planet, Greenpeace International, Amsterdam, 1993.
  - 11. Duncan, op.cit.
  - 12. Tropical Forestry Action Plan, Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization, 1980.
- 13. V. Shiva, 'World Bank cannot protect the environment', *Third World Network Briefings*, 1992, No. 8, Penang, Malaysia, p. 23.
- 14. M. Colchester and L. Lohmann, The Tropical Forestry Action Plan: What Progress?, Penang, Malaysia, World Rainforest Movement and The Ecologist, 1990.
  - 15. World Bank Annual Report 1987, Washington, DC, World Bank, 1987.
  - 16. Hancock, op.cit., p. 158.
  - 17. Shiva, op.cit., p. 22.
- 18. The British Overseas Aid Programme, Some Basic Facts, London, Overseas Development Administration, November 1986.
  - 19. British Overseas Aid 1985, Overseas Development Administration, London, 1985.
- 20. Personal Meeting with USAID at US Embassy, San Salvador, November, 1991. In the 1950s Conrad Black, then President of the World Bank, raised money for the Bank by using the same argument. See: Hancock, op.cit., p. 70.

### 10 INSTITUTIONAL OUTCOMES

- 1. See: World Commission on Environment and Development, Our Common Future, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1987, p. 338.
- Can We Trust the World Bank?, Special Issue of The Ecologist on the World Bank, Dorset, UK, March/ April 1987; B. Rich, 'The "Greening" of the Development Banks: Rhetoric or Reality?', The Ecologist, Dorset, UK, March/April 1989, p. 44.
  - 3. Down to Earth, June 30, p. 17.
- 4. M. Khor and C. Yoke Ling, 'The Global Environmental Facility: Democratization and Transparency Principles', *Third World Network Briefing Paper*, 1992, No. 15, Penang, Malaysia, p. 45.
- 5. Personal communication from Charles Feinstein, operations officer, Global Environment Unit, World Bank, Washington, DC.
- C. Abugre, 'Why the World Bank Cannot be Relied Upon to Solve Poverty', Third World Network Briefing Paper, 1992, No. 14, Penang, Malaysia, p. 43.
- 7. C. Duncan, The World Bank's Greenwash: Touting Environmentalism While Thrashing the Planet, Greenpeace International, Amsterdam, 1993.
  - 8. Concordare, 1993, No. 4, p. 1.
  - 9. 'Editorial', The Ecologist, March/April 1991, p. 43.
  - 10. The Network, July 1993, p. 6.
  - 11. Earth Council press release, San José, Costa Rica.

- 12. Personal conversation with Josh Karliner, Coordinator of UNCED activities for Greenpeace, September 1992.
  - 13. Concordare, 1993, No. 4, pp. 1 and 4.

# 11 WHAT NOW?

1. The full text is reprinted in: Third World Resurgence, 1992, No. 24/25, p. 27.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adams, W.M. (1990) Green Development: Environment and Sustainability in the Third World, London: Routledge.

Adams, P. and Solomon, L. (1985) In the Name of Progress. The Underside of Foreign Aid, Toronto: Energy Probe Research Foundation.

Aggarwał, A. and Narain, S. (1991) Global Warming in an Unequal World. A Case of Environmental Colonialism, New Delhi: Centre for Science and Environment.

Amin, S. (1990) Maldevelopment. Anatomy of a Global Failure, London: Zed Books.

Bartelmus, P. (1986) Environment and Development, London: Allen and Unwin.

Bellow, W. (1982) Development Debacle, Washington: Institute for Food and Development Policy.

Brandt, W. (1980) North-South, London: Pan Books.

Brown, L.R. (1981) Building a Sustainable Society, New York: Norton.

Bungener, P. (1978) Le Développement In-Sensé. Itinéraires pour un Combat, Lausanne: L'Age d'Homme.

Chesneaux, J. (1992) 'Bilan de Rio', Ecologie Politique, 3 4: 9-26.

Commoner, B. (1971) The Closing Circle, New York: Knopf.

de la Court, T. (1990) Beyond Brundtland. Green Development in the 1990s, London: Zed Books.

Duncan, C. (1993) The World Bank's Greenwash: Touting Environmentalism While Thrashing the Planet, Amsterdam: Greenpeace International.

Friends of the Earth (1977) Progress as if Survival Mattered, San Francisco: Friends of the Earth.

George, S. (1977) How the Other Half Dies, Penguin: Harmondsworth.

Goldsmith, E. (1988) The Great U-Turn. De-Industrializing Society, Hartland: Green Books.

Goldsmith, E., Allen, R., Allaby, M., Davall, J. and Lawrence, S. (1972) A Blueprint for Survival, London: Tom Stacey.

Goldsmith, E., Khor, M., Norberg-Hodge, H., Shiva, V. et al. (1992) The Future of Progress. Reflections on Environment and Development, Bristol: The International Society for Ecology and Culture.

Goodland, R., Daly, H., El Scrafy, S. and von Droste, B. (eds) (1991) Environmentally Sustainable Economic Development: Building on Brundtland, Paris: UNESCO.

Greenpeace International (1992) UNCED Undone: Key Issues Agenda 21 Does Not Address, Amsterdam: Greenpeace.

Hancock, G. (1989) Lords of Poverty: the Power, Prestige, and Corruption of the International Aid Business, New York: Atlantic Monthly Press.

Harding, T., Kennedy, D. and Chatterjee, P. (1992) Whose Earth Summit is it Anyway?, Amsterdam: Action for Solidarity, Equality, Environment and Development.

IUED (1975) La Pluralité des Mondes. Théories et Pratiques du Développement, Paris: P.U.F.

Keating, M. (1993) The Earth Summit's Agenda for Change. A Plain Language Version of Agenda 21, Geneva: The Center for Our Common Future.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

Kenny, B. (1992) The Greenpeace Book of Greenwash, Amsterdam: Greenpeace International.

Kothari, R. (1989) Rethinking Development. In Search of Humane Alternatives, New York: New Horizons Press.

Latouche, S. (1991) La Planète des Naufragés. Essais sur l'Après-Développement, Paris: La Découverte.

Lerner, S. (ed.) (1991) Earth Summit. Conversations with Architects of an Ecologically Sustainable Future, Bolinas, California: Common Knowledge Press.

McCoy, P. and McCully, P. (1993) The Road from Rio, Amsterdam: World Information Service on Energy and International Books.

Martinez-Allier, J. (1993) 'Après Rio: L'Ecologisme des Pauvres', Ecologie Politique, 6, 43-70.

Nandy, A. (1987) Traditions, Tyranny and Utopias. Essay in the Politics of Awareness, New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

Nerfin, M. (1987) 'Neither Prince nor Merchant: Citizen -- an Introduction to the Third System, Development Dialogue, 1.

Partant, F. (1982) La Fin du Développement. Naissance d'une Alternative, Paris: Maspéro.

Polanyi, K. (1944) The Great Transformation The Political and Economic Origins of Our Time, Boston: Beacon Press

Raghavan, C. (1990) Recolonization: GATT, the Uruguay Round and the Third World, London: Zed Books.

Redclift, M. (1987) Sustainable Development: Exploring the Contradictions, London: Methuen.

Rist, G., Rahnema, M. and Esteva, G. (1992) Le Nord Perdu: Repères pour l'Après-Développement, Lausanne: Editions d'En-Bas.

Rogers, A. (1993) The Earth Summit. A Planetary Reckoning, Los Angeles: Global View Press.

Sachs, I. (1992) 'Transition Strategies for the 21st Century', Nature & Resources, 28,1: 4-17.

Sachs, W. (ed.) (1991) The Development Dictionary, London: Zed Books.

Schmidheiny, S. (1992) Changing Course, Cambridge, Massachusetts: M.I.T. Press.

Sitarz, D. (cd.) (1993) Agenda 21: The Earth Summit Strategy to Save Our Planet, Boulder, Colorado: Earth Press.

South Center (1993) Facing the Challenge. Responses to the Report of the South Commission, London: Zed Books.

South Commission (1990) The Challenge to the South, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Starke, L. (1990) Signs of Hope. Working Towards our Common Future, Geneva: Center for Our Common Future.

Timberlake, L. (1985) Africa in Crisis, London: Earthscan.

Trainer, D. (1989) Developed to Death. Rethinking Third World Development, London: Merlin Press.

UNEP (1981) In Defense of the Earth. The Basic Texts on Environment, Founex, Stockholm, Cocoyoc, Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme.

Wilkinson, R. (1973) Poverty and Progress, London: Methuen.

Willums, J.-O. and Gölüke, U. (1992) From Ideas to Action, Gyldendal, Norway: ICC Publishing.

World Commission on Environment and Development (1987) Our Common Future, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

### JOURNALS

The Brundtland Bulletin, The Center for Our Common Future, Geneva, Switzerland.

The Ecologist, Sturminster Newton, Dorset, UK.

The Network (formerly Network '92), The Center for Our Common Future, Geneva, Switzerland.

Third World Resurgence, Penang, Malaysia.

Acronyms can be found on pages x-xiv.

```
Africa, agricultural development 36
Agenda 21, 42, 53-60, 171; on
   biotechnology 42-3; chemicals and
   management of waste 57; and
   Commission on Sustainable Development
   151, 157, 159; on deserts and droughts
   48; divided into discussion clusters 159;
   efficient use of natural resources 55-6; on
   forest principles 47; lobbying by business
   and industry 116; management of human
   settlements 56 7; protection of global
   commons 56; quality of life on earth 55;
   specific chapter for NGOs 98; sustainable
   economic growth 56; training rather than
   learning 60; what is missing 58-60
agriculture: industrialization of 34-5;
   intensive 20
aid: bilateral 139; national pledges vague
   138 - 9
Amazonia, reforestation 130-4
ANEN (African NGOs Environmental
   Network) 75
ANGOC (Asian NGO Coalition) 75
anthropcentrism 49-50
APPEN (Asia Pacific People's Environmental
   Network) 75-6
arms race, and Brundtland report 13-14
ASCEND 21, 89
Audubon Society 70
```

```
Big 10 (environmental lobbying organizations)
   68, 78, 96, 104, 155
biodiversity 20; as a natural resource 42;
   ownership and control over 43;
   protection vs. exploitation 42
biodiversity convention 41-3
biotechnology 41, 42-3, 59
Boutros-Ghali, UN Secretary General,
   high-level advisory board on sustainable
   development 160
Brazilian NGO-Forum 87, 89
Bretton Woods Institutions 144, 173
Brundtland Commission 68, 151, 168;
   conception of Center for Our Common
   Future 84-5
'Brundtland constituency', and UNCED
   process 85
Brundtland Report 11, 13-29, 54, 59-60,
   61, 80; the commons 25-7, 28; food
   security 17-19; from military to
   environmental security 23-5; population
   14-16; species and ecosystems 19-21;
   sustainable industrial development 21-2
business: ally of government and servant of
   consumers 126; business sector, and
   UNCED 89, 91; contradictions between
   saying and doing 130-2
Business Charter for Sustainable
```

Bergen conference 82, 114

Development 128-9 competitive advantage, of business and Business Council for Sustainable industry at UNCED 113-14 Development (BCSD) 91, 114, 116-17, CONGO 82, 83 121; core views 123-7; on economic Congo Wildlands Protection and growth and free trade 127-9; not all Management Project 154 members environmentally friendly 130; conservationist environmentalists 69-70, 73 used UNCED to promote its views 127-8 consumption patterns, unquestioned 58 business ethics 126-7 corporate behaviour: international guidelines business and industry 105-36; finance and little used 134-5, see also business and industry; multinationals; TNCs other help for Earth Summit 117-20; getting organized for UNCED 114-15; Costa Rica, Conservation and Sustainable promotion of their worldview 121-2; role Development projects 156 7 of in environmental matters 109-11; Critical Theorists 4 threatened by global ecology 169; and culture 136; and development 33 **UNCED** process 171 debt: of poor countries 148; Third World 75, 100 Canada 143; forest destruction 46 debt-related transfers 30 Canadian Participatory Committee for deep ecology 80; trend towards 72 **UNCED 89** deforestation 15-16, 47, 148; Congo 158 capacity-building 32, 33, 60 deindustrialization 137, 144 carbon dioxide emissions 44, 46 demilitarization 144; savings from cash crops, vs. feeding the people 18 disarmament 37 Center for Our Common Future 63, 78, democracy 32; US model 89-90, 91, 103-4, 84 7; International Facilitating 115, see also politics, New Age model of Committee (IFC) 81, 86-7, 89, 91; desertification, convention on 48 partners in 85 developing countries 51; 1980s crisis 30-1; Center for Science and the Environment in need for more environmental aid 146 India 77 development 34-5; crisis of 30-1; CFCs 131 development paradigm 3-4; Green chemical/waste management, Greenpeace critique of 7-8; mobilization for 51, critique 57 52-3; Northern schemes criticized 76; of Chipko (tree huggers) movement 76 planet as a whole 27-9; right to 50; and climate change, framework convention 44-6, science and technology 33; and the South 173 38; sustained 32, see also sustainable Club of Rome 7, 60 development Cold War 4-5; and Brundtland Commission development decades, first 74 development myth 27 Commission on Sustainable Development development process, need to question 173 ((UN)CSD) 141, 153, 159-62, 174; and donor countries, benefiting from loans/grants Agenda 21, 151, 157, 159-60; lacking given 149 money 158; outside input 160 Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) 18 Earth Council 160--1 commons/global commons 28, 168; Earth First! 69, 71 Brundtland Report 25-7; protection of Earth Island Institute 68-9 56 Earth Summit logo 118

Earth Summit, Rio de Janeiro 1, 39, 168; Environmental Defense Fund (EDF) 155, agreement on forest principles 42-7; 156; agreements with corporations awareness of sustainable development 109-10 raised 162; big business at 109-20; environmental degradation 49, 80, 129, 148, biodiversity convention 41-3; finance for 168, 169; global, caused by TNCs 127; 117-20; framework convention, climate and political conflict 23 change 44-6; Greenpeace plan to save environmental impact assessments 52 39-40; Rio Declaration 49-53; what was environmental legislation/standards 51-3 missing 39-41; youth groups censored Environmental Liaison Center International 167 (ELCI) 74 Earth Summit watches 118 environmental management: changes, eco-efficiency 137-9, 171; opposed 134-8 initiation of 132, 133; the downside eco-fundamentalism 71 128-9; hidden agenda 129; scientific 69 eco-saboteurs 72 environmental movement, fragmented 121 EcoFund 117-19, 160-1 environmental problems 141-2; and global economic growth 18, 128, 171; good or evil food production 17; global, money for 16; now a planetary imperative 173; old 138; global, to be solved by dialogue 90; thinking prevailing 162; in the South 138; management of 25; redefined as technical South Commission 31-2, 32-5; problems 134-5; seen as political sustainable 15, 56 problems 8; still untackled 61; to be ECOSOC: asked UNCTC for solved by business and industry 126; and recommendations to regulate total quality management 123-5 multinationals 135-6; and CSD 160-1; environmental protest movements 76-7 NGOs with consultative status 83 environmental restoration 74 education 15 environmental security 23 5, 142 efficiency 173; and environmental environmental space 38 management 128, see also eco-efficiency Europe: Eastern, Green movement in 66-7; ELCI (Environmental Liaison Center ICC guidelines known and followed 133; International): International Coordinating Western, Green movement in 67-8 Group 88-9; International Steering European Community (EC) 34, 143 Committee 87-9 European Environmental Bureau (EEB) 85 'eminent persons' meeting 138, 150 European Green Table 114 emissions reduction 44 export crops 34 energy efficiency 21-3, 146 environment: as an economic resource 35; FAO (Food and Agricultural Organisation), global concerns 38; those who speak for on TEAP 147 125-6, see also Rio Declaration fertility rates 15 Environment Department, World Bank 153 food dumping 34 Environment and Development Action in the food production, effect of subsidies 17, 18 Third World (ENDA) 74 food security 34; an environmental issue and environment/customer analogy 123-5 bargaining chip 31; Brundtland Report environmental damage 35, 146; by Northern 17 - 19financial/technological resources 51; forest principles, agreement on 46-7 caused by World Bank 154; compensation forests: destruction of, apportionment of for 52 blame 147; 'rational forest use' 143;

recognised as national resources 47; sinks 73-7; and the UNCED process 77, for carbon dioxide 46; statement of 79-91, 105 principles on protection of 171; Green Revolution 21, 34-5 sustainable management 47, 131; greenhouse gases 44 worldwide, protection for 46, see also tree Greenpeace 8, 67-8, 71, 78, 100, 104, 106, 146, 156; critique of Agenda 21 on planting free trade 52, 149 chemical/waste management 57; on Earth Friends of the Earth 8, 67-8, 71, 87, 104, Council 161; highlighting contradictions within BCSD 130-2; investigation in fundamentalism 136 Costa Rica 156-7 Greenwash report 130-1 GATT (General Agreement on Tariffs and greenwashing, by GEF 156 Trade) 36, 52, 128, 144 Group of 77 (G-77) 41, 83, 141, 143; on genetic resources, ownership of 42 financial resources needed 138; and GEF funds 154; and UNCTC proposals on 'global', shift to 172-3 global commons see commons/global regulation of multinationals 133-4 commons human settlements, management of 56-7 global ecology 69; challenges of 9-11; and the international establishment 80; and income, reduction of disparities in 50-1 the new Cold War 9; seen as threat 169 independent sectors 82, 85-6, 90, 170 global (environmental) crisis 126, 128-9, India, loss of rice varieties 17 169, 171; Agenda 21 approach to 58; indigenous communities/peoples 52-3; reframed as development problem 137-8; recognition of 58; rights of 147 seen as Western-caused 60 individualism 136 Global Environmental Facility (GEF) 139, industrial development 3-4, 10, 49, 111; 143-4, 151-7, 163, 171-2; core fund and the Cold War 4-5; destructive 152; distribution of finance 155-6; GEF II nature of 50; fossil-fuel based, needs 152-3; and NGOs 154-5; for post-Rio slowing down 45-6; negative funding 153; projects 152; seen to consequences of 21; South Commission 'greenwash' World Bank projects 156; 31--2; sustainable, Brundtland Report and Southern governments 153-4 Global Forum 98-9 industrialization, and development 34 global management and the New Age 73 Inter-Agency Committee on Sustainable global reality, UNCED an expression of 111 Development 161-2 global warming 9, 44; World Bank no policy interest, payable on aid money 148 on 146 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change government delegations, and NGO (IPCC) 44 representation 96-7 International Bank for Reconstruction and government legislation/regulation, important Development (IBRD) 144, 145 for environmental change 132, 133 International Biodiversity Forum, on Green Belt Movement, Kenya 74 genetically manipulated organisms 43 Green movement 8, 10, 113; diversity of 64, International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) 65-78; fragmentation of 66; need to 114-15, 121, 134 redefine itself 65; in the North 66-73; International Coordinating Group (ELCI), radicalization of parts of 71-2; South membership 88-9

International Council of Scientific Unions (ICSU) 161 International Development Agency (IDA) 139, 144, 145 International Environmental Bureau 114 International Facilitating Committee (Center for Our Common Future) 81, 86, 89, 91; aim 87; organizational members 86 7; pre-UNCED meeting 87 International Finance Corporation 144-5 International Monetary Fund 144 International NGO Forum (INGOF) 89, 98-9; NGO 'treaties' 99 International Steering Committee (ELCI) 89-90 International Union for the Conservation of Nature 7 IUCN see World Conservation Union

Japan, aid agencies 149 50

Kayapo Indians protest 76 Kerinci Seblat biodiversity conservation project (N. Sumatra) 156

land reforms 33
LDCs (Least Developed Countries) 31
loans/grants: and debt 37; purpose of 149
lobbying 89–90, 95, 96, 102, 109, 112–14;
by business NGOs 106; by Third World
NGOs 141; environmental 67, 68; not
understood by NGOs 95; USA model of
at UNCED 103-4

Malaysia: forest protection seen as

jeopardising own resource rights 46–7; sustainable forestry project 131 markets, open and competitive 128–9 Marxism, and industrial development 3 military security, to environmental security 23–5 military, the: as impediment to future development 24–5; as a problem 13–14 military-industrial complex 23–4 money, can it save the world? 143–52 Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA) 144, 145

Multilateral (Ozone) Fund 144 multinationals 9–10, 53, 173; contributions to environmental NGOs, effects of 109–11; environmental record condemned 106; power to influence forces trying to enforce change 133; Southern 32; widespread nature of 106–7, see also TNCs (transnational corporations)

nation-state(s) 5, 8, 49, 53, 61, 171; in the age of global ecology 10, 169; and the commons 26; as a development agent 32; and economic growth 32; and own natural resources 50

National Resources Defense Council (NRDC) 8

National Toxics Campaign 106 National Wildlife Federation 70

natural resources, efficient use of 55-6 nature, independence from 27 New Age environmentalism 78; trend towards 72-3 New Cold War, and global ecology 9 New Left 6, 7, 8 NGO coalitions 83, 113; Southern 75 6, 78 NGOs 1, 63-105, 170, 172; access to UNCED process 92-7; accreditation to UNCED 81-4; at the Earth Summit 63-4; cooperation with GEF 154-5; definition of 113; environmental, achievements of 92-103; and global management of the commons 26; image at Rio 99-101; lack of clear message on debt and trade 100; mobilized for UNCED 89-91; Northern 155; Northern conservationist 42; representatives on national delegations 97; second generation 74-5; Southern 73-7, 104, 111, 112-13; third generation 75; Third World 141; and UNCED process 79-81; used to build up North South conflict 103; worried about corporations taking part in UNCED

non-aligned movement 30

| North: profiting from aid given 148-50;     | public participation 32                        |
|---|--|
| strategy during UNCED process 141-2;        | public relations, Earth Summit 119             |
| to help cut emissions in South 45;          | N. Che er                                      |
| transformation of economies 59              | quality of life 55                             |
| North American trading bloc 34              | recession, threatening 'aid' money 143         |
| North Green movement 66-9; conservation     | recycling 57, 110                              |
| ecology to global environmental             | regional solutions, for regional conflicts 36, |
| management 69–70; erosion of political      | 37   |
| ecology 71; radicalization of part of 71-2; | resources: equitable access to 15; ownership   |
| trend towards New Age environmentalism      | of 168; problems in South 135                  |
| 72 3  | Rio Declaration of Environment and             |
| North-South conflict 103; environmental     | Development 54, 171; duties/rights of          |
| 168; and forests 47                         | states/peoples towards the planet 49–53        |
| North-South inequity, increased by aid      | 'Roots for Our Future', NGO position paper     |
| 148 50                                      | 88   |
| North-South relations 37-8; Brandt report   | Russia, forest destruction 46                  |
| 23  | russia, forest destruction fo                  |
| Northern NGOs 155; corporate                | Sahabat Alam Malaysia 74                       |
| contributions to 109-11                     | 'same-boat-ideology' 80–1, 170                 |
| nuclear winter theory 9, 23                 | Saouma, Edouard 158                            |
| Nyon meeting 86                             | Schmidheiny, Dr Stephan 115, 116, 118, 122,    |
| over-consumption 168                        | 124–6, 127–9; book seen as public              |
|   | relations exercise 1312                        |
| overpopulation 58<br>ozone depletion 9      | scientific sector, organized under ICSU 89     |
| Ozone depiction >                           | Sea Shepherds 71–2                             |
| Palme report 23                             | security analogy 142, 169                      |
| parks and wildlife conservation areas 20    | self-regulation 126, 127                       |
| participatory development 75, 76, 78        | self-reliance 74, 75                           |
| personal contacts, by NGOs 96               | self-sufficiency, local, erosion of 18         |
| plant genetic material 17                   | social, cultural and natural values, loss of   |
| political ecology movement 70–1, 77, 78,    | 136  |
| 87-8, see also Green movement               | 'social forestry' 147                          |
| politics, New Age model of 169–70           | social movements (1960s) 6-7                   |
| polluter pays 52                            | Society for International Development (SID)    |
| pollution 38; environmental, a technical    | 161  |
| challenge 70; to be reduced by              | South: in international trade 34; problem of   |
| eco-efficiency 124-5, 128, 135              | agricultural exports 18; spending on the       |
| pollution credits 133                       | military 37                                    |
| population 61; Brundtland Report 14–16      | South Center 36, 38                            |
| Portfolio Management Taskforce 145–6        | South Commission 11; development more          |
| poverty 169; an environmental problem 70;   | important than environment 60-1;               |
| eradication of 50-1; poverty issues 102     | popular participation in decision-making       |
| Primea Linea 72                             | 61   |
| production and consumption, reduction of    | South Commission report 30-8, 54, 170;         |
| unsustainable patterns of 51                | economic growth 31-2, 32-5                     |
|   |  |

South Green movement 74-7; self-reliant markets 128-9; unaware of international participatory development 75 guidelines 132; and UNCED process 107 South South cooperation 35 total quality management (TQM) 123-7, Southern elites 10, 30-8, 155; threatened by 134; and the environmental challenge political ecology movement 77 123 5 Southern governments: and further industrial trade bans 52 growth in South 170-1; and GEF 153-4; tree planting 45, 47, 76 playing on North's environmental Tropical Forest Action Plan (TEAP) 147 concerns 141-2 tropical rainforests 20, 46, 130-1, 147; Southern NGOs 111; alienated from grass destruction of 41 roots constituencies 104; global crisis seen Trust Fund (secretariat) 117 as North-South issue 112-13; mobilization of 104; participation in UN agencies, sponsored NGOs 102 UNCED process 74-7 UN guidelines, least frequently followed species and ecosystems, Brundtland Report 132 - 319 - 21UNCED documents, little influenced by species extinction 19-20 NGOs 96, 98 species 'management' 20 UNCED (process) 1, 30, 31, 38, 41, 52, 63, Strong, Maurice 79-80, 82-3, 89, 115, 116, 70, 101-2, 172; and Business Council for 160-1; avoidance of protest and Sustainable Development 114, 116-17, confrontation 99 134; and business and industry 105; and structural change 142 Center for Our Common Future 84-7; Styrofoam problem 110 and exercise in mobilization and sustainable development 27-9, 53, 69, 70, cooptation 103-4; favours powerful 85, 114, 168; defined 21; finance for lobbyists 112-14; flawed 162; and the 142-3; importance of women, youth and Green movement 77, 79-91, 105; as a indigenous peoples 52-3; more aid for lobbying exercise 121; NGO access to 59; philosophy of flawed 162; second 92-7; NGO accreditation 81-4; NGO participation 79 81; NGOs not allowed stage 28 sustainable economic growth 15, 56 to influence outcome 103; preparatory sustainable forest management 47, 130-1 process 81; some partners in dialogue more privileged than others 91; technology: and the environment 134-5, transformed TNCs to legitimate global 172; as a solution 59 actors 111-12; unique opportunity technology transfer 51, 58, 128 offered 10-11 Third World, and development paradigm 5-6 UNCED secretariat 91, 121; and CSD 158; Third World Academy of Sciences 36 estimate of money for cleaning Southern Third World debt 75, 100 environments 137; and financing of earth Third World Network (TWN) 42, 77, 78, Summit 119-21; and NGO access 83-4; 102, 106, 112, 141; Third World exports NGO-liaison office 81 100 UNCED 'visibility trap' 90 TNCs (transnational corporations) 41, 106, **UNCTAD 36** 171; comparative advantage at Earth UNCTC (United Nations Center on Summit 120; as legitimate global actors Transnational Corporations) 117; on

multinationals 106-7; recommendations

111-12; and open and competitive

to regulate multinationals 133-4; survey for Earth Summit 132 UNDP 85, 102, 142, 144, 151, 152, 155; and Third World experts 102-3 **UNEP** (United Nations Environment Programme) 41, 45, 48, 146, 154, 157 UNESCO 7 United Nations 4, 175; Conference on the Human Environment (Stockholm) 8, 105, 168 United Nations Conference on Environment and Development see UNCED US Citizens' Network for UNCED 89 USA: commitment of bilateral money 142; a consuming giant 16; environmental lobbies 67, 68; Green movement in 68–9;

poor attitude to emissions reduction 44–5; refused to sign biodiversity

USAID 149

Voluntary Fund (secretariat) 117

convention 41-2

war: and environmental stress 23-4; and sustainable development 53 Wild Earth 71 women 52-3, 58; as equal partners 33 World Bank 36, 41, 102-3, 142, 143-8, 155, 162–3; as a development agency 147; Environment Department 153; and fossil fuel developments 146; make up of 144–5; many projects seen as failures 145–8; policies on forestry 146–8; profits of 148; seen as undemocratic 145; violating own forestry policy 156, see also Global Environmental Facility

World Conservation Union (IUCN) 7, 41, 70, 78, 85, 96, 155, 161

World Industry Conferences on Environmental Management (WICEM I and II) 114–15

World Industry Council for the Environment (WICE) 115

World Meteorological Organization (WMO) 45

World Rainforest Movement, analysis of TEAP 147

World Resources Institute (WRI) 70, 78, 85, 96, 151-2

World Wildlife Fund 7

Worldwide Fund for Nature (WWF) 7, 41, 78, 85, 96, 157; poor seen as threat to wildlife and wildlands 70

youth 52-3, 58 youth groups, at Earth Summit 167